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. RURAL bEVELOPMENT

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 1971

SENATE.
SuncO.MITITIA1 ON RURAL DEvELornfNT

OF THE COMMITI'Lll ON AGRICULTURE AND FORESTRY,
TV ashiagton,

The -committee met, pursuant to' ecess, at 9:10 .a.m., in room 324,
Old Senate Office Building, Hon. Hubert H. Humphrey (chairman of
the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Senators Humphrey (presiding), Allen, and Curtis.
Senator HUMPHREY. I will call this subcommittee to order. Other

members will be here very shortly.
Ordinarily, gentlemen, we have our committee meetings at 10

o'clock: Senators try to arrange their schedule accordingly. -But we
have such a list of witnessesand I want to get on with this business
of going over the proposed legislation jEve have before usthat we
decided to open our meetings at 9 a.m. And we are going to go all
the way through this entire day.

I have a very brief statement.

STATEMENT OF HON. HUBERT H. HUMPHRgY, A U.S. SENATOR
FROM THE STATE OF. MINNESOTA

Senator HUMPHREY. On March 10, 1971, President Nixon submitted
his message to Congress on special revenue sharing for rural com-
munity development. In that message, which sub,cquently was
embodied in S. 1012, introduced by Senator Jack Miller (Republican
Iowa), the President proposed the establishment of a $1.1 billion fund
to be shared among all 50 States to be spent' at their own discretion.
The moneys for this fund would consist of those now being expended
for tilic foliowing 11 categorical' Federal programs:

Cooperative Agricultural Extension Service.
Appalachian Regional Commission. 0

( Title V regional commissions.
Economic Development Administration.
RuVal water and waste disposal grants.
Re, conservation and development program.
Rural environmental assistance program (earlier called ACP).
Gredit Plains agricultural conservation program.
Water bank program.
Forestry assistance grants.
Tree planting grants.

For these 11 programs, $921 million was to be expended during the
current 1971 fiscal yeai. In -addition, the PreVent's proposal calls
for an additional $179 million in new money.

(1)
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As I indicated on July 27, he Rural. Development Subromipittee
intends to complete action On this bill as soon as-practicable. Father-
more, since this revenue bill is suM a lchv mrt 'of the President's
legislative program, the subcommittee intends t report the bill to
the full Committee on Agriculture and Forestry f t final action.

Today, the witnesses scheduled to appear bef e the subcommittee
are representing those group or operations that would be most
directly affected by the enactment of this bill. On April 23d, Secre-
taries Connally, Hardin, and Romney appeared before the committee
On behalf of the administration in support of this proposed legislatipn.
Other public witnesses have appeared before us. during the beitiings
on rural development we held here in Washington on April 29 and
on June 16 and 17. Today, we will complfte our hearings op this legis-
lation. We hope to complete action within the subcommittee and the
full committee on the bill during October.

We will hold the record open of course for receiving written testi-
inony from other witnesses. I don't like to ,close the body of the
testimony or the record too early. Therefore we will allow plenty of
time.

Although I am in favor of general revenue sharing ,-arid have
introduced my own legislation concerning itI have reserved judg-
ment on the matter of special revenue sharing measures submitted
to the Congress by the President.

While I am in general sympathy with the desire and need for sim-
plifying our Federal categorical programs in order to bring greater
flexibility and reduce unnecessary bureaucratic red tape 'from their
administration,. I am gravely concerned about the potential abolish-
ment of worthwhile Federal programs which have been developed to
assist rural people meet many of their local needs.

Therefore, I welcome before us today' representatives of. ose
interests and look forward to hearing their views on the President's
proposal.

I think I should say that I think the subcommittee and in fact the
full committee is very open minded about the legislation. I don't
think any of us have arrived at a point of definite decision except
those who have introduced the legislation. And even when we intro-
duce it we reserve the right to change. our mindat least on details.

Now, Mr. Watts, I would appreciate having you introduce for the
record each of your associates.

-Mr, Watts is director for extension and university services, and
director of cooperative extension of Colorado State University.

Mr. Watts, would you present your associates.

STATEMENT OF DR. LOWELL H. WATTS, DIRECTOR FOR EXTENSION
AND UNIVERSITY SERVICES, AND DIRECTOR, COOPERATIVE EX-

TENSION SERVICE, COLORADO STATE UNIVERSITY, FORT COL-
LINS, COLO.; ALSO REPRESENTING THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

OF STATE UNIVERSITIES AND LAND-GRANT COLLEGES AND THE

EXTENSION COMMITTEE ON ORGANIZATION AND POLICY

Mr. WATTS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
With me today representing their respective, Statesand eac of

these people are directors of extension in those Statesiare Dr. J
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Hutchison of Texas; Dr: Joe Stein of Nevada, who is also chairman ,
of the Extension Committee on Organization and Policy; Dr. Paul .-
Shaffer, -who is representing the executive offices of the National
Association of State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges, and who
is. director of the Office-of International Programs of that association;
Dr. B.1.4. Coffindafferi of West Virginia; and Dr. HowarkDiesslin,

- of Indiana.
Our testimony is presented with the ap proval and suppOrt of the .

National Association of State Universities ,and Land-Grant Colleges
and the Extension Committee on Organization and Policy and on
behalf of the most- complex, most far reaching and ritiost pervasir
organization ever created to project-scientific knowledge in a meaning-
ful and useful form to people outside the classroom.. Our testimony
will focus upon sections 202(e) and 416 of Senate bill 1612. _

At the outset, we commend the Congress for the policy statement
on rural development contained in title IX of the 1970 Farm Act.
We'also support the concerns for rural America and 'for balanced
growth and development expressed by the President in his message
on mat community development. The Cooperative Extension Service
has the capacity and organization to contribute to those policy objec-
tives. It can do so, however, only as an obje tive, politically neutral
educational organization. This testimony will examine the provisions
of S. 161.2 in terms of their impacts upon this apability as well as the
delivery of other authorized educational services.

Senator HUMPHREY. What are the areas you were gding to con-
centrate on?

Mr. WATTS. Section 202(e) and section 416.
Senator HUMPHREY. Thank you.
Mr. WATTS. After serious analysis we have concluded that S. 1612

as it ianow written would significantly alter the nationwide system of
informal education so soundly conceived and so laboriously constructed
over the past 57 years. The bill now before you=at least that part
pertaining to the Cooperative Extension Serviceis vague and fraught
with hiddenjong-range implications. Section 202(e) appears to main-
tain Cooperative Extension as the outreach arm of otir land-grant
universities and the educational arm of the USDA. But section 202(e)
tells us nothing about the authority of the Secretary of. Agriculture
to approve plans of work. It does not specify the authority of the
Governors. It fails to insure political neutrality. National threads of
program effort are ignored. It is not clear whether the 1971 funding
level is a frozen figure or only a base.

The Cooperative Extension Service is clearly unlike any of the
other agencies of programs included in` the proposed act. It is not a
categorical grant program. It already is based on high local involve-
ment of people in the determination of its program pridrities. It already
provides a greater flexibility in programing than would be required
under revenue sharing. It is not an action program but an educational
one.

Already incorporated into Lxtension operations are the revenue-
sharing concepts of shared funding, local decisionmaking, the estab-
lishment of program priorities, and decentralized control. An important'
added feature of the existing arrangement is a nationwide network
supportive but not directive of State and local programs. Extension

8
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'programs have remained relatively free of political direction and

Smith
ontrol, primarily because of Extension's tie to the lIgrant institu-

tions the "mutual agreement" clause of the ever Act, its
multiple sources of funding, its close ties to and dependence upon
research, and the fact that it is not a direct line agency of. either
Federal or State Government. We believe that inclusion of Extension
in revenue sharing would jeopardize the continuation of local funding
and volunteer support which is significant in this program.

The fact that the President has, in section 202(e), seen fit to
exempt Extension from the general provisions of revenue-sharing
legislation is an indication that the Cooperative Extension Service is
recognized as not_fating easily and appropriately into the revenue-
sharing cone as proposed in S. 1612. ;t,..

Passe of this legislation could alter the asie operating structure
of COoperative Extension in sucha manner as" to subject it to direct
political influence, decentralize it to a point where national goals
and efforts.could not effectively be mounted and thereby negatively
affect the educational impact of the program. After careful study and
analysis of the legislative proposal, it appears that an effec4tive, proven,
and workable system is being subjected to the high risk of distortion
and weakness.

Permit me now to speak directly to some of the weaknesses as we ,"
perceive them in this bill.

1. Thee is no provision in the bill for mutual agreement between
the State land-grant university and lie Secretary of Agriculture as
to the broad nature of programs to be conducted.

. The Department has stated :
We are confident that effective and satisfactory working relationships can be

worked out between the land-grant institution and the Department in continuing
Extension work under revenue sharing. The revenue-sharing proposal did not
contem late the abolishment of the Federal Extension Office since there will he a
need continue national-regional-state relationships and other' cooperat
efforts.

We are less confident than is the Department that all these rela-
tionships could be so effectively worked out under S. 1612, The mutual
consent provision of the Smith-Lever Act is one of the bases upon
which the nonpolitical arrangements for Cooperative Extension has
been assured. Elimination of this relationship leaves to change the
working out of arrangements for the future. If, under revenue sharing,
a Secretary should impose strict program constraints, the program
could be altered thereby. It could also be expected that the separate
States, once the money was allocated to them under revenue sharing
would construe their role to be fully controlling. Our position on this
point is that any legislative language which fails to provide adequate
protection for an educational program to operate free of direct political
control is unsound and not in the best interests of the public.

Now, to examine this a little bit, if both revenue sharing and
Federal Government reorganization are approved as now proposed,
we would find the State cooperative exetnsion services funded through.
the new Department of Community Develop t and the national

Department of6office, now Extension Service, USDA, locate 1 1 t I
Economic Affairs. It is difficult to visualize \ ow this arrangement
could possibly provide the needed national coca +'n: tion and support
implied by the Secretary in his statements before this committee.



t,

5

2: The specific point of concern is that use of penalty mail by
Cooperative Extension personnel would' be lepealed, thu's requiring

and counties to pay funds now provided by the Congress, be-
cause they do require additional inputs at theqlocal level.

3.. States would be required -to pay retirement and fringe benefit
costs of Extension employees. This, in effect is revenue sharing in
reverse.

4: Although the Federal retirement of those currently holding Fed-
eral appointment would he protected in the law, there is a question re-
garding the status of sirch personnel in terms, of their fringe benefits
if a State should elect riot to contribute to the Federal retirement
program.

5. Extension would lose its present ability to 'purchase supplies and
equipment through GSA sources and would lose its present authority
to, acquire excess Government property. These features have provided
a great savings in. die States. ..

The USDA has indicated-that effortswill,be made, with GSA and
other appropriate authorities to permit the Cooperative Extension
Service to continue acquiring excess property and utilizing other GSA-, ...

activities and facilities.
The current authorization whicrExtension has to acquire excess

property is a delegation to the State extension director by the Ad-
ministrator, Extension Service, USDA, of his auirhorWr. If the
Federal appointments are n maintained, it is inconceivable that
such-delegation would be cont. med..

*6-. There is no provision fo growlh, the bill refers to maintaining
Cooperative Extension at its 1971 size and type. It does not specify
whether this reference is only to Federal funds Or to all sources and
does not provide for Extension -to share in any increased funding under
the revenue-sharing bill.

Although the intent has been Rtated by the adrrunistration that all
funds should be .considerM in establishing a 1971 funding base and
that future increases are intender!, there is a question as to whether

,, or not the Congress can commit State and county funds in the absence
enabling legislation with matching requirements at the level.indicated.

7. Section 204 sithich authorizes tie expending of funds .under the
act does wit include extension work in the authorization.

If section 202(e) should remain in the legislation it would seem to
require that Extension be included in section 204 in order,for funds
to be allocated for -Extension work. .

8. There appears to be no opportunity for a State to continue
Cooperative Extension. work with .Federal support if it should elect
not to accept rural community- deVelopment revenue-sharing funds.

.P. There is high likelihood. that Extension would lose its current
ability to occupy Federal office space.; This would, of course, neces-
sitate increased costs by counties that, IN-Mild be affected by this
feature. .

10. Taken in the aggregate, the bill leaves a great many arrange-
ments to administrative discretion. This could baexpected to result
in a high variety Of decisions by the separate -States,,weakening tit} e
national, programing coordination and overtime resulting in a signifi-
cant change in the basic operating relationships and program content.
This could be illustrated as especially damaging, in a program such
as 4.;-H where we have the national 441 center and national programs

- .. ....:
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and national kinds of support;; as well as nutrition and other kinds°
of

It
have a 111160110 1) %Willy.

It is most difficult to undersland propeisal that .would retain
'Federal responsibility for research by the USDA an state agricultufal
experiment stations but place Extension in adheompletely different
arrang,ement. Research \VII 11011 t Extension long7 ago was 14(041 as
not' being as effective in serving the people as woiild otherwise be the -

case, And it seems that it.4vould he very WM ltiO t 0:(kliborat ely separate ,

the national level rose:al] and Extension.
A concern .must also be .expressed regarding po'orly -defin6d ad-

administrative authority in the proposed legislation.
1Ve sincerely att6tnpted to draft amendments .to S, 1612 which

would include the Cmperative Extension Service in the legislation
and insure tintt it would remain effective, and responsive to haal
needs. We have come to the conclusion that no series of amendments
will provide for anything superior to that areal } available milder the
Smith-Lever And related acts. It is obvious that the Cooperati3.:p

* Extension Service simply does not belong in S.- 1612. The "pass
through" of Extension funds too the land-grant universities \youthl
not provide dollars for States to use under' the gemAtil action phases
of rural community development revenue sitaring.And a very real
risk would be impvsed upon a workable, operating, effective system
of educational services topeonle in their home communities.

In, the interest of the public served, we urge you not to permit the
dissolution or warping of an educational system which is unique And
effective. We, therefore, request that the Cooperative Extension
Service be removed from the provisions of Senate bill 1612.

At thi<point, I would like to address my comments to a brief ex-
amination of tie' role of the Cooperative Extension Service in rural
development vhich your committee is primarily concerned with. In
the 197t) report --and incident:111,r, this is not part of our earlier 'testi-
mony, but I would appreOate it if this could be included ih tits
record.

In the 197(Vreport of the President's task force on rural development
entitled, "A New life for the Country," you will recall that the task
force recommended:

* * * thdt land-grant colleges and nilrersities step up their commitment * * *
toward tpe needs of countryside cony unities and rural people * * *.

We specificallt wish to call to the attention of this committee
the high degree of interest of the National Association of State
Universities and Land-Grant Colleges and the Directors of Coopera-
tiva Extension in Rural Development. We are already heavily involved
in those rural development. efforts for which the Department of
Agriculture has resgonsibility. Wq are working cooperatively in many
States with the State executive offices that deal with land-use plan-
ning, zoning, and resource development.

Today you as a committee are seeking mechanisms by which at ten-
tiou can,be given in an, effective manner to applying public policy and
public resources to assist nonmetropolitan areas as part of a national
deirelopment plan. The implementation of a national development
concept of State and commu,nity levels to financial incentives of



action programs: we' feel must have, to be fully effective, a research
and educational ease.

The 06operative-Extensiou organization could serve as the vehicle
to p'roVide the educational component. We urge that Any program
evolved for rural development Make full use of the capabilities of the
existing structure of pur land-grant system for both'data collection
and information disseminatiom ... ,

. Permit me at this point .to comment specifically upon the proposal
made to this committee by Dr.. D. B. Varner, president of the ,Uni-
versity of Nebraska. You will recall that Dr. Varner recommended
that the Congess.authorize and fund a system of institutes for rural
(ley o jv(.4bil lent in the land-grant universities which would contain re-
scare and Extension components built upon the preSent land-grant
model.

Senator HUMPHREY. I was going to ask you about that.
Mr. WATTS. We recognize that Dr. Varner made this proposal as

an individual. It is certainly in, the land-grant. trtidition'. It is an ex-
cellent and imaginative concept. The land-grant system's involvement
in rural development has been extensive over many years. Although
the Association has not yet formally studied the proposal sand acted
upon it, it has supported similar concelits. Our committeeand we
too have not had an opportunity to react formalyour committee,
a individual Extension directors, fully supports this proposal as we
understand if and urges vith serious consideration of it.

isWe think the Extension job as outlined by Dr. Varner is certainly
compatible with and appropriate to the role that we have historically
Made and the role'we believe Extension should play in meeting future
problems to both the organization of Extension and its commitment
to rural people.

We would stress,*2.making these comments that Extension ns it is
now authorized cott.d. move into thi*, responsibility as a functional'
arm of the land -grant universities. This capacity would be jeopardized
if the Cooperative Extension Service is retained as now indicated in
Senate bill 1612. NVe therefore urge this committee to stiike from S,
1612 all reference to the Cooperative Extension Servire and to permit
insteturits continued operation under existing authority di the Smith-
Lever Act_

We are at your disposal for any questions. And we appreciate very
mulici the opportunity to be here.

(Mr. Watts' preps red statement is as follows:)
Mr. WATTS. We appreciate this ovortunity to appear before you

to discuss the Rural Community Development Revenue Sharing
Act of 1971 as it relates specificidly to the Cooperative Extjhsion
Service. I am Lowell H. Watts, director for extenslon and university
services and ditector of the Cooperatit-e Extension Service f9r Colorado

, State University. My colleagues present today are:
. Dr, Howard. G. Diesslini director, Cooperative Extension

Service, Purdue.
Dr. John E. Ifute-hison, director, Cooperativ=e Extension

Service, Texas A. M. University.
Dr. B. L. Coffindaffer, dirActor,- Cooperative Extension Service,

West Virginia University.

12
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Present -also is:
.

Christian K. Arnoldi associate Director, National AssociatiOn of
State Universities, and Land-Grant Colleges.

This testimony is presented for the National Associathin of State
Universities and Land-Grant Colleges. It is also presented 'on
behalf of the most complex,,- most far reaching-and most pervasive
o'rganization ever crenated to project scientific knowledge ip a meaning-
ful dud useful-form to people outside tihe classro.om. This organization,-
the CooPeratir %Extension Service, is made up of 15,300 profes+nal
personnel, 10,000 -paraprofessional aides, supporting' cloaca! 'staff,
and over a million nomiaid volunteer workers -located in ,cities,
Owns, and rural areas throughoitt this heal of ours. Each; year many
millions of youth and adults benefit from its educottonal programs.

It is not the -purpose of this testimony to 4n1416_it, position on. the
broad concept of revenue isharitig the totality -of S. 1612. It
focused solely on the advisabdfty: of inclu-ding, the Cooperative
Extension Service in Senate bill-16121

The short- andlong-rangy impacts of this bill have been thoroughly
examined in tams of the administration and the operation of the
Cooperati4 Extension Service. Of particular concern has been lle
examination of probablee-Dffects twin the delivery of 'useful and .

practical educational services at the. local level. The Smith -Lever
Act, as amended, and other relevant legislative acts under which the
Cooperative Extension See e currently operating, have provided
the support and the safeguards which have enabled the Extension
Service to develop and maintain- viable and effee.tive programs for

, more than half axentury.
Under no circumstances NV nild. we want to convey the impression,

that we object to lamp, or iodification of.flio Cooperative Extension
Service, providiaw these s angel result in more effective service. to

'? to the,public.
At the outset, we commend the.Congrow for the policy statement

on _rural development contained in title IX of the 1970 Farm Act.
We also support the coiwerns fur rural Anierica and fm. balanced
growth and development expresed by the President in Ids message
on rural community development. The Cooperative Extension Service
has the capayity Bad' organizatiOn to eontribilte to those policy
objectivk This ,testilfuty will examine, the provisions of S. 1612 in
terms of their impacts upon this capability as well as the delivery of
other authorized educational services.

In_spite of assurances to the contrary, we 4.1ave been forced to con-
elude that S. 1612 as it is now written would significantly alter the
nationwide system of informal education so soundly conceived and so
laboriously constructed on a fully cooperative basis over the years.
The bill now before youat least that part prtainin to the Coopera-:
tive Extension viceis 'vague and fraught withhalden, long-range

. implications.- Sect ti 202(e), is purported to maintain Cooperative
Extension as the ou reach arm of our land-grant universities and the
educational arm of theUSDA. But what does section 202(e) really
provide? What does it tell us about die authority of the Secretary of
Agriculture to approve plans of Nvo-rk? What is the -authority of the
Governors? How is political neutrality to be insured?. How are the
rational threads of program effort to be provided? Is the 1971 funding

13
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level a frozen figure or only a base? How can the. Congress commit the
1971 level of funding in the abseneci of new enabling legislation and
higher matching requirements by the states? If this could be done,

awolild it not 'run counter %to the philosophy of revenue sharing by
re'quiring more State and local financial burden in order to obtaiiirthe
Federal dollars? And, how could the 1971 base of service at the "local
level'be .maintain el if States are not provided thie current support.for,
penalty mail, GSA purchases, and retirement costs?

If .these and other (pfesIions can be answered with the assurance that
Extension's service to the public awl its educational neutrality will
not be jeopardized, the question mint Mei' be asked,""What are the
beniifits to the public through inclusion of Extension in the bill that
are not already provided for?"

The Cooperative Extension Service is cleely unlike any of the other
agencies or programs included in the prOposed,act. It is not a cate-
gorical grant program. It alieady is baged on high local inpolvement of

A- people in the determination 6 its program priorities. It already pro
vides greater flexibility in programing than would be required under
revenue sharing. It is not an action program but an educational One.

The fact that the President has, in section 202(e), seen fit to exempt
Extension from the general provisions of revenue sharing legislation is
appreciated, but the exemption does not Provide therlanguage requirrid
to meet the apparent intelit, of the exclusion. The very fact.the exemp-
tion has been proposed is 6n indication, that the Cooperative, Extension
Service is recognized as not fitting easily and appropriately into the
revenue sharing concepts iv proposed in S. 1612.

EXTENSION AND REVENUE SHARING

The land-grant system has enjoyed a long and satisfactory relation-
ship with the U.S. Department bf Agriculture. The references to
Cooperative Extension in the. Revenue Sharin,f Act of 1971 and state-
ments by administration spokesmen seem to indicate that there is no
intent to weaken or to dismantle so vital h program at such a critical

-juncture in our national history. The National Association of State
Universities and Land-Grant Colleges and the State Directors, of

/Cooperative Extension appreciate`this stated intent but they are most
concerned that passage of this legislation could alter the basic opertit=
ing structure of Vooperative ExtensiOn in such a manner as to subject
it to direct political influence, decentralize it to a point where national
goals and efforts could not effectively be mounted and thereby nega-
tively affect the educational impact of the program. After careful
study and analysis of the legislative proposal, it appears that an
effective, proven, and workable system is being subjected to the high
risk of distortion and weakness.

Responsible officials of the Federal ,Government have indicated
, publicly and before this committee that they believe the legislation as

nowsdrafted will enable thd Cooperative Extension Service to function
in an effective manner. Strong disagreement with this viewpoint must
be expressed as an official position of the National Association of
State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges and State Directors of
Cooperative Extension. The ambiguity and generality of the language
in section 202(e) has led us to the position that outright exclusion of the
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Cooperative Extension Service from the legislation would best serve
the interests and needs of people Lind local communities.

Already clearly incorporated into Extension operations are the

establishment of progralii prioritiJs, and decentralized control. An
important added feature of the existing arrangement is a nationwide

h

s&

etwork supportive ut not directive of State and local programs.

revenue sharing concept of shared funding, local decisionthe,king, the

xtension's programs have remained relatively free cf political direc-
tion and control; primarily because of Extension'siie to the ntl-grant
institutions, its multiple sources of funding, its close ties to anc pond-
ence upon research, and the ract that it is not a direct line agency of
either Federal or State ,Government. Inclusion of Extension in revenue
sharing would also jeopardize the continuation of local 'funding and
volumeer 4111)1)011. Therefore, it a ppearsthat the legislation .as now
drafted offers no advanttige either to the functional viability, of the
Cooperative Extension Service or to furtherance of the basic objec-
tives of the rural community development revenue sharing concept.

Be .ause of these factors,- it would seem that the people of this
count would benefit no more and probably less-if the Cooperative
Exten 'ion Service is incorporated into revenue sharing:

W EAISNESSES IN THE'LEGISLAVON

A ew of specific items in this legislation will indicate those
weaknes es pertaining to Cooperative Extension which now exist in
the present language.

1. There is no provision in the bill for mutual agreement between
the State land-grant university and the Secretary of Agriculture as to
the broad nature of progranig-cto be conducted.

The Departthent of Agriculture has stated:
We are confident that effective and satisfactory working relationships can be

worked out between the land-grant institution and the Department in continuing
Extension work under revenue sharing. The revenue sharing proposal did not
contemplate the abolishment of the Federa) Extension OffiZe since there will he a
need to continue national-regional-State relationships and other cooperative
efforts.

We are less onfident than is the Department that all these relation-
ships could be so effectively worked out under S. 1612. The mutual
consent provisilm of the Smith-Lever Act is one of the bases upon
which the nonpislitical arrangements for Cooperative Extension have
been assured. Elimination of this relationship leaves to chance the
working out of arrangements for the future. If, under revenue sharing,
a Secretary should impose strict program constraints, the program
could be altered thereby. It could also be expected that the separate
States, once the,money was in their hands under revenue sharing,
would construe their role to be fully controlling, both in terms of
program content and the ability to direct the program in accordance
with current State political philosophy. The position of the associa-
tion on this point is that any logistative language which fails to
provide adequate protection for an educational program in terms. of its
freedom to operate outside of direct political control is unacceptable.

If both revenue sharing and Federal Government reorganization
are approved as now proposed, we would find the State Cooperative

15
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Extension Services funded through the new Department of Com-
munity Development and the national office, now the Extension
Service, USDA, liicated in the Department of .Economic Affairs.
it is difficult to visualize how this arrangement could possibly provide
the needed national coordination and support implied by the Secretary
in his statements before this cominittee. You will recall that he
indicated, "Revenue sharing does tint envision any significant changes
in Federal, Stitt"?' county extension organizational arrangements
or procedures." -euestion must be asked as to how such changes.
could be prohibi t . ['he Department would have no authority or
jurisdiction in this matter.

2. Uswif penalty 'mail by Cooperative Extension personnel would
be repeaTed.

Loss of this privilege would require that States and counties pay
from their own resources. funds whicli are »ow provided nationally
for mailing official correspondence and materials. Loss of the penalty
mail privilege would reduce total program capacity unless additional
funds were apPropriateds at the national level, specifically to support,
the increased costs of this provision.

3. States would be required to pay retirement and fringe benefit
costs of Extension employees.

Inquiries of the Department regarding this point have resulted
in statements as follows:

Federal funds used for employer's contribution to the retirement fund would
be made available to states to Pay them after July 1, 1972. Funds-for employer
contriluttions would be reflected in future appropriations rewiested for revenue
sharing.

The USDA re .1v appears to be,based upon an assumption that'
funds currently allocated by the Congre to the Department of Agri-
culture to support the empkyer's share of Federal retirement costs
for State Extension personnel would b allocated to the States under
revenue sharing. No support N is statement can be found in
reviewing the proposed legislation The rural community develop-
ment budget indicated in the admit ration proposal for rural com-
munity development revenue sharin is $149 million on the basis
of 1971 appropriations. This is comp ed of those funds now paid to
the States for conducting Cooperativ Extension work. They do not
include the appropriations to the Department of Agriculture to pay
the employer's cost of Fede,ral retirement for State Extension pdrson-
nel holding Federal appointment. It would be necessary, therefore,
for The budget to be increased above the figure allocated for payments
to States in order for these moneys to be made available; otherwise,
it would be necessary that they be taken as an initial deduction from
the moneys available to the States. This would violate the 'stated
intent of maintaining the scope of activity at its current level. The
statement that funds for employer contributions would be reflected
in future appropriations may represent a statement of current intent
but is certainly not binding upon the Secretary of Agriculture either
now or in the future.

4. Although the Federal .retirement of those currently holding
Federal appointment Would be protected in the law, there isa question
regarding the status of such personnel in terms of their fringe benefits
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if a State should elect not to contribute to the Federal retirement
program.

The USDA has indicated that it does not expect that any State
would take action to withhold employee retirement contributions
and thus deprive employees of benefits of the Federal retirement
system unless benefits under the State or university system isunild
be as good or better.

The implications of this provision are uncertain. It should be pointed
out, however, that any action that would force personnel in
career to change from one retirement system to another could severely
reduce the total benefits available at mandatory retirement age.
It would appear that some better protection than is now indicated
shoOl be provided for those-currently holding Federal appointments
in to qpoperative Extension Service.

5. Extension would lose its present ability to purchase supplie's
and equipment, through (ISA sources and would lose its present
au-downy to acquire excess Government property. These features
have Provided agreat savings in the States.

The USDA bas indicated that efforts will be made with GSA and
other'appropriate authorities to permit Cooperative Extension Service
to continue acquiring excess property and utilizing other GSA ac-
tivities and facilities.

The current authorization which ExtenAn has to acquire excess
property is a delegation to the .'"+t ate extension director by the
Administrator, Extension Service, USDA, of his authOrity. If- the
Federal appointments are not maintained, it is inconceivable that
such delegation would be continued.

6. There is no provision for growth. The bill refers to maintaining
Cooperative Extension at its 1971 size and type. It does not specify
whether this reference is only to Federal funds or to all sources and
does' not provide for Extension to share in any increased flinding
under the iZvenue sharing bill.

Although the intent has been stated by the adMinistra6on that all
funds should be considered in establishing it 1971 funding base, and
that future increases are intended, there is nothing in the law that
would give credence to this point. There is also a question as to whether
or not, the Congress can commit State and county funds in the absence
of enabling legislation with matching requirements at the level indi-
cated. The assumption must be made that if all other provisions of
the law protect the basic arrangements and philosophy of the Smith-
Lever Act, State and local funding would continue at least at its
current levels. The most predictable position that can be taken is that
continued increases in county funding will depend upon continuation
of the Extension program as it is now established.

7. * * * Section 204 which authorizes the expending of funds
under the act does not include EXtension work in the authorization.

This concern probably should be subjected to formal legal review.
If section 202(e) should remain in the legislation it also would probably
require that Extension be included in section 204 in order for funds
to be allocated for Extension work.

There appears to be no requirement for 'a State to continue
Cooperative Extension work if it should elect not to accept rural
community development revenue sharing funds. Under these circum-
stances, it would appear unlikely that such a State could receive
Extension funds under the act.

17
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9. There, is high likelihood that Extension .would lose its Current
ability to occupy Federal office space.

Although this matter has not been checked from a legal standpoint,
it would appear unlikely that Extension could continue to occupy
Federal office space if it was not eligible for benefits enumerated in
items 2 arid 5. This would, of course, necessitate increased costs by
counties that would be affected by this feature.
"10. Taken in the aggregate, the bill leaves a great many arrange-

Jinents to administrative discretion. This could be expected to -result
in a high variety of decisions by the separate States, weakening the
national programing coordination and over time resulting in a sig-

g'nificant change in the basic operating relationships and program
content. Predictable variations among the States would greatly
weaken Extension's capacity to respond to national priorities or to
maintain effective programs such as 4 -B and nutrition education
which benefit from national activities, projects, and program
leadership.

S. 1612, section 202(e), provides that * each State shall use
a sufficient portion of the moneys to which it is entitled to maintain
and carry out a program of agricultural Extension work .* * *."

. This language indicates that under the general concept of fund trans-
fers associated with revenue sharing, the Extension pOrtion of each
State's rural community development, allocation would go to the
State Governors' offices for reallocation to the land-grant univer-'
sities. The State's chief executive would feel not only an inclination
but a responsibility to exercise some control over the program funded
under such an arrangement. NoVonly might this situation placet
Extension in a position to be directed in accordance with political
policy of the party then in power in the State, but it could not provide
any meaningful mechanism for coordinating national priorities and
nationwide efforts such as 4-H programs which are supported on a
national basis.

It is 'host difficult to understand a proposal that would retain
Federal responsibility for research by the USDA and State ark
tural experiment stations but place Extension in a completely different
arrangement. Research witbout Extension long ago owas proved
incomplete in meeting practilcal needs of our people. The deliberate
separation of research and Extension-7-at least at the national level
is a most unwise move. The provisions of S. 1612 which apply to the
Cooperative Extension Service are vague and leave a great deal to
personal negotiation and to the personalities of "those in authority
at the Federal and State level. Experience would indicate that legis-
lation is not likely to provide an effective educational program unless
the intent is clearly supported by specifics in the legislation or unless
the legislative history defines authorities and relationships in a very
`specific manner. For example, the Secretary of Agriculture has advised
your committee that under S. 1612 funds might be shifted from one
area of Extension work to another except for the nutrition program
which would be expected to continue at not less than the 1971 scope.
On what basis is this exception to be enforced? And, if it is applied,
what is to limit the authority of the present or a future Secretary of
Agriculture to enforce different restrictions of this type? On what
authority or rationale is past congressional intent related to nutrition
education to be enforced and similar congressional support for agri-
cultural marketing educational work to be left to State discretion?

63-582-71pt. 6-2
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It the present legislation affecting Cooperative Extension is to be
modified, then an analysis of proposed legislation must be predicated
upon developing a foundation to provide guidelines under, all con-
ceivable types of personalities and situations at both the Federal and
State levels. The legislation as now written leaves far too much to
administrative discretion to sustain over a.long period of time it pro-
gram of informal education funded and conducted in such a complex
manner as the Cooperative Extension Service. Extension has been an
effective model. It can and should modify its programs and approach
to problems to meet urgent priority considerations of the public whom
it serves but must also retain the capacity to operate free of political
influence.

In the interest.igf the public served, we urge you not to permit the
dissolution (Pr the warping of an educational system which is unique,
not only in tlkis country but throughout the worlda system which
bas proven its effectiveness and which is based upon principles that
have stood the test of time. It would be unfortunate indeed if the
very principles ensodied in the revenue sharing concept which are
now. functioning effectively throughout the Nation in Cooperative
Extension were to be abandoned through changes in legislation that
although well intended would result in an effect directly opposite to
than intent.

We sincerely attenrted to draft amendments to S. 1612 which
would include the Cooperative Extension Service in the legislation
and would insure that. it would remain effective and responsiveIo
local needs. We' have come to the conclusion that no series of amend-
ments can .provnle for anything superior to that already aviiilable
under the'Smith-Lever and related.acts. It is obvious that the Coop-
erative- Extension Servicetsimply does not belong in S. 1612. The pass
through of Extension funds to the, land-grant universities would not
provide dollars for States to use tinnier the general 'action phases of
rural community development, revenue sharing. And a very real risk
would be imposed upon a workable, operating, effective system of
informal education.

We know the Subcommittee is familiar with the Cooperative Exten-
sion Service. A brief review of. this program, its legislative history,
the administrative arrangements under which it operates and its
basic, characteristics should be helpful to the committee in analyzing
and responding to our concerns and our position on S. 1612.

THE GENESIS OF COOPERATIVE EXTENSION-

Action of the U.S. Congress in 1914 in evolving and approving the
Smith-Lever Act has been recognized as one of the most foresighted,
and important pieces of legislation ever passed in terms of the develop-
Inent and evolution of noninetropolitan America. The wisdom of the
Congress in establishing safeguards for the education which is con-
acted in the home and local community, free of political direction,
has enabled the Extension agent to earn the trust and confidence of
the people.

The Smith -Lever Act established a nationwide system, subAct to
State variation, by which knowledge could be. transmitted from
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researchers directly to lie people. It provided that the people served
:411011k1 be encouraged to put knowledge to use in a practical manner.
The specific charge contained in the Smith-Lever Aso was to" * * *
aid in diffusion among the people of the United States useful and
practicni information * and to encourage 'the application of the

* * *same
This art embraced it goal of increasing production and improving

the market Mg systems. It directed attention toa ant improving the
welfare of those in a position of relative social or ecotiontic t age
by helping them Jo help themselves. It required response and effort
on the part of the recipi!:tit hut deviling( it to he the public policy to
assist, those in need of informal ion what ever t heir economic status.
This concept was eloquently described by Congressman Lever 011
December s, 1913, when he viewed the Extension agent as responsible
to "* * give leadership and direction, along all lines of rural
activities social, economic, and financial." Repre.sentative Lever

'also added the following comment:
The collo:ant, does not neltve that Congress ran afford to appropriate

money for the sole purpose .of teaching the farmer the best methods of increasing
production * he (thy Extension ifgent] is to assume leadership in every
movement, mhatever it may he, the aim Of which' is better farming, better living,
more happne,f, more education, and better citizenship.

In addition, Mr. Lever made the following statement:
Your committee commends.to the especial attention Of this house that feature

of the hill which provides alit liiirdy for the itinerant teaching of home economics
or home mairragemnt * and your committee believes there is no mop. important
work in the country than this.

Your urnnOttee believes that one of th'e main features of this hilt is that it is
so tlekible as to provide for the inauguration of a system of itinerant teaching for
boys and girls.

You are, of course, familiar with the work that Cooperative Exten-
sion has done in stimulating the adoption of technology ill American
agricult lire. '['his has yielded direct or indirect benefit for every Ameri-
can in terms of high- quality food for an extremely low percentage of
the total average income. You are also aware of the strong and
continuing programs designed to improVe family living. In recent
years, Ole Congress has seen ,fit, to expand these.efforts by allocating
to- Extension an' additional 00 million for nutrition education,
particularly directed toward the disadvantaged homemaker and her
children.

Evolution of the 4-11 program in America was made possible by
the wisdom of the Congress in calling specific attention to the need
of our young people for programs to assistpthem in developing their
skills, leadership capacities, and ability to function as productive

- contributors to American society. Much of the success of the 4- H
program is due to national program leadership and nationwide
support by the National.4-H Service Committee and the National
4-H Foundation.

The original act clearly established Cooperative Extension as one
of the institutions designed to stimulate national growth by helping
the individual improve his knowledge and skills. Extension programs
in rural areas are directly related to the economic development of the
Nation and to rural development in particular. The 1955 Congress also
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took cognizance of the problem of underdevelopment in certain rural
areas of the United States and provided in section 8 of the Smith-Lever
Act that Extension should give specific assistance to the economic and
social development of depressed areas. On a broader scale-- and more
recently the Cooperative Extension Service has been asked by the
present Secretary of Agriculture to assume leadership in organiiing
State rural development committees. In most States, district and
county committees have also been created. Most committees are
chaired by Extension personnel. The major programing components
of the Cooperative Extension Service today are, therefore, related to
agriculture, homemaking, youth, and rural community development.

The full impact of these pro rants cannot be measured without
reference to the manner in which the lay public is involved, not
simply as recipients, iu in expanding the programs far beyond the
efforts of the paid- staff. There are today approximately 100,000
'mail- yeah; contributed annually by volunteer leaders' involved in
Extension work. If t he nature of Extension is changed-- and especially
if the change would make Extension subject to partisan political
domination it could he anticipated that a very high percentage of
these volunteers would lose interest, The personal commitment and
involvement' of volunteer leaders are a significant force in most

. Ex t e nsion, programs.
The Cooperative Extension Service was conceived as an educational

provra and for that reason was placed within the land-grant, colleges.
It was tied to the4Federal establishment by means of (1) acceptance
of the Smith-Lever °Act by State legislatures (2) the requirement.
that States match Federal money in 'support of the program, and (3)
by the memorandum of .understanding between the Secretary of
Agriculture and the land-grant institutions chosen by State legisla-
tures to serve 'as the parent institutions for program administration.
Long and sometimes bitter debate occurred during hearings preceding
passage of the Smith-Lever Act. A significant amount. of the discussion
considered the manner in which the program would be administered
at the State level. There was also question. as to whether the agents
should be made direct hoe employees of the Federal Government or
employees of the State land-grant institutions. Senator Smith of
Georgia, one of the authors of the Smith-Lever Act, summarized the
rationale finally accepted in a statement on January 29, 1914, which
in'part reads as follows:

We are ,confronted with some of the professors . . who-preferred that unre-
strained power should be given to the colleges of agriculture. ()II the other hand,
there were those who agreed . . . that it would be best . . . that the agents
employed should be subject to the approval of the Department of Agriculture.
The final result of the conferences and study was the adoption of a middle course
providing cooperation with the power to supervise andhpprove the line of work
by the Pep:aliment of Agriculture and leaving to,, the co eges the selection of the
agents.

We finally framed the bill as it is as the result of a consensus of opinion that we
could rely upon the faculties of the colleges to make the selections free from any
political influence, free from any influence except the spirit of an educational
leader earnestly desirous of carrying the best information -to those who are to be
its recipients. We concluded that if the Department here were to pass upon these
men, then the idea would perhaps exist in the state that senators and representa-
tives could be called on to confer with the Department about it and to exercise
some political influence over the selection and as we were seeking to take these
selections entirely out of politics and to, make them purely educational we shaped
the bill as it is.

21
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The decision to grant authority to each State legislature to name
a single land-grant institution in each State and to place the eintiloy-
ees or agents within the staffing structure,bf that institution also had
a profound and lasting impact upon the nature of the program. It
enhanced State influence, it minimized direct political influence, it
preserved the educational nature of the program, and it made possible
the development of statewide program4 hich could not have evolved
us they did had there been more than one college or university desig-
nated to administer each State program.

TUE NATURE AND CHA nAcTE lusTi es OF TILE COOPERATIVE EXTENSION
SERVICE

L. It is educational in program content and methodology and is a
major part of the public land-grant university system rather than
being attached directly to Statj government.

2. It provides informal noncredit education conducted beyond the
formal classroom and for all ages.

:3. It helps people solve problems and take advantage of oppo-
tunities I hrough education.

4. It features the objective presentation and analysis of factual
information for deciNionmaking 1),i the people themselves. It is typi-
cally research ba.-,ed with free flow of communication among research,
extension, and resident teaching functions of the State land-grant
university ssteni and with resources of the U.S. Department of
Agriculture and.ot her agencies both public and private.

5. It functions through local offices which are semiautonomous
units accessible to and influenced by local residen4s.

It involves cooperative but mit necessarily equal sharing of
financial support among Federal, State, and county levels of goven-
ment.

7, It requires cooperative sharing of program development among.
Federal, 't at P, and local levels.

s. It is practical, problem centered, 811(1 situation based.
9, The funding and administrative relationships permit educa-

tional programs directed at broad national purposes yet serving ..pecifie
local needs with priorities determined locally.

l, Loc ul invokement has resulted in the voluntary cmitribution
of millions of dollars of private money as well as the very significant
allocation of time by Solnnnteer lenders.

COOPERATIVE, EXTENSION AN EDUCATIoNA MODEL

;ye Extension has been looked von for years' as an ideal
model off ederal, State, local cooperative effort.. It has been acknowl-
edged, idimg with our research establishment, as one of the primary
roils ns for the worldwide superiority of American agriculture. It has
be used as a Model in most other nations which continue to look to
dr United States for leadelship, advice, and guidance in developing
eitension services in developed as well as in underdeveloped countries.

Cooperative Extension has been evaluated by formal research. One
of these studies indicated that the annual return for each additional
dollar of public funds invested in support of the combination of
Cooperative Extension services and their related experiment stations
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is in the magnitude of 1,300 percent in perpetuity. Impact from
Cooperative Extension may be found in more adequate community
leadership and in hundreds of thousands of individuals who have
become more effective contributors to the Nation as a result of the
development of their capabilities through their involvement in
Extension educational programs.

Di. Fred Harrington, who served as president of the UniVersity of
Wisconsin, and Dr. Donald McNeil, who is chancellor of the 'Univer-
sity of Maine at Portland, conducted a study of inlidt education for
the Carnegie Corp. Reporting on this study in 1962, Dr. Harrington
listed five points of success illustrated by the Cooperative Extension
Service:These points are:

1. Cooperative Extension proyides the chief exam* of a successful adult
education movement.

2. Cooperative Extension (presents what is so far the only S'IleePINS of the
Federal Government in providing continuting support of instruction in higher
education.

:3. Cooperative Extension has pioneered in the introduction of new teaching
techniques.

4. Cooperative Extension has shown how to link research to action programs.
5. Cooperatise Extension has provided an extraordinary example of the

outreach of the univerity.
In 1963, seven hand -grant presidents collaborated in it paper pre-

sented at it national setnitoi on agricultural, administration in4the
land-grant system. Some of their observations related to (!omaTlive
Extension are:

The Cooperative Extension Service has often been termed one of She "most .
distinctive inventams of American education * One of the great strengths
of the Cooperatise Extension Sect ice since its inception * * * is that that it has
dc..- eloped org.t,rzation which permits it to s sn.itive 0) the needs and
W1,111, of t it serves.

`Pie Exton, 14,111 Hien unit he pre.,ersed. Special considernaon must In given as
to how its unique strength ran Is, adapted to nwet the many urgent needs, 4otne
of them quite nett.

THE COOPERATIVE EXTENSION ROLE

The Cooperative Extensiohas responded not only to local concerns
but to national priorities. It was instrumental in t4te,.successful
initiation of the TVA, the AAA, and soil conservation district pro-
grams. It concentrated on farm production during World War II;
it responded to national concerns on human nutrition; it is tackling
the needs of town and city youth; and is accepting an increasing
responsibility for emerging concerns related to rural development
and the environment. It has done and is doing these things through,
education, information, inspiration, and involvement of individuals,
families, and community grroups. The most recent example of Exten-
sion's response to national problems took place, just a few weeks ago
when it .conducted a nationwide hOrse population einstis to assist
the Department of Agriculture in 4otnb4ting Veyuelan equine
,encephalomvelitis.

It might logically be asked why it is necessary for the Cooperative
Extension program to be continued now that therlt has been. developed
a strong agricultural capability and many rural homes have. been
upgraded to a level far more comparable to those in the city than was

23
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the case a half century ago. First of an, a look at the field of agriculturh
is appropriate.

Thb problems of the American farmer are far mor6 conwlex tiday
than ever before. The increasing pressures Upon the AmeriAn ft iner
in terms of marketing, management, jCi5sticAes, feedlot wliste dis-
posal, land-use planning and zoning, as werus those of production

require.continued support, both from the standpoint of resea.rch
and the extension of that research to the farmer for his use. The average
farmer who represents the vast majority of American agriculture can-
not be expected to conduat'his own research nor take the time to seek
out msable knowledge from the technical language of the highly trained
scientist. America's farmer today nee& imp assistance, more support,
more understanding, and more educationnot less. It, is seldom realized
that a significant -portion of Extension's "agricultural" programs serve
the tirbanite as well as the agricultural producer. Agricultural tech-
nology information on urban horticulture, turf grass, insect control,
and plant diseases are a few examples. Of course, the consumers is the
ultimate beneficiary of those programs related to food and fiber
production.

The American family today must function in a complicated and de-
manding society. The need for education in human nutrition is un-
usually high. It is not enough to have packaged and processed foods
available. The homemaker needs to know the food value of those prod-
ucts and e needs to know how to make her food dollar go as far as
poRsi With congressional support, Cooperative Extension has
mounted a massive and effective effort in nutrition education, both in
the city and in the nonmetropolitan areas of the Nation. Emerging
efforts of Cooperative Extension are involving the hornemaker in
aspects of her rommtmit v as well as the improvement of her OW11 Man-
agerial skills within the home. Her leadership in providing a meaningful
quality of life for family members continues to hold a high priority.

America's young people have been pointed to as a source of the very
highest concern in terms of heir motivation, their personal develop-
ment, and their ability and willingness to move into an adult demo-
cratic society in an affirmative manner. The 4-H program, and effort
conducted hy Cooperative Extension has, without question, proven
its ability to inspire young people, to develop their citizenship and
leadership capacities, and to bring them through their teenage years
with an affirmative and constructive outlook that is a prerequisite
to our form of society.

Cooperative Extension has been continuously reviewed in an effort
to update its programs in response to economic and social needs. In
1948, the Kepner report considered, post -World War II needs of our
people. In 1958, the so-called Scope report addressed attention to the
informal education needs of the mid-century years. Then, in 1968, a
national committee . of representatives of the lay public and high
officials of the USDA and the land-grant universities.projected the role
of Cooperative Extension Service for the 1970's. The report entitled
"A People and a Spirit" calls for continued support to commercial
agriculture, a heavy expansion of programs dealing with quality of
livingboth youth and adult, and large increases in educational pro-
grams related to rural development.
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The Cooperative Extension Service couldand would if given the
charge and the resources become' the educational component for
any new comprehensive policy of 1-ural development. By providing
educational information about action programs and by involving load

--(6numinity leadership in the processes of development, the Coopera-
tive Extension Service could provide a vitally important component
.intsupport of the action phases of rural development efforts.envisioned
in S. 1612.

In atl of these efforts, the program is foeused on the delivery of
objective information based upon research and presented free of
political control. There is not sufficient insurance that Senate bill 1612,
as now drafted, will provide the legislative bast§ upon which such a pro-
gram can be continued in an effective and objective manner.

SUMMARY

Inclusion of the Cooperative Extension Service in S. 1612 dicates
recognition of the need for an educational component to permi pn
phases of rural community development to be fully effective. The
National Association of State Universities and. Lpm-Grant Colleges
fully supports the involvement of the Cooperative Extension Service
in rural community development so long as safeguards are provided to
maintain the educational objectivity of the programs. These safeguards
exist under present legislation; they could be compromised by including
extension in S. 1612. In addition, present national coordination and
leadership for extension work would be lessened, if not totally de-
stroyed, by passage of S. 1612. Present State progrom influence would
increase, but there iy no assurance county ri4,id community priorities
would enjoy the same importance as they do at present. S. 1612 as
now drafted would enforce personnel and program reductions at the
State level through loss of current privileges and economies. The im-
portant tie to research at the regional and national levels would be
badly weakened. Amendments to correct weakensses would, at best,
improve the bill so that advantages of present extension organization
and programing might. be maintained but these improvements would
not create arrangements superior to the Smith-Lever and related acts.
Flo those reasons and those detailed earlier in this statemenkr we
respectfully urge that this committee strike from S. 1612 all references
toothe Cooperative Extension Service. , .

Senator HUMPHREY, I am very sorry, but §01110 of my colleagues
are riot ,here this morning. And I am going 115 respectfully- suggest
that possibly Mr. Shaffer of your association might want to send a
personal summary of this testimony to each member of the committee.
I think it is very valuable testimony.

Senator Curtis, we have just heard from Mr. Watts, who has been
talking with us about the section of the special revenue sharing for
rural development legislation that deals with the Extension Service.
And as you were coming in I was suggesting to Mr. Paul Shaffer that
he might want to give us a little brief summary of it to each member
of the committee that couldn't be here today so that we can look it
over.

I have a couple of questions thitt I want to ask y u.
But may,I ask you, do you wish to have any e ument at all from

any of the other members here

21i
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Mr. WArrs: I dorit believe so. We wonld,of course be willing to
answer any questions.

Senator HUMPHREY. We have, Senator- Curtis, Dr. John Hutchison
of Texas, Dr. Joe Stein of Nevada, Paul Shaffer of the association

( you reside in Washington, do you, Mr. Shaffer?
Mr. SHAFFER. Yes, sir.
Senator HUMPHREY. And Mr. Coffindaffer of West Virginia. And

Dr. Diess lin of Indiana, all representing the Extension Service.
Do I understand, Mr. Watts, that all f:your associates agree or

suuorourostaternent?WATTS. Yes sir.
Sefiutor HUMPHREY. This is the statement representing your group?
Mr. WATTS. This statement, except for the last comments relative

to Dr. Varner's proposal, which represents only our group as repre-
sentatives,typical directors. The other has been formally approved
by all the directors and the Extension Committee on Organization
and Policy and by the National sissociation of State Universities and
Land-Grant Colleges.

,Senator HUMPHREY. I know that Senator Curtis was vary interested
in Dr. Varner's statement and recommendation at the University of
Nebraska.

Senator Curtis, Dr. Watts and his associates individually", without
having had the chance for any formal ratification in the ext4ision
services, but ihdividually support and endorse the suggestions made by
Dr. Varner on the occasion of our visit to Nebraska.

Senator Curtis, you may recall you asked a number of questions
about it.

Senator Clams, I have visited with a large number of people in the
Extension Service/chola this. And I with what they have
to say about retirement and fringe benefits and all of that. What is
your position today? Do you oppose the legishition in toto, or do you
support with amendments?

Mr. WArrs. Our position has been cast only toward an analysis of
those provisions that pertain to the Cooperative Extension Service.
We have not taken a position pro or con in terms of the concept gen-
erally. I'think the statnent of need-
- Senator Clms. I. will state my question another way, then, Are

you at this time asking to be excluded from it?
Mr. WATTS. Yes.
Senator °mins. Rather than to remain in with any amendments?
Mr. WATTS. We have looked at this very carefully, and we feel that

were we to, get all the amendments that we feel are needed, we would
get to the same place that exclusion would take us. Therefore we feel
that exclusiOn would be the far simpler route, and certainly we feel it
would' be more effective.

Senator HUMPHREY; I have just a couple of questions, gentlemen.
And any one of you, starting with Mr. Watts can respond.

We heard from Dr. Varner about his concept and the role which vou
seek for agricultural Cooperative Extension Services in rural develop-
ment. Would you like to make any furthet comment at all about the
role that you see for your established Cooperative Extension Service
in the broadened program or the new interest in rural development?

Mr. WATTS. I would like to make a very brief statement and ask my
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'colleagues' also, because each State I thia represents a different
perspective.

Senator HUMPlilthY. Yes.
Mr. WATTS. In Colorado we 'have deliberately seen n broadening.

of the cooperative .extension program and its role. For eXample,
have just been appointed is seerettiry of a rural development com-
mission appointed by Governor Love. We have other members of
cooperative extension on this commission. We are involved in leader-
Ship for the .Department of Agriculture in its rural development
committees. We have supported very strongly our State planning
office, a newly created land-use commission which is seeking to develop-
at the local levelto implement at the local level new requirements
toward land-us °Rey in the State.

Now, these cannot be done effe vely unless people get involved in
their own communities., So we at the place of an organization
such as cooperative' extension, the background it has,, with its
ties to research, and the information flow capability it has, ca'n fill
the educational role. It can fill it in a way that can permit the com-
munities to relate to someone Who is not a direct line agent, someone
in whom they have confidence becauSe of this neutrality. But our
relations ill this I think have been excellent.

So I would perceive that the kind of role outlined by pr. Varner is
'entirely in keeping with the thrust that was outlined in the document
"A People and a Spirit," the national committee report of 2 years ago.
And certainly it is one that would be completely compatible with any
programs that I would see in our own States. - 6

Servitor HUMPilli.EY.* Any other gentlemen?-
This is Dr. Hutchison of Texas.

STATEMENT OF DR. JOHN E. HUTCHISON', DIRECTOR, COOPERATIVE
EXTENSION SERVICE, TEXAS A. & M. UNIVERSITY, COLLEGE
STATION, TEX.; ALSO REPRESENTING THE NATIONAL. ASSOCIA:
TION OF STATE ITNIVERSITIES.ANDLAND-GRANT COLLEGES AND
THE EXTENSION COMMITTEE ON ORGANVATION AND POLICY

Mr. HuTcntsoN. I would like' to comment in this way, that the"
'Cooperative Extension Service is far more then an' agency to transfer
4echnology. It is a soph. ticated system of informal education that"
embodies the full ran a interest and concerns of, the people with
whom we work. And ld -submit that the deep involvement of
localleadership in studying his situation and studying the developing
trends that form the basis for their programs that help them to identify .

problems and opportunities and help theta to identify the priorities
that they wish to activate is ,p subtle kind of education, and is a means
by which higher education 6.n be taken to the public a large, many
of whom, most of whom,_perhaps, have no 'opportunity to come ter
the institution of higher education per 8(1m the campus. And so we
are very much interested being a part of the programs of rural
development...And we believe that at its very genesis that rural devel-
opment is an educational matter. Unless there is a change of attitud,e,
until there is an attitude of honk,' an opportunity for progress among
the people; not much progress can be made Coward rural development.
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Also it,provides us with an opportunity to bring to the attention
of people in wetly realistic ways the kind of assistance that is available
from many, many sources, both Federal, State, and otheriise, that
they can utilize in bringing about rural development and improving
the conditions of their lives and the conditions of their economy.

Senator HUMPHREY. We see the possibility of a land -grant college
or university. yith the Extenion Service becoming a central point for
information and documentation of all. kinds that relate to rural
development. And Dr. Varner talked to us somewhat about that. And

` I gather that yon sense that that is an imOrtant role for the Extension
Service.

Mr. HuTcnisox. I do, indeed, sir.
Senator Humeun Ey. Do you have specialized training programs now

to put new emphasis upon the rural development aspe'&ts of your work?
Mr. WATTS.. There are two aspects of it, Senator Humphrey. One

of thesein our own institution, we hicve sponsored both a national
and a regional community rural develOpment workshop for people
who are specialized in extension this particular activity. We are also

.working toward a formalized .curriculum, and so are the other institu-
-tions that we feel can be helpful here.

In addition tettbis, I would also personally support what Dr. 'Varner
indicated, I belieye, to this committee; that there are disciplines not
common to most extension services.that are needed.

Senator HUMPHREY. Yes, that was opened up for,discussion at the
time. Dr. Varner made it clear that he has just giving us a broad
concept, which, by the way, we would appreciate from any of you,
that is anything that you have that relates to this type of development.

Does anyone, else wish to make any comment?

STATEMENT OF DR. JOSEPH F. STEIN, ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR, CO-

., OPERATIVE EXTENSION SERVICE; OF NEVADA,

RENO, NEV.; ALSO REPRESENTING THE TIONAL ASSOCIATION

OF STATE' UNIVERSITIES AND LAND-GRANT COLLEGES, AND

CHALRMAN; EXTENSION COMMITTEE ON ORGANIZATION AND

POLICY

Mr. STEIN. would like to say.this. In carrying out rural develop-
ment. responsibilities firstAI think that the Extension Service as an
organization has the communication with the local people to really
do the Ob. I think the-important thing has been the type of resources
available to focus attention on some of the local problems to get the
job.done.

SOHatOr HUMPHREY., I am impressed by the fact that the Extension
Service has this long period of service to rural America. And you do
have,your contacts,*you do not only work at the farm level, but you
are known in the buSuiess community and the professional community
and the acadeMic community.; all of which is required for any kind of
extension, or any kind of- expansion in rural America, whether it is
agridultural, industrial, or educational expansionary development.

Mr. Waris. I believe we sometimes also lose sight of the fact that
our 4-11 program, which is.perceived in somewhat a different.context,
does also have a very real. contribution to make to this sort of thing.
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For example, we have a grogram called community pride. And these
young people in their leadership in their community, N-o. 1, as citigens't
and No. 2getting things done in the community for community
good can sometimes achieve things that are, not usually talked about
'in rural development, ,because we are thinking in terms of an adult
program. And this, toy I think can be a dimension of some .
consequence. .

Senator' HUMPHREY. I agree.
.

Mr. HUTCHISON. Senator Humphrey, I am sure you are already
aware that the Cooperative Extension is deeply involved in this rural
development effort.

Senator HUMPHREY. Yes; I am aware of that. .
Mr. HuTcrasoN. And most Extension directors are serving as

chairmen of the Sta ural development committees. In my State of
Texas, for example, Governor' office is represented in the member-
ship on this commi e. 'The man who is director of the industrial
commission of Our State is a member of this committee. And so we
bring together the leadership of the State who are interested in rural
development. And this committee in our State this past year has
developed a piece of legislation which was submitted to the Texas
Legislature andpassed by the Texas Legislature providing some risk
capital for small industries in rural areas to use to get started on a
very modest basis, of course, although it has not yet been funded.
They alSo passed legislation which would permit communities to
vote revenue bonds to support and develop nidustry, that has been
proven feasible.

I cite these as examples of the kind of contributions that are being
made over and above what is normally thought of traditionally as the
educational efforts. . °

STATEMENT DX. E..L. COFFINDAFFER, DIRECTOR, COOPERATIVE
EXTENSION SERVICE, WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY, MORGAN-

'TOWN, W. VA.; ALSO REPRESENTING THE NATIONAL ASSOCIA-
TION °EFATE 'UNIVERSITIES AND LAND-GRAFT COLLEGES AND
THE EXTENSION COMMITTEE ON ORGANIZATION AND POLICY

NIr. COFFINTAFFER. Senator, I think one of the things that is very
important at this time in our history is to start looking at the rural

'areas. Take my State, for example. It is `almost completely rural, and
representative of a large 'segment of the Appalachian area and the
Northeast. The issues that -face the rural people, today are probably
going to demand even a higher level of s;)Phistication than they have
in the past. Our Extension over the years I think has established its
credibility. It has a high degree of trust of the individual. We have
people w1.18 areiesidents in the county. And with the opportunity to
continue there, and then to backstop the new programs that might be.
contained in the Institute for Rural Development, with new training,
new personnel, and new resources at our disposal, 'I believe that we
would find that this would probably be one of the most effective
instruments to deal with the Dishes that face an area like mine that
has been somewhat bypassed by technological changes. Our success in
the past has brought us into an entirely new area. And I believe this is
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the mechanism that could effectively work in the rural countryside, in-
a nonetropolitan area.

Senator HUMPHREY. One of the concerns that some people have had
about the Extension Service is whether it is psychologically, or by
background, experience and training, geared to the industrial aspects
of rural development. lts, program traditionally has been primarily
directed through county agricultural agents and your educational
programs at the university level Oirected at the individual farmer', his
farm and his farming operations. The point that I think has been
raisedand I only mention it because it has been raisedis whether
or not Extension, with its outreach and county agents are really--
equipped by background, training, and orientation to deal with
economic development in addition to its agriculture work.

Mr. QOFFINDA FUER. I think we could point to a number of successes
in this area. And many people are transcending this as times change.
People are coming out of college today with different levels of orienta-
tion. But I believe_ we could find a number of instances in our State
where the county Extension workers have been the prime movers
behind local groups responsible for industrial development. And I
suspect without a great deal of difficulty we would pinpoint very
specifically- employers other than agriculture related that .haveDeame
to the State and baVe established their operations. And I believe this
would be true in Other States as well. So I think with just a little bit
of further training and backstopping they will become even more
effective than they are today.

Senator lImAPHHEY. What about the REA's. Do you have repre-
sentation of rural electric cooperatives on your State committees?

Mr. HUTCHISON. Yes, sir.
Senator HUMPRHEY. I have always looked tpon the REA's as one

of the organizations of rural people that cut aefross all the different
organizational lines. You have members of the Farmers Union, the
Farm Bureau, the NFO,.and the Grange and all of them that all seem
to be able to work together in the rural electric. cooperative program.

'Tha
STATEMENT OF DR. HOWARD G. DIESSLIN, DIRECTOR, COOPERA-

TIVE EXTENSION SERVICE, PURDUE UNIVERSITY, LAFAYETTE,
IND. ; ALSO REPRESENTING THE NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
STATE UNIVERSITIES AND LAND-GRANT COLLEGES AND THE
EXTENSION COMMITTEE ON ORGANIZATION AND POLICY

Mr. DIESSLIN. I want to comment on your question on the industrial
development. We have agricultural economists on the staffs of all
the' colleges who are working almost full-time either in policy or
community development who are very well equipped in the area of
industrial development. Now, as you know, our job is not promoting
industrial development, but to layout the opportunities that are avail-
able in this area. And also equally important, som o imunities prob-
ably should not develop industrially, and if they o They have certain
cods that could far exceed the benefits. So we hav got to be careful
on both sides of the coin here that the people h ve the facts,. and
where the opportunity exists to industrialize, th they go after it,
and where they 811°111(11A, it is equally important that they try some-
thing else.
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Senator HUMPHREY. Very good.
I have a question. Would any of you gentlemen wish to comment

on how you might fare if you had to secure all of you funds from your
State legislatures?

Mr. WATTS. That is a very difficult question to answer. I don't
believe I could accurately predict this. We have hadin our last 2
years, I believeI would.have to check our budget figures to be certain,
but I know last year the biggest dollar increase we had was from the
countries themselves. And this is in terms of operating budget, sup-
port, allowing us to have summertime aide's, and nonprofessionals to
support the youth program and to do special programs, particularly
in high density population countries, where our Federal support has
not been adequate to meet the population growth. And I believe in
some Statesand this is only a personal opinion, I would like to
make it very clearbut under revenue sharing I would expect there
would be a high diversity in what would happen. And one of the
concerns that we have expressed, and I would repeat, is that a
part of the success' of cooperative extension is that there are some
national overlays that are not directive and mandatory. But the
'nutrition education program which was authorized by the Congress
,only 3 years ago in my opinion has been an effective program. naiad
the national supwwt when it was implemented. It has not, to my
knowledgeat least we certainly didn't even consider putting it in
any county where there was any question about its acceptability
locally. And so we have been able to sort of marry up these three levels
of government. And they Work against each other in a sort of a balanc-
ing kind of program, where you can get. the inputs of advisory com-
mittees locally, and, the money locally, and at the same time you
have got State and Federal working with it. And I think it would vary
considerably State by State.

Mi. HUTCHISON. Senator Humphrey, I would like to comment that,
. based on the history of the Cooperative Extension Service and the
large number of programs that have been conducted on a coordinated
basis by all State Cooperative Extension Services in the interest
of national goals, it would indicate that if this potential would be

'lost, that it would be a very great loss to the Nation as a whole.
And I would refer to the organization of the various action programs
at their inception, such as the soil conservation distritt, the rural
electrification, and these kinds of things, t4e food for peace programs
during two world wars, and now the nutrition programs. And I
would comment just on the most recent near-catastrophe of the
invasion of the United States by the VEE, Venezuelan encephalomye-
litis program, which hit our State very hard. And the director of
science and education, Dr. Ned Bayley, caffild me one morning and
said, We must have as quickly as humanly possible- a report day by
day from each county on the number of sick horses and the number
of dead horses. And within 24 hours we were providing this. informa-
tion accurately for the 254 counties in our State.

These kinds of programs would be lost if Extension were relegated
to a State agency as opposed to the opportunity that now exists with
Federal funding for cooperative efforts.

Senator HUMPHREY. What is Extension doing to promote the
formation of county planning and development districts, which as
you know has become quite a program across the country?

31
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Mr. WATTS. We have done several things in Colorado. The first
thing we did when we organized the USDA rural development com-
mittees was to organize a State committee. And we have a private
industry planning agency am! a State planning agency in the Gover-
nor's executive offices which deal with planning and resource develop-
ment, farm organizations, representatives of the lay public, and all
the agencies that would be in the department involved in this. We
have done this also at-the district level. We have 12 planning dis-
tricts in Colorado. And these are set up to handle A-95 requests
'as well as the planning evolution in the State. So we have locked in
the .same geography as the organizationibiWe were, I think, instru-
mental in getting those 12 districts set up the way they are, because
the Extension was working cooperatively with the State planning
Ake which had that responsibility. And we arranged the meetings,
at which time local people had a chance to react to the Governor's
recommendations, which I believe at that time were working toward
about eight. And as a result of the hearings, and the input from
people locally, the 12 that we now .have were set up. We are now
working in t le same manner with the new land use commission. And
they are als tending in this direction, you see. I feel that we have
a capacity here to at least provide the information on which policy
decisions of this type are being made.

Mr. HuTcmsoN. Senator Humphrey, I would comment that I
think most States are working in the same way as outlined by Director
Watts. In our State, for example, the State is divided into 23 economic
districts. And the Governor's office borrowed some of our specialists
to work with his planning units in developing the input-output'in-
formation that was developed to support these economic planning
units. And we have been deeply involved in working with them. And
in our State the State law requires that any. new developmental
programs that would be initiated would be initiated along the lines
that were established by the Governor's office.

Senator HUMPHREY. Mr. Diesslin, you had some-comment on this?
Mr. pIESSL1N. The State planning office is a part of our State

committee, and all of our local committees on -rural development are
simultaneous.with the economic development area boundaries.

Senator HUMPHREY. So the multicounty planning districts are
really phased into your program?

Mr. DiESSLIN. Right.
Senator HUMPHREY. And from what I have heard here I gather

you are somewhat instrumental in encouraging their formation?
Mr. DIESSLIN. We helped them in the development of it, and the

facts they used;to. set up the areas, and have cooperated all along.
Senator.ifumPurtEY. Anybody else?
Mr. Stein?
Mr:STEIN. I would say, Senator," that this is true in Nevada ag

well. We have worked very closely with the State' p'lanni'ng board in
surveying and living the necessary-data to determine what planning
districts perhaps should be made in our Nevada situation.

Mr. Hyrcinsox. Senator Humphrey, if I might, I would like to
go back trthe previous question that you raised about whether the
Extension staff or State Extension staff people were oriented to work
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in industrial development as-well as in traditional agriculture. And I
would like to comment that most of the growth that has taken place
in the form of professional staff members in the Cooperative Ex-
tension Services in the last decade have been specialists. And many
of these Nere specialists who serve on an area basis as well as on a
State basil. And I would cite an example, with which I am familiar.
In our State, divided into 12 districts for administrative purposes,
we have an economist in management, located in each of these dis-
tricts at the district headquarters, who is deeply involved in matters
pertaining to economic development. And in addition the Extension
Service has been involved in the development of cooperatives through-
out the Nation, and has been in a sponsoring role for the development
of these cooperatives.

Senator HUMPHREY. Of course.
Mr. COFFINDAFFER. Senator, along this same line I think the ques-

tion that we have found particularly- in our area toward bringing
employers into rural areas has to do with the level of community
services. And this has to be directly related to the people who live in
that community themselves. So irrespective of what any governmental
unit does other than being able just to dictate that one goes in and
locates here, the developments that are going to occur would be directly
related to the involvement of people at the local level. And this I think
is one of the real strong points that extension workers have, is to know
how to go through the process of getting local people concerned about
what is going to happen, concerned about their Comm pities and then
knowing how to get the necessary action to provide tile kind of attrac-
tive things that are needed to get the employers to come in. So I think
the process at local level is perhaps more important than a specific
subject matter.

Senator HUMPHREY: I have a feelingmaybe it is just because I
have been recently more involved in this whole matterthat this idea
of rural development, has become a much more integrated type of
development in that it goes into community services, into industrial
expansion, and transportation. The whole picture has kind of taken
on a new momentum in the last few years.

Mr. WATTS. That is correct.
Senator HUMPHREY. Is it just because I have become involved in

this subcommittee, or because it is really happening?
Mr. HUTCHISON. is really happening, yes, sir.
Mr. WATTS. I believe one of the reasons you would find the degree of

interest by the sponsoring cooperative services in this problem is that
we operate on an informal basis where, if you don't shave a so-called
teachable people or an interest on the part of the lay public, it is pretty
difficult. And x would say that 20 years ago, raising this same issue,
you would have found very little of that in the local community. And
today there are insthnces offor example, in the hearings,we have been
having in Colorado we have uncovered just scaryinfortnation about
the number of units, for example, in the Aspen, Colo., area, already
approved, and thennobody ever had it in one central point where they
could look at it. And these problems are with us in a State such as mine.
We have very fast cleclining population in part of the State, and mush-
rooming population in another. And this kind of imbalance does not
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portend a very responsible, reasonable kind of development for our
State. I am sure the Governor is concerned about it, and many people
aro. I think that there is a great deal of interest in this thing at' the
local level.

Senator HUMPHREY. Carl.
Senator CURTIS. I have a conference on the Sugar Act. -
Senator HUMPHREY. I guess you had better go to tliat.Besure you

get a lot of beets in there.
Well, gentlemen, unless you have something further to add: I

want to express mv thanks. But don't hesitate if vou have something
else. Because we look to you for a great deal of guidance. We are
dealing with subject matter that has many ramifications, and it is
very hard to put your hand right on it and say this is rural develop-
ment. When you speak of develovment it comes in many forms.
And we think that the Extension Service has a unique role to play.
I really believe that your leadership in rural America can be funda-
mentally important. And you have a way of doing it. I find that in
rural America you just don't come- in and grab people and say we
are going to do it this way, you have got to talk it out. It takes a little
time. It isn't quite the same as some of our decisions that we make at
the urban level.

Will you please feel free to forward to us any suggestions that -you
have. Truthfully this is a totally nonpartisan or bipartisan effort
that we are making here, and we need the help of everybody we can
get, even on matters that don't directly relate to the Extension Service.
You men haVe a keen interest in the financing of rural development,
the credit that is necessary, the kind of transportation, the educational
and community facilities ,that are required in rural areas. And in your
capacity just as a citizen feel free to share with us, because you are
out there. We need your guidance.

Thank you very much.
(Summary statement submitted by Mr. Watts is as follows:)

We appreciate this opportunity to appear before You to discuss the Rural
Community Development Revenue Sharing Act of 101 as it relates specifically
to the Cooperative Extension Service. I am Lowell II. Watts, director of the
Cooperative Extension Service for Colorado State University. My colleagues
present today are:

Di. Howard G. I)iesslin, director, Cooperative Extension Service, Purdue.
I)r. John E. Hutchinson, director, Agricultural Extension Service, Texas

A. & M. University.
Dr. B. L. Coffindaffer, director, Cooperative Extension Service, West

Virginia University.
Dr. Joseph Stein, director, Cooperative Extension Service, University of

Nevada, and chairman of the Extension Committee on Organization
and Policy.

Present also is I)r. Paul Shaffer,- director, Office of International Programs,
National Association of State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges.

This testimony is presented with the approval and support of the National
Association of State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges and the Extension
Committee on Organization and Policy and on behalf of the most complex, most
far-reaching and most pervasive organization ever created to project scientific
knowledge in a meaningful and useful form to people outside the classroom. Our
testimony 0111 focus upon sections 202(c) and 416 of S. 1612.

At the outset, we commend tie Congress for the policy statement on rural
development contained in title IX of the 1970 Farm Act. We also support the
concerns for rural America and for balanced growth and developmen't expressed
brthe President in his message on rural community development. The Cooperative
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.Extension Service has the capacity and organization to copr lite to those policyobjectives. It can do so, however, qply as an objective, politically neutral educa-
tional organization. This testimony will examine the provisions of S. 1612 in termsof their impacts upon this capability as well as the delivery of other authorizededucational services.

Alter serious analysis, we have concluded that S. 1612 as it is now written wouldsignificantly' alter the nationwide system of informal education no sonndly.con-ceived and so laboriously constructed over the past 57 years. The bill now beforeyouat least that part pertaining to the Cooperative Extension.., Serviceisvague and fraught with hidden, long-range implications. Section 20R(e) appearsto maintain' Cooperative Extennion as the outreach arm of our land -grant univer-
sities and the educational arm of the USDA. But section '202(e) tells us nothing'about the authority of the Secretary of Agriculture to approve plans of work. Itdoes not specify the authority of the Governors, It fails to insure political neutral-ity. National threads of program effort are ignored. It is not clear whether the1971 funding level is a frozen figure or only a base.

The Cooperative Extension Service is clearly unlike any of the other agencies
or programs included in the proposed act. It is not a categorical grant program.It already is based on high local involvement of people in the determination of its
program priorities. It already provides a greater flexibility in programing thanwould be required under revenue sharing. It is not an action program but aneducational one.

Already incorporated into Extension operations are the revenue sharing conceptsof shared funding, local detisionmaking, the establishment of program- priorities,and decentralized control. An important added feature of the existing.arrange-ment is a nationwide network, supportive but not directive of State and local pro-grams. Extension's priigrains have remained,relatively free of political directionand control, primarily because of Extension's tie to the land-grant institutions, the
"mutual agreement" clause'of the Smith-Lever Act, its multiple sources (d-fund-ing, it close ties to and dependence upon research, and the fact that it is not adirect line agency of either Federal or State government. Inclusion of Extension in
revenue sharing would jeopardize the continuatitm of local funding and volunteersupport..

Fhe fact that the President has, in section. 202(e), seen fit. to exempt Extension
from the general iitovisions of revenue sharing legislation is an indication that the
Cooperative Extension Service is recognized as not fitting easily and appropriatelyinto the revenue sharing concept as proposed in S. 1612.

Passage of this legislation could alter the basic operating structure of Coopera-tive Extension in such a manner as to subject it to direct political influenoc, de-
centralize it to a point where national goals and efforts could not effectively bemounted and thereby negatively affect the educational impact of the program..After careful study and analysis of the legislative proposal, it appears that aneffective, proven, and workable system is being subjected to the high risk ofdistortion and weakness. Weaknesses in the Legislation.The bill contains several weaknesses that pertain to Cooperative Extension.

1. There is no provision in the bill for mutual agreement between the State
land-grant university and the Secretary of Agriculture as to the broad nature ofprograms to be conducted.

The Department has stated:
"We are confident that effective and satisfactory working relationships can beworked out between the laud -grant institution and the Department in continuingExtension work under revenue sharing. The revenue sharing proposal did notcontemplate thc abolishffient of the Federal Extension office since there will )}.e aneed to continue national-regional-st ate relationships and other cooperativeefforts."
We arc less confident than is the Department that all-these itiationships couldbe so effectively worked out under.S. 1612. The mutual 'consen't provision of thcSmith-Lever Act is one of the bases upon which the nonpolitical arrangements forCooperative Extension has been assured. Elirm*ien of this relationship leaves tochance the working out of arrangements for the'future. If, under revenue sharing,.a Secretary should impose strict program constraints, the program could be alteredthereby. It could also be expected that the separate States, once the money wasallocated to them under revenue sharing, would construe their role to be fullycontrolling. Our position on this point is that any legislative language which fails

to provide adequate protection for an educational progitam to operate free of directpolitica control is unsound and not in the best interests of the public.
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If both revenue sharing and Federal Government reorganization are approved
as now proposed, we would find the State Cooperative Extension Services funded
through the new department of epmmunity development and the national office,
now Extension Service, USDA, located in the Department of Economic Affairs.
Et is difficult to visualize how this arrangement could possibly provide the needed
national coordination and support Implied by the Seeretary in his statements
before this committee.

2. Use of penalty mail by Cooperative Extension personnel would be repealed,
thus requiring states and counties to pay funds now provided by the Congress.

3. States would be 'required to pay retirement and fringe benefit costs of Ex-
tension employees. This, in effect, is reyenne sharing in reverse.

4. Although the Federal retirement of those currently holding Federal appoint-
ment would he protected in the law, there is a question regarding the status of
such personnel in terms of their fringe benefits if a State should elect not to
contribute to the Federal retirement program.

5. Extension wottld lose its present ability to purchase supplies and equipment
through GSA sources and would lose its present authority to acquire excess
Government property. These features have provided a great savings in the

.States. "
The USDA has indicated that efforts will be made with GSA and other,appro-

priate authorities to.permit the llooperative Extension Service to continue acquir-
ing excess property and utilizink other GSA activities and facilities.

The current authorization which Extension has to acquire excess property is a
delegation to, the State Exteaskon Director by the Administrator, Extension
Service, USDA. of his authority. If the Federal appointments arc not maintained,
it is inconceivable that such delegation would be continued.

6. There is no provision for growth. The bill refers to maintaining Cooperative
Extension at its 1971 size and type. It does not specify whether this reference is
only to Federal funds or to all sources and does not provide for Extension to share
in any increased funding under the revenue sharing bill.

Although the infent has been stated by the administration that all funds
should be considered in establishing a 1971 funding base and that future increases
are intended, there is a question as to whether or not the Congress can commit
state and county funds in the absence of enabling legislation 16-it ..matching
requirements at the level indicated.

7. * * * Section 204 which authorizes the spending of funds under the act
does not include Extension work in the authorization.

If section 202(e) should remain in the legislation it Would seem to require that
Extension be included in section 204 in order for funds to be allocated for Ex-
tension work.

8. There appears to be no opportunity for a State to continue Cooperative
Extension work with Federal support if it should elect not to accept rural com-
munity development revenue sharing funds.

9. there is high likelihood that Extension would lose its current ability to
occupy Federal office space. This would, of course, necessitate increased costs by
counties that would he affected by this feature.

10. Taken in the aggregate, the bill leaves a great many arrangements to
administrative discretion. This could be expected to result, iq a high variety of
decisions by the separate States, weakening the national ptograming coordination
and over time resulting in a significant change in the basic operating relationships.
and program content. This would be especially damaging to such programs as
4-H and nutrition.

it is most difficult to understand a proposal that would retain Federal responsi-
bility for research by the USDA and State agricultural experiment stations but '
place Extension in a completely different arrangement. Research without Extension
long ago was proved incomplete in meeting practical needs of our people. The
deliberate separation of research and Extension at the national level is a most
unwise move.

A concern must also be expressed regarding poorly defined administrative
authority in the proposed legislation.

We sincerely attempted to draft amendments to S. 1612 which would include
the Cooperative Extension Service in the legislation and insure that it would
remain effective and responsive to local needs. We have come to the conclusion
that no series of amendments will provide for anything superior to that already
available under the Smith-Lever and related acts. It is obvious that the Coopera-
tive Extension Service simply does not belong in S. 1612. The "Pass Through"
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of Extension funds to the land-grant universities would not provide dollars for
states to use under the general action phases of rural community development
revenue sharing, and a very real risk would be imposed upon a workable, operating,
effective system of infoimal education. ,

In the interest of the public served, we urge you not to permit the dissolution
of warping of an educational system which is unique and effective. We, therefore,
request that the Cooperative Extension Service be removed from the provisions
of Senate bill 1012.

THE ROLE OF EXTENSION IN RURAL DEVELOPMENT .

At this point, I would like,to address my comments to a brief examination of,the
role of the Cooperative Extension Service in rural development.

In the 1970 Report of the President's Task Force on 11,ural Development
entitled "A New Life for the Country." I You will recall that the Task Force
recommended "* * -That land-grant colleges and universities step up their
commitment * * Toward the needs of countryside communities and rural
people *

Wp specifically wish to call to the attention of this committee the high degree
of interest of the National Association of State Universities and Land-Grant
Colleges and the directors of Cooperative Extension in rural development: We are
already heavily involved in those rural development efforts for which the Depart-
ment of Agriculture has responsibility. We are working cooperatively in many
States with the State executive offices responsible for resource development,
planning and related subjects.

Today, you are seeking mechanisms by which attention can be given in an
effective manner to applying public policy and public resource's to assist non-
metropolitan areas. The implementation of a national development concept at
the State and community levels through financial incentives and other action pro-
grams must have a research and education component to support that policy
if the efforts are to be fully effective.

The Cooperative Extension organization could serve as the vehicle to provide
the educational component. We urge that any program evolved for rural develop-
mentmake full use of the capabilities of the existing structure of our land-grant
system for both data collection and information; dissemination.

Permit me at this point to comment specifically ifpon the proposal made to
this committee by Dr. D. B. Varner, president of the University of Nebraska.
You will recall that Dr. Varner recommended that the Congress authorize and
fund a system of institutes for Riml development in the land-grant universities
which would contain research and Extension components built upon the present
land-grant model.

We recognize that Dr. Varner made this proposal as an individual. It is cer-
tainly in the land-grant tradition. It is an excellent and imaginative concept.
The land - grant, system's involvement in rural" development has been extensive
over many years. Although the association has not yet formally studied the pro-
posal and acted upon it, it has supported similar concepts. Our committee, and
Individual extension directors, fully supports the proposal as we understand it,
and urges your serious consideration of it.

The Extension job as outlined by Dr. Varner is eertainly compatible with and
appropriate to both the organization of Extension and its commitment to rural
people.

We would stress in making these eommerits that Extension as it is now author-
ized could move into this responsibility as a functional arm of the land-grant
universities. This capacity would he jeopardized if the Cooperative Extension
Service is retained as now indicated in Senate hill 1612. We therefore urge this
committee to strike from S. 1612 all reference to the Cooperative Extension
Service and to permit instead its continued operation under existing authority of
the Smith-Lever Act.

Thank you for this opportunity to appear before this important committee.

Senator HUMPHREY. We are going to ,alter our schedule a little
bit, because we are moving a little faster than we contemplated.

Is Mr. Rudy Esala here?

"A New Life for the Country," The Report of the President's Task Force on Rural Development.
March 1970, p. 31.
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Mr. Esala, you alit the presidoit of the National Association of
Development Org,anizatioiW. And yilitt are from a very wonderful part of
our country, Duluth, Minn. And you are accompanied by Earl Price
and Lon Hardin.

Where are you from, Mr. Price?
Mr. PRICE. I tin front central Oklahoma.
Senator- HUMPHREY. And Mr. Hardin?
Mr. HARDIN. I am front Fort Smith, Ark.
Senator HUMPHRW. I hope that you two keittIemen don't run over

my friends in Duluth. We are outnumbered.
Mr. ESALA. don't think we are.
Senator HUMPHREY. All rightvOilie us a little background informa-

tion first on the National Association of Development Organizations.

STATEMENT OF RUDY R. ESALA, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, ARROW-
HEAD REGIONAL DEVELOPMENT COMMISSION, "DULUTH, MINN;
AND PRESIDENT, NATIOHAL ASSOCIATION OF DEVELOPMENT
ORGANIZATIONS

Mr. ESALA. The National Association of Development Organiza- -
lions is a national -assochbtion of multicounty organizations' from
every State in the-Union. We are basically set up under the economic
district program of the`Economic Development Act of 1965. There are
approximately 122 districts under,: that act presently. Amt we are
formed together for mutual protection amrfor mutual understanding
of our problems.

And I would like to introduce at this time two former presidents.
Earl Price from Shawnee,"Okla.; is a foimer president of NADO, and
Mr. Lon Hardin from Fort Smith, Ark., is also 'a former president of
NADO. I am currently serving asipresident.

Senator HUMPHREY. Do you have a prepared statement, Mr. Esala?
Mr. EsALA. Yes, I have a prepared statement. But I would like to

submit it for the record and just summarize briefly what I have.
.5enator HUMPHREY. We will put the entire statement in the record

as if read, and you just go ahead now and talk to us.
Mr. ESALA. And I would like to have Mr. Price and Mr. Hardin

assist me'aswe go along, and ask.
You can ask questions any time you wish.
The concept of aiding rural development as -expressed in the bill

1612 is a good one. We are glad that Congress recognizes the place of
rural America and is starting to do something about it, particularly
the idea of developing a national growth policy for rural America as
well as urban America. In the past it seems that all the interest was
paid to urban America, and rural America was ignored.

I want to make about four. or five points. One, in regard to this bill,
is the apparent lack of recognition of regionalism. And when I talk
about regionalism I am talking about the multicounty appgpach to
problem solving, the multijurisdictional approach.

Senator HUMPHREY. You are, speaking now of S. 1612?
Mr. ESALA. S. 1612. tr.

Senator HUMPHREY. And it is lack of recognition of the .multicounty
structure and regionalism?
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Mr. ESALA. Right -,
TWO, the so-called State plaminguberna,toria.1 control over the type

of planning system that is recommended in the bill.
And three, the efforts that the Federal Government has made in

the past decade toward regional approach to problem solving.
And four, isit appears toque that there is a lack of understanding

of what rural America is. People like to think of rural America as .41

quaint little village behind a bill, amlpeople farming. But that isn't
rural America today. Rural America today is industrialized. People
there work in factories' as they do in the cities, and they work in
mines. And they have the same kind of jobs as people in Chicago, and
the poverty in rural America is felt just as keenly as it is in Chicago.
Poor housing and lack of opportunity and discrimination is felt as
hard in, Orr, Minn., with 200 population, as in Los Angeles.

And then the last point I woutd like to address myself to isit
might raise some eyebrowsjudging the wisdom of placing rural'

development in the development of agriculture, is that the right place
for it to be.,

e. I will go back first of all and talk about the regional approach of
problem solving. This bill appears to me not to fully recognize the
efforts of the Federal Government in the past decade to develop the
regional concepts in local areas.

Congress has through the Economic Developinint Acts set up the
economic development distOct plus the regional commissions in the
various parts of the country. Unfortunately in many places the legis-
lative intent of Congress has not been followed through by the Federal
agencies. However, at the present time for our regionalas an ex-
ample in Arrowhead--we would not 1w able to carry out our'ur Programs
without congressional support and Federal- regulations. The States in
many instances, not necessarily in Minnesota, but in many other in-
stances, refuse to recognize midtijurisdictional appro"aches or local
autonomy. The only way that modern Americans in rural America
can express their concern and maintain a certain amount -of autonomy,
is to band together in a strong joint effort and to sit down together
and hash out their problems and set up priorities and hope that the
State and the Federal Government recognizes that these people have
the ability to decide their own destiny. By themselves they are weak
anal confused and unable to solve their problenls,

S. 1012 appears-to give tho power of planning to the Governors of
each State. Arid it is uli to the discretion of the Governor to set up a
state planning board and set up regions systems, but it doesn't say
how orAvliat kind of -rides or whether they are going to put any money
in the rural areas or use State areas to do the planning or have local
people to do the planning or what, we don't know, it doesn't. say that.
There are many areas of revenue sharing that really frighten rural
America. It is hard even to explain some of the reasoning. But I am
sure Mr. Price and. Mr. Hardin can explain whaChapperin the
Emergency Employment Act when it was given to the G ernor's

.office and split up among the Governors, and all the political hassles
in that 'area.

Our apprehension on this bill is that there is no guarantee for the
regional concept that it will be protected and it will be saved, with all
the investment that has been made so far. The advantages of the bill
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are that they cut rod tape. We support that and will support that
'part of it.

Getting back to the concept of rural growth cost, let me say that
the manner in which this legislation defines rural America should be
reconsidered. In my own region, for example, the standard metro-
politan statistical areathe urban area of Duluth, the county of
St. Louis, is considered a standard statistical metropolitan area. As

'you know, this is 175 miles long.
Senator HUMPHREY. Who considers it that?
Mr. ESALA. The Department of Labor defines it as an SMSA.
Senator HUMPHREY. Has anybody ever looked at, it?
Mr. ESALA. No; when they set it out here in Washington or Chicago

and make decisions, they don't look at the map close enough to figure
out a scale of miles.

Senator HummtEY. That is a pretty big county.
Mr. EHALA. Right. When you leave the city of buluth you have 70

miles to drive before you hit the next stop sign.
Sepator HUMPHREY. That is a big metropolitan area.
Nit. ESALA. Right. And this is all rural America. And you find

these things. And just in St. Louis County alone we have an SMSA,
and we are not eligible for this fund. And t vo- thirds of he people of
the seven - county region that we live in live in St. I Ms County,
and one-third of' those less than that half of the peol e in St. Louis
County live in Duluth. What about the rest of the pOople living in
all those places like Cook and Ely? Because of the definitions in the
bill they will not have the opportunity to be beneficiaries of the bill.

The problems of rural America have been increasing over the years.
And we all know the reasons of out migration and the loss of popula-
tion, and so forth. The trouble is that what Congress has tried to do
in the past and what we have all tried to do in the past is cure the
disease and not try to get back to what is causing this disease and try
to do some preventive medicine by providing opportunity in rural
America. It hasn't been a rational plan for developing rural America,,
to prevent the people from going to the cities and causing more
problems. But we need tax incentives to stein the population, and
we need what you and Senator Talmadge are talking about in the
Rural Development Bank. This is a new and innovative way of
solving .problenis because capital is our biggest problem. We don't
have the capital in rural America. We have to find a mechanism to .,
get capital back in, and I think you are on the right, spot on S. 2223..

We need prograins to improve rural housing. And to think that
there is only 239,000 people- in the 'se WI I counties in northeast
Minnesota but we just finish a study, and we find out that we
need 44,224 new housing units in that area by 1980. That is a big
problem. And we are talking about revenue sharing, $29 million for
the State of Minnesota. And we are talking about seven, counties
one isolated comer of the. State. and 44,000 units. At Are present
time HUD in lhicago has 60,000 units requested for housing for the
elderly and housi g, for the low-income families. And they have the
money for 8,000. And who got their applications sent back but all'the
small communities? All the rural America got theirs back. The
emphasis is going to the city.

40



36

Senator HUMPHREY. This is a constant problem. This is one of
the reasons that Senator Talmadge etup this snbcommittee, to focus
some attention upon this very matter that you have just stated now.

You know that I served as mayor of the big city, the city of Minn-
apolis. It is much easier to get an ,application for a large city on any
of these community pmjects than it is for a community of 5,000;
2,50 or a 1,000. First of all, they don't have the technical profession
of he y.nrand day out to bird dog, as we say; each one of "these
applications. And if you are not there every day working on'it, it slips
thrmigh the 'board, and they say, I am sorry,, and send it back:- So
one of. the purposes that we have in mind in this subcommittee is
sort of a watchdog operation 'on Federal agencies to try to give some

, special emphasis to tlose.areas of America in which we have smaller
t. populations, and to design legislationas you know, our S. 2223 is

. related to a specific type of cornmunity; a community under a certain
number of people, 35,000 people or less. And then you start to get
down to where you get credit, and you get service from the Federal ,
Government designed specifically for certain patternscertain

,sized communities.
Go ahead. I just wanted to let you know that we are king along

your same lines:
Mr. Es4i. There is a point there I would just like to expand- on.

We have 264 unite 'of general governmentwe are ,talking just now
from our experience. We have 264 units of government, and only two'
of them have planning capacity. And that is Duluth and the Codity
of St. Louis. What do the rest do? From our regional staff there, are
staffs from each of these communities. We can provide expertise to
help prepare Federal applications to act as a buffer between Federal
gencies and State bureaucrats. And, we have been able to channel
money. And they have begun to depend on us. But this revenue sharing
bill here does not guarantee the people who have built this aver the -

.years, who have built a regional organization- to deliver the goods to
. them. And we have the record of tie delivery of the goods. And this

does not assure our existence. And the people built this themselves.
To go on, besides housing we need better educational facilities,

better planning, and a' coordinated approach to environthentel .
problems. W\je are doing that now through EPA, through the regional -
apProach. And this, bill doesn't recognize regional approach. We need
better health facilities and criminal justice facilities. And we . are
doing it. Deft what about the other parts of the Mate where they
don't have statistical planning ability? -

The last point I want td bring up is, I would just,like*to raise a
' question about the administration of this program under the Depart-

ment of Agriculture. I know that the Department of Agriculture has
always beery responsible for rural development in rural 'America.
Obviously something is wrong,. because-rural America is hurting. Are
they the appropriate agency to administer this program?

They do not, from dur experience, have the expertise in the Depart-
ment of Agriculture Or comprehensive planning, for land use plannint,
for production Control, industkial development planning. Those Of

*their staffs are entirely devoted-,to agriculture. And they have done
la good job in making America produce the bounty that it has. That ,
is their bag, so to speak. But their expertise really is.not in these
fields that are the same. type of problems as urban problems.
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So I think that Congress should look atethis. Are they the right
agency.

I just bring that up to think about.
Senator HUMPHREY. One of the things that we have provided for

under the Consolidated Farm and Rural Development Bank is
overall total expertise, technical assistance and planning as well as
credit. And it is an independent instrumentality. And it is under a
national board, like a board cif directors, plus regional batik -boards,
so that you begin to get away from the strictures or the restraints
or the limitations of any one departmeht of Government. We think
it has some merit on that basis.

Mr. EsALA. Senator Humphrey, I think I would like to conclude.
And then I will answer any questions.

Mr. ESALA. Good afternoon. I am Rudy Esala, executive director
of the Arrowhead Regional Development Commission (ARDC) in
northeastern Minnesota. I also um serving as president of the National
Association of Development Organizati s (NADO). NADO is a
voluntary association of multicounty ganizations throughout the
Nation.

Today I am here to testify about e effects of S. 1612 on regional
organizations, not as a representati of any organization but as a
concerned individual. it

The concept of aiding rural development, as expressed in this bill, is-
certainly a good one. The plight of rural America is well known to
all members of this subcommittee. The idea of developina national
growth policy for rural as well urban areas is also highly commend-
able. I would not wish to speak against any of these basic concepts
contained in this bill.

I must, however, express some concern over what I feel this bill
lacks in its present form. In general, there seems to be a failure on the
part of the bill to recognize the concept of regionalism.

Congress has been expounding on the advantages of the regional
approach for the past 'several sessions. Unfortunately, what is legisla-
tive intent on the part of Congress is not receiving the commitment
it deserves from the Federal agencies. Let me cite some examples. In
1968, when the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act was passed, it
provided for specific reviewal powers on the part of regional bodies.
Only in the past year has this reviewal process been implemented by
circulars from the Office of Management and Budget. The biter-
governmental Personnel Act, funded in 1970, is only beginning to be
implemented at this point. Guidelines issued under the IPA fail to
designate regional organizations as eligible agents to receive funds.
The 'Emergency Employment Act, which provides funds urgently
needed to curb unemployment, overlooks entirely the fact that it is
regions, bodies which can best survey employment needs and which
can best ordinate manpower programs. By the time the Department
of Labor a ed t9 define the term "cons trust" to include regional
bodies composed of public elected officiag, most of the funds had
alreadLbeen obligated.

My Tpprehension over this bill is that once more there is no guaran-
tee that the concept of regionalism will be protected. Because there
are no provisions for funds to pass through from the States to the
regions, there can be no guarantee that former economic development
districts will be funded at the same level as 'they were in the past. The
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truth of the matter is that in many States it is Federal require-
ments only that allow regionalism to survive.

The.bill guarantees that no State will receive fewer funds under
reventogharing than they had in the past. But, by not talking about
regions, it fails to take into consideration the fact that more regions
are being organized all the time. Thus, in Minnesota, for example,where there are only two regional commissions presently, the two
regions receive all funds designated for regional bodies. In the future,however, as more regions come into existence, the percentage each
region receives will decrease.'

One'of the advantages this bill purports to have is that of cutting
redtape by 'eliminating many of the Federal requirements on how Adollars are to be spent. Of course, shortcuts that mean we can receive
our funds more quickly are always received favorably by me. How-
ever, there are some. aspects to this that you should be cautious about.There is presently a tendency on the part of each Federal agency to`to off on its own." It seems to me that there could be a great deal ofimprovement in the administration of programS.su(h as the title Vcommissions and water and sewer funds if Congress required these
programs to-be coordinated regionally. At tunes Federal requirements
can help programs have a greater impact on Idt.al government than norequirements at all.

Getting back to the concept of, a rural growth. policy, let me say
that the manner in which this legislation defines rural areas should

'possibly be reconsidered. In my own region, for- example, there is astandard 'metropolitan statistical area, the urban area of Diduth. I
believe the definition should allow for such combinations of urban and
rural areas. What. is needed is a growth policy in general, riot separate
policies for urban and for rural areas.

Regionalism does work. The Arrowhead Regional DevelopmentDistrict has been a success thus far. But, it needs the commitment of
Congress and the Federal agencies to keep it alive. It needs to be
assured that -legislation is written allowing for regional involvement
and that such legislation will be carried out as intended by Congressin the form of guidelines and administrative regulations from Federalagencies.

Something has got to be done to alleviate the problems in ruralAmerica. Although the revenue sharing bill does not deal specifically
enough with regionalism, at least it does address itself to ruralproblems.

Meanwhile, the problems of,rural 'America continue to increase. Wehope that Congress will concern itself as directly with rural develop-
ment as it has with urban problems. I would like to urge the members
of the subcommittee to strengthen rural America.

We need tax incentives to stem rural outmigration.
We need programs to improve rural housing.
We need better educational facilities.
We need a coordinated approach to environmental problems.
We need better health delivery systems.
We need coordinated criminal justice planning.
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The list of needs for rur I America could -go on and on. The best
way to address these needs is by insuring coordination and elimination
of duplicate efforts through regionalism.

The President stated in his message what transfers of functions
,were to take. place under this legislation. But we're not too sure that
everyone is aware of the additional programs that are being utilized
by regional organizations. Mr. Tom Francis of EDA conducted a
study examining the "multiplier effect" that is possible through
regionalism. Of the 100 developna.nt districts he surveyed, lie learned
that with a total EDA planning grantliivestment of $4,472,642 in
economic development districts, more Min $14,308,901 in planning
services are being delivered to these districts through coordinated
funding. HUD is put tinl $1,560,968 into comprehensive and nonmetro
planning, augmenting the development district's economic develbp-
ment thrust. HEW is utilizing EUD's to channel $902,587 in com-
prehensive health planning, while the Department of Justice is using
the district mechanism to implement some 5849,019 in law enforce-
ment planning.

Before I conclude, there is something else that I would like to add
even though it is apart from what I had been asked to speak about.

I would like to raise some questions about the .1 act that this bill
places the administration of the program under the jurisdiction of the
Department of Agriculture. I am not trying to be overly critical, and
I recognize the excellent work USDA has done in certain areas. But,
on the other hand, our experience has shown that the background and
training of most of Agriculture's staff has been devoted entirely to
agriculture. Their programs have tended to concentrate oronly one
area of the rural economythat of agriculture...

What seems to have happened is that Agriculture has fruit itself in
a reactionary position. When urban programs are developed, Agricul-
ture reacts by introducing its own counterpart. This has resulted in
their programs not being coordinated with other Federal programs in
the rural areas. Rather than adopting innovative arrangements they
have preferred the status quo. In my own experience, the Arrowhead
Regional Development Commission was ruled ineligible by the re-
gional office of Agriculture to do water and sewer planning for our
region. Rather, they insisted that each county develop its own plan,
thereby generating the lack of coordination we are trying to combat.
Only after we appealed the decision to the Federal office in Washing-
ton were we designated as the proper planning body.

Also, I'm raising some serious structural questions about Agriculi
ture administering a program for rural community development. In
order to accomplish the goals of rural development, they would have
to create a whole new bureaucracy. For surely 'they would have to
build expertise in areas such as comprehensive land use planning,
water resources planning, and the whole wide range of environmental
planning. It seems to me that the only way this could be accomplished
would be to transfer manpower from EPA, HUD, Manpower,and
other agencies. Nowhere have I seen a proposal of this nature.

When Secfetary of the Treasury John Connally appeared before
this subcommittee in April, he referred to the fact that there had

.4q



40

been some "doubts and fears" expressed in regard to the future of
the Extension Service. He then said in effect, that these people who
expressed concern need no longer worry for this bill continues the
Extension Service. Now, I recognize that the Extension Service has
been a "sacred cow" that Congress and many States have hesitatOd
to touch in the past. But, I raise the question as to whether the
Extension Service isn't duplicating the programs of other filederal
agencies. I do not wish to dwell on this point but I can assure you
that in many States there has indeed been duplication. What also is
apparent is that they have tended to carry out programs such as
seminars without chei.,'king first with regional'organizations as to theneed of those progranis.

Although these last points I have raised are somewhat beyond the
scope of this bill, I do think it is essential that this subcommittee in
discussing rural development consider all aspectsfor the problems
of rural America are diverse and require innovative solutions.

Thank you for the opportunity to testify today.
Senator HUMPHREY. Why don't we proceed now to your associates

that are with you, Mr. Price and Mr. Hardin. And they rimy' make
any comments they wish. And then we will come back to the questions.

Mr. PRICE. Senator Humphrey, I am sorry, I don't have a pre-
pared statement.

Senator HUMPHREY: Just your comment.

STATEMENT OF EARL V. PRICE,' NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF
DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATIONS, SHAWNEE, OKLA.

Mr. PRICE. We support the present president of the NAM) or-
ganization. It has been my pleasure to appear before many committees
of the Senate and the House regarding this business of rural develop-
ment, balanced development. But we like to think of it in Oklahoma
as being a little bit different, and we take exception to the proposed
legislation because we think it does not really provide a mechanism
for the delivery of the intended, purpose. We take no exception to
the intended purpose. It presumes, for instance that the money as
distributed among the States can be in essence appropriately delivered
to units of local government, and is responsive to legislatures, which
we think is simply not the case, that most State legislatures do not
consider in their sessions other than State appropriations, and they
would not consider this. So therefore it becomes totally in the hands
of :the executive branch of the State government. And we question
that as a delivery mechanism, No. 1 No. 2, I would like to share with
the committee some of my personal experiences, and I can't do that
without giving you a brief background of how our organization as a
multicounty development organization functions.

First of all, we proceed on the presumption that it is impossible to
determine what the priority needs of the people are in health, crime,
economics, physical development, narcotics and drug abuse, or any
other field of endeavor, unless first you analyze what the existing
situation is.

And for that reason we have a board of directors which is appointed
by elected officials of local units of government. They can be removed
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upon 30 days' notice by those units of local government. Under this
board of directors of 35 men we have four standing commissions that
are elected by the functional areas. We have 632 people in health,
including doctors, hospital administrators, technicians

Senator HUMPHREY. When you say we, you mean in your State?
Mr. PRICE. In .my particular multieounty organization. And this is

a type of organization throughout the Statk, There are 11 multirounty
planning regions within the St te. In the rurar areas we conserve
leadership because we have a lack of leadership more so than they do
in the metropolitan areas, so that we do find multiple people serving on
multiple boars.

In addition to the health con mission; which includes all of these
people, there is a delivery system for health, and we feel like it .is
they and only they who know the system of deliVeries for health
service. And we also do the same thing in the criminal justice field
with district judges, district attorneys, police chiefs, et cetera. We do
the same in economics, and I can tell you the organization there. And
we also do the same in physical and environmental development.

Now to give you an example of some of the things to show the
differences between having a developed, organized plan to meet
priority problems. The recent Emergency Employment Act leveled
block grants, if you please, to the various States, or to Metropolitanl
areas . within those. various States. In the State of Oklahoma, for-

we set up manpower planning coordinating committees under
each of the 11 regional multicounty jurisdictions. The emergency
employment money which was in the State of Oklahoma, $4,050,000
was distributed, based upon a formula determined by the Department
of Labor, among these various 11 planning regions. There were pUblic
hearings held on how to best utilize this 100 grant, money. And
believe me, that is a difficult thing, when anything is totally frQe,
there is -usually too little to meet all of the need, and therefore the
need for priority setting is to how best to expend this money. Public
hearingsmy board of directors of the multicounty region had
$240,000 to determine the allocation. They called together the com-
missions. The commissions gave the priority needs for employment.
This was turned down by the board of directors and told to be allocated
to the units of governinent, meaning community and city government,
32 cities and eight counties. The outcome of all this :was that the
commissions went back to their communities as an organized com-
mission and set priority needs, whereby we now have approximately ,

one-third of_that money going for high priority needs in the health .,,,

field, and in the criminal justice and law enforcement field; in the
economics field, and in the ithysical development and environmental
field.

Now, that was only able to come about by virtue of the fact that
these commissions had met and had made long-range plans, for the
past 4 years, and what their needs were to .deliver better health
services, criminal justice system services, et cetera. So such plan-
ning as this must be determined in advance of general revenue shar-
ing, or the money in my opinion will be inappropriately spent to a
large degree. And I think the bill does not set out that mechanism for
delivery. True, it does say there must be a. State plan, but it presumes
that the executive branch of the State government has such a plan.
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And we support the previous people that sat here and said that the
essential of the thing is that unless you have the inputs from local ,
people-- and this is more than elected, officials, this is the health peOple,
it is the educators, it is the nonelected units of government, salt water
and conservation districts, if you please- ,unless you have the inputs
of all of these people through some citizens participation group, I
think it negates it, and it probably does not stand a very good chance
of having cm effective delivery of the national resources back to the
local groups.

Senator HUMPHREY. Thank you very much, Mr. Price.
Mr. Hardin.

STATEMENT OF LON J. HARDIN, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION. OF
DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATIONS, FORT SMITH, ARK.

Mr. HARDIN. Chairman Humphrey, of course it is a pleasure to be
here. I too am a past president of NADO, and of course do support
Nil. Esala's fine statement.

I would like to just coin merit tk little bit about our particular area.,
because I think it is an area in rural America. However, our SMSA
county compared to Duluth is four counties in two States. Fort Smith
is our metropolitan area. But we encompass rural counties. It is 89
miles from Fort Smith t6 the little town of Pekoshee, Okla. And they
don't even want to join the people of Fort Smith. Pekoshee is about 200
people. We have been in existence 5 years also. Our rural counties
contribute about -$2,000 per year, per county, to our organization for
local funds. What we have is a situation of where the metropolitan
county up the majority of the money for local funds for which we
match 1 Mend programs. With that $2,000 they bought a piece of a.
staff of around 20 people that were in professional positions we have
Ph. D.'s (iii the staff, we have urban planners, we have environmental
specialists, we have specialists in the field of economics, Outdoor
.recro.,tion, and. down the line. We have created this within 4 or 5 years.
And suddenly of course it looks like the local training we have been
giving the people out there to get together and set their own priority
is going to be negated by this piece of legislation.

I comment." notice section 312 in the act, 1612, does state that rural
community development funds may he used I!y State or local govern-
ment as matehing shares for other Federal grant programs which
contribute to the rural development. That leaves it a little vague there
as to what is going to he left after they fOld in these major 11 rural
development programs. So there is a little question to us as to how and
what we are.goini, to have left.

In our particular eight-county area in two States I think you will
find about the saline thing as you would find in other districts. Fifty-
seven percent of our housing in the area is either substandard or
obsolete by virtue of being over 30 years old, and it must be replaced
within the next 10 years.

So we need housing, and we need public health serviees; we need
sanitarians, and we need some of the categorical grant programs. What
we have seen up to now on this first step of revenue sharing is something
that we have a great fear of. When you turn this program of revenue
sharing to the Governor aid he, of course, is a very fine Governor,
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but in the situation of mergency employment in Arkansas, he passed
through a major porti of the funds to the county judges. And we
have seen the doggone lest program of roadbuilding and operators
for front-end IAders i the past 2 months. In other words, this is
one of the fears. We h ve been working toward planning what our
priorities are, and yet -ou are going to find through this type of
program long range planning objectives that will provide drug abuse
officers, mental health people, LPN's, nurses, and we are going to
put on a few more street bidders and garbage collectors, and, of course,
they are also needed.

Just as an example, we had $238,000 allocated to our eight-county
region to our Emergency Employment Act. And $216,000 of that went
to our one metro county. And we have a coribination in the other
counties of 24 jobs, allocating these 24 jio_bs to a county judge. And
when you give it directly to him, most Relyin fact in our district
it all ended up on the road crew,and this was the end.

Because we have had planning we ha e called these people together
and they are modifying their plan. We re going to end up with sani-
tarians in each county to look at the estaurants and public health
services that we didn't have. We are going to have ambulance services,
public health nurses and things in the areas where we have not had
them. The only reason we have been ablo4o do that was because we
had worked with these judges and talked *Iv" them about planning.
The boards got together similar to what they did in Oklahoma and
went out locally and solicited the elected officials to look, the real
priorities need may not be to put on another road patrol operation,
let's look at some solid waste disposal programs.

This I think is probably indicativewe feel like we are all rural
Arperica, even though our 'largest city is 64,000..It would be a metro-
politan area. That is only half of the population of our SMSA, and
the other three counties are extremely rural counties. They are going
to be knocked out of this bill entirely, because they are a portion of
an SMSA. We appreciate the fact that we do intend with this bill to
cut some redtape. We also recognize the fact that if it had not been
for these districts or regional programs that Nvere going out there,
there would be very few planners out there at all, and it would be
extremely difficult for county judges and elected officials to try to

i(keep up with the mass of programs. However there has been a reaction
and a system developed now that is worka e. We have in Arkansas,
as in many of the other Midwestern States, eight planning and
development districts. They are fully staffed and are competent. And
for the first time they have brought professional assistance people
to the local level. Now, the main difference is thisand I have worked
for _Federal Government and for State government and local govern-
ment for the past 15 yearsfor the first time we have professional
peOple locally hired. They are responsive and responsible to the people
m the district that they are serving. In the past even myself when I
worked for State level and Federal level, I have to admit that agency
survival or State program survival came a little bit ahead of the
local people's needs. And in this bill I see no real assurance that this
ability to go out and hire professional planning services that are
responsible to local people will be retained. I am afraid that human
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nature might get in the way and we would be looking at very short
rangb programs for a majority of the money.

Senator HUMPHREY. Just so we get the record clear here, what is
your overall judgmenNkow as to what this committee or subcommittee
should recommend in reference to S. 1612.

Mr. ESALA. Personally, I would recommend that the committee
reject S. 1612 as it is riglit now.

(Off the record)
Senator HUMPHREY. I was asking you for your general observations

on. S. 1612.
May I ask, first of all, have you studied this bill carefully, Mr.

Esala?
Mr. ESALA. Yes, sir.
Senator HUMPHREY. Your general observation, Mr. Esala, was
Mr. ESALA. I didn't have a chance to finish it.
Senator HUMPHREY. All right, let's go through it.
Mr. ESALA. You have got to realize that we are talking about a

provincial point of view. This bill is designed so to speak to help the
local people. But I believe that between the stated purposes of the
act and the pefformance that the projects there is an incredible gap.
And just on that alone, and for other reasons that we stated earlier,
we would have to stand opposed to S. 1612 in its entirety.

Senator HUMPHREY. Do you think that this act would promote
multicounty or regional operation?

Mr. EsALA. No would think that it would destroy it, because it
gives too much power to the State governments.

It appears to me that the whole revenue-sharing package-is designed
to strengthen Governors in metropolitan areas, and it leaves rural
America holding the bag again as in the past.

Senator HUMPHREY. Mr. Hardin.
Mr. HARDIN. I would agree with Mr. Esala. In the bill it is the

States directly, that the duties :and authorities of such planning
boards as may be established shall be determined by the Governor
of each State. The bill just does not guarantee any form of delivery
system past the Governor's office. And if you get in to this type of
situation this means that you lose any continuity of professional
staff planners, because Governors are subject to change.

Senator HUMPHREY. And Governors do change?
Mr. HARDIN. And Governors do change. And you find all of the

normal human frailties of man coming in to it. We have seen it hap-
pen in a couple of States, even under the District program, that where
the State legislature passed the bills giving the Governors broad powers,
everywhere you had one elected you had a complete disruption of all
continuity of planning services!

Senator HUMPHREY. You mean when there is a change of adminis-
traion you will find that happening?

T. HARDIN. Right, this is true. For the first time within the past
5-ye with these local planning districts that have been createdand
I say eated by the Public Works and Economic Development Act
in Rulk 's case he only gets about 6 percent of his funds from that
particu 's act, while in my case we get about 10 percent. So we are
very bro. d in my particular case we have about nine categorical
planning ants from other agencies. But for the first time it has
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allowed the local people to go out and hire some competent people to
speak for them.

Senator HcMEHREV. Wouldn't this bill (S. 1612) take- those cate-
gorical grants and put those in the hands of the Governor for the
purpose of allocation?

Mr. HARDIN. That is true. And that is-why I would say for our
part of the country, for rural America, we would have to oppose this
bill In its present, form.

Senator HUMPHREY. Don't you think the Governor would look
with favor upon grants to your rural multicounty agency.

Mr. HARDIN. Well, let's say we jut had the first example in the
Emergency Employment Aet, and he did not, in Arkansas. We hare ,
a fine Governor, and he happens to be from my district -and has
known and worlced with my district. But he saw his share of $2
billion out the're to do something with. And as a human being he did
something with it.

Now, we are getting around to the point of using some planning
and discretion on that fund. But the money had to be allocated so
quickly that they did it with improper planning on that particular
case. And I am saying, if he has to move that fast, then any other
Governor would have to do the same thing. I am saying that long
range priorities are shoved into the background, and you tend to do
what is pblitically expedient at the time. I woulddo the same thing,
probably, were I in such a position..

Senator HUMPHREY. 'Is it possible that you might have a Governor
who is very strong for your multicounty planning, and he would
allocate funds, and then you might get one next time that just
wouldn't?

For example, as you know, there is one section of our State that is
diehard opposition to multicounty planning. It became a very serious
problem in the last election.

Mr. ESA LA Yes. And here is one point that you brought up earlier,
that the bill says that you will not get the same level,of funding
the same level will be permitted, for the State as is presently being
permitted. We will be guaranteed that level, not more, but that level.
But the regional commission and the metropolitan council are re-
ceiving the funds. Minnesota is designed into 11 regions, and there
are only town operating, and we would have to divide up our funds
if the level isn't increased with the other nine regions, and thereby
reducing our share that we built up over. the Years with the Federal
agencies. And that is the main point. We cannot depend on the
Governors of our States to carry through. And if you put the power
of planning into the Governors office you take it away from the
local people. And we are talking about local autonomy, let's make
our decision at home, we don't want it made in the Governor's office
or the White House, we want it made at home. And this bill does
not allow us to do that,

Senator HUMPHREY. Mr. Price.
Mr. PRICE. Senator, in i'esponse to the question that you put to

one of the prior people testifying before you this morning, I think
again to reiterate, the intent and purposes of cutting redtape and
streamlining the dovernment_in revenue sharing, conceptually we do
favorand I think that has been repeated three times here this
morning.

63-582-71pt. 8-4
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First of.all, let me say that I think a better delivery system has to
be made than is presently exemplified :n 1612. And if nothing else,
at least make these plans that are called for in -1612 approvable by
both the legislative and executive branch of-State .government and
not the executive branch only,.at least make the elected official' at
the State leVel as responsible in the legislature al the chief executive
officer of the State, at least that before the committee .reports it out.

Senator HumPfiEv. Any other .comments, gentlemen?
Mr. HARDIN. Of course I would like to go on record as much pre-

ferring Senate 2223, .because it does keep intact the delivery, system
and suggest an expansion of a local delivery system. Under this one,
Senate 1612, it is vague, it may well happen, but it doesn't requireit to happen.

Senator HUMPHREY. Thank you very much, gentlemen.
Is Mr. Whisman here now?
Mr. Whisman, we welcome you to this subcommittee. .Y.pu are

the State's regional representative of the Appalachitth RTgional
Coin mission.

STATEMENT OF JOHN D. WHISMAN, STATES REGIONAL REPRE-
SENTATIVE, APPALACHIAN REGIONAL COMMISSION

Mr. WHISMAN. Yes, Sir..
Senator HUMPHREY. We have been _doing so much with .legislation

around here. How is the Appalachian Regional OorntniAion? Areyou still surviving?
Mr. WHISMAN. The Congress has just given us a vote in both the

Houses with only 30 votes lost.
Senator HUMPHREY. I just wanted to get that clear. Because every

so often somebody comes up to me and says, they abolished it, and
I say, I don't think Fvoted to do that.

Mr. WFitsmAx. No, sir.
Senator HumpilliEv. Thank you very. much.
Mr. WifismAN. In fact, thank you for your supporting action.
Senator HUMPHREY. Mr. Whisman, do you have- a prepared

statement?
Mr. WHISMAN. Yes, sir.
Senator HUMPHREY. Just go right ahead with your testimony.
Mr. WHISMAN. All right. I will work along with the prepared state-

ment and brief it as much as possible and give you a chance for ques-
tions.

Senator HUMPHREY. Thank you.
Mr. WHISMAN. The introductory i!omment I would like to make,

Senator, is that I am going to refer in my statement a few times to a.
delivery system that we use in Appalachia. It fits excellently upon the
past testimony, because our systeril includes not just the multistate
commission, which is a State-Federal joint action commission, but
throughout Appalachia we have organized, and we are the first large
area in the Nation to have organized, a:system of multicounty dis-tricts such as these gentlemen describe. They are universal in the
Appalachian region.

Senator HUMPHREY. In all the States Of the regional area?
Mr. WHISMAN. Yes, sir.
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So in addition to a management office, working with the Governor
in the State at the traditional level, and the management function
the executive office of the President, through ONIB and the d9mestic
council, and so on, our system provides the two connections, the multi-
state commission between the State and. Federal level, the multi-
jurisdictional local development district between the local and State
levels. We have originated this district idea in the original Appla-
lachia Act.

Senator HUMPHREY. And you work directly with them?
Mr. WHISMAN. That is correct. They originate plans and projects,

which then come throh the State. Sonic projects originate with the
State. This arrangement is virtually a form of,revenue sharing that
has been in action for 6 years. And it is to that major point that my
comments are addrest4ed.

Senator HUMPHREY. Let me get this clear in my mind. What you
are saying is that your multicounty district, which is your State
regional planning, operation, originates projects?

Mr. WHISMAN. The is right.
Senator HUMPHREY. That is what we would call local leadership.

Those multicounty projects then come up to the State planning level,
or to the Governor's office level, is that correct?

Mr. WH1SMAN. That is correct. .

Senator HUMPHREY. And then from there they are coordinated into
the regional-commission program?

Mr. WH1SMAN. The is correct. And at the regional commission
th-e, final State-Federal signoff meets the concern -of Congress in that
it has been said that those who tai; should spend. I think the corollary
that maybe hasn't been said, but I would indicate here, is that those
who have to provide the services should share in the determination
of the spending. Now, we provide for an absolute 50-50 decision at,
you might say, the Federal-State level.

The federal cochairman, who is. my Federal counterpart, and I
have offices throng one door:

Senator ifinriPitoEy. Just like our Upper Great Lakes Commission,
the tiame

Mr. WHISMAN. Yes, sir. Except that the Upper Great Lakes Cora-
mission-does not have a States' office, and I think it is deficient in that
respect.

Senator HUMPHREY. They have the Federal, the Governors, and
individual State representatives.

Mr. WHismAr4. Yes, sir. Our Governors originally began the id
the multistate commission. And in that process I was serving an
assistant to one of the Governors, and as a chairman of all the rep e-
sentatives of the Governors. This was back 10 or 12 years ago. And so
when the Congress formed our commission they did not create this
office, but our Governors created it.

And they pay for it completely, 13 legislatures appropriate the cost
of my office and 50 percent of the cost of the operation of the
commission. .

Now, the only title V commission in the Public Works Economic
Development Act that has followed suit is, interestingly enough, the
Coastal Plains in which three of our Appalachian Governors are work-
ing in'two commissions. They also have establigiod the Office of State



48

Regional Representative. And this means that in a full time way the
States' interest is provided for in Ike partnership. The peojects are
approved by_ the joint signature of the Federal cochairman and mysia.

Senator HUMPHREY. I would have thought that would be a gotof
way all across the country. The Ozarks doesn't do it and the upper
Great Lakes -

Mr. WHISMAN. No, sir. They haven't gotten to that yet. But I
think they are considering it.

Senator HUMPHREY. Go ahlyid, Mr. Whisman.
NIT1 WHISMAN. I have described' really the place of my office in the

organization, which I thought might be of saillec importance.
Senator HUMPHREY. Yes, v;ory mach so.
Mr. WHISMAN. I afri not here, as I think you might understand, to

speak for any or all of the Governors as to their particular views on
tht pending legislation. Rather, I will simply provide information
based on the fact that the Appalachian Regional Commission and its
program is specifically referenced and affected by the legislation.

Senator HUMPHREY. Where was that in the legislation?
Mr. WHISMAN. I have forgotten the section number.
Senator HUMPHREY. I will find it.
Mr. WHISMAN. It provides that the commission will continue, but

it eliminates the programs.
The Governors on their own, have strongly stated their interest in

the application of the successful experiences of the Appalachian
regional development program to the design of a national program
to provide for a local-State-Federal partnership in program manage-
ment; and for a developmental concept in problem solving in public
programs. This would provide a delivery system, if you will, such its
these gentlemen were discussing this morning, as a corollary to
revenue sharing..

As you know, but stated here as a basis for my comments, the jiend
ing legislation provides authorization for continuation of the Appla-
elnan Regional .Commission but removes all of its program funds.
Apparently, the intent is that these funds would be transferred to the
.States and localities through the revenue-sharing process With the
anticipation, further, either. (a) that the States might adapt the
allocation and use of such funds through the process now managed in
the Commission, or (6) that the Commission would simply be viewed
as a useful organization to assist the States and localities in the plafi7
ning and management of program-8, including those funded by revenue,
sharing. ,

Althou4,tihe remaining information in these comments is based on
my own views and ksiowledge, I think it is important that I include
here a statement by- Appalachian Governors made in a meeting on
February 6, 1971:

In his budget recommendations for fiscal 1972, the President has proposed theconsolidation of a number of programs, including those authorized under the
Appalachian Regional Development Act, to form the basis for sharing ' ederalrevenues with the State governments to :support rural development revenue:sharing.

We all fully support the basic concept of federal revenue sharing
And there the Gdvernors emphasize the term concept--;

and we believe the Appalachian program has been one of the finest demonstrations
of how states and communities can make effective use of shared federal revenuee.--/
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In addition, we believe that the Appalachian local-state-federal partnership struc-
ture allows a "decision sharing" mechanism which provides benefits in the shared
management of many programs in a way not provided by revenue sharing alone.
Based on the n'ucpessful Appalachian experience, we will be pleased to work with
the administration in developing specific recommendatioits for submission to
Congress.

The President's budget contemplates an extension of the Appalachian Regional-
Development Act

Which is now in effect
to permit the continuation of the vital programs authorized under this legislation.
We unanimously concur that the Appalachian act must be extended in order to
continue work on the task for which the act was initially passed. We believe that
many of these tasks can be finished within four years, and therefore unanimously
recommend to the Presi nt and Congress that the four year extension of the act
be. approved.

I should say that y reference here to a national regional develop-
ment program involves a specific plan which is now available from the

-Governors and which I wx)uhl be. glad to present to your com ttee
in written form 'so that you can study it.

The intent to continue the Appalachian Commission in thefipen- ing
legislation is appreciated by those interested in our progriun, but is
subject to questions which cannot be completely answered at this
time. This means, simply, that the mere continuance of the commission
mechanism (lots not assure the continuance of the program which has
recently won oveywhelming support of both houses of Congress. The
question goes to the mechanisms invo(lved----the mechanisms very
much like those the gentlemen described\ here.

Whether the program could be continued is not a question of the
; desire of 'both Federal and State as well as local participants- in the
. program. The questions go to the mechanisms which make the Appa-
bulion program function as well as it (lops.

There is no certainty that jt would be possible for the State and
local recipients of the converted Appalachian funds, provided through
revenui) sharing, to reassign these funds to the commission or even to
program purposes and policies which they might voluntarily develop
through the commission. One of the reasons the commission mecha-
nism works is that the cooperative effort of local, State, and Federal
agencies can be joined in the commission for the use of the commis-
sion's own funds in concert with the funds of individual agencies.
Candidly,-in addition to the loss of incentive for participating in the
joint commission process, there would be sizable and complex problems
involved in being, able to predetermine the combination of funds
even including the flexible revenue sharing fundsonce these funds'
were assigned to agencies whose mandates are controlled by separate
functional -policies and statutes. One of the values of the commission,
operating as a separate entity embodying joint policy decisions of
Governors and the President, is that die commission can work with
regular agencies tocombine funds available for their authoriied pur-
poses and can ad.d:the commission's own supplementary funds to meet
special objectives for which funding is required in joint projects but
for which regular agency funds cannot be used.:

It ;stile glue money that you hear about: tam simply pointing out
that, while the idea of revenue:sharing intends to make flexible funding
available, such funding in the States and localities is likely to be as-
signed by the Governor or legislature to regularly operating agency

t)
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prpgrams. There would still be a- need for a.need to 'be-able to utilize supplenientary funding in order to achievecfle kinds
of special developmental programing that- has beep-achieyedthrough
theAppalachian Commission.

In addition, a major-capability of the.commissiint meihanistn; not
basically provided for in revenue sharing, is -the ability of the indi-
vidual localities and States to arbieve multijurisdictional and
State program policies as well as actual operating projects.

I am saying that, in my own experience, if you had -rural revenue
sharing there would still be a need for the commission mechanism
with its own program futids as a corollary. This is the thrust of my
comments.

Senator HumPiniEv. In other words, what ,you are saying is that
even.-if all the other sections of S 1612 were adopted, that the Ap-
palachian Commission should not (Indy have its mechanism but should
Also have its program funds that are provided in present legislation.

Mr.'1VinsmAN. Yes, sir. And I tun going a little further than that,
to sits Sts I obviously might to defend my own. progratt please
don't undo our prognon by trying to move progressively t flexible
revenue sharing, a concept which 11'e obviously IlaKe tried to demon-
strate heretofore. I am stiggestin that your committee might well

;study the coneept in. the Apiialachiahopyograni, and you .might find
there the corollary delivery system which will perfect-revenue sharing.
And you would have 'au-Answer to the gentlemen who were -jtki. here,'
becaitse in our system the St ate does not.. have control, the Federal,
(40'erninent is willing to pass down without What are talled.'".
the nit tbut I local people also are given nin just a
free rem, but a responsible way to organize 'and phut. And these
gentlemen have shown perfect examples in 'using the development

district as the way to make it happen.
This is the thrust of what I am saying. I would like to m ake just

one other point from th tiff
, In thinking about this for a long-time I have conic to this con-.
elusion, anal I would like to point this out. There are three fundamental
national problems in mobilizing government to deal more effectively
with the treatment of our .problems. OM. is the need to redistribute
public revenue to assure more equitable proportion to support State
and.,loctil government in their normal regular operations. This 'problem
can bq dealt with by general revenue sharing or by ,sone of the other
ideals like Federal assumption of a welfare program.

But the redistributiim of revenue should ant be viewed as a solution
to the other two problems.

The second. problem which is,,the'one on which I think we ha vt;
failed jn the I960';, is the need to provide an organization and polity
which will allow the agencies of ail three levels of Government to.

function together,_ not separately, snore effectively, both in the
analysis of problems and in the selection or priorities'and the design
of action.

Here I think the idea that ,I would -suggest is a national regional
development program such as our Governors have endorsed.

Finally, the third problem, once yoti have this organization and a
redistribution of money, you .need a more effective program policy
to bring the 'money on target to the priorities. Here, the word "devel-
opment," Senator, is the word we use as the keystone. A simple
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defulitioi of development must be understoo& without modifiers ljke
economic, or social` Just the word "development,' is defined as a
process by which the people in an area selectively manage all resources
and institutions to achieve any intended change or growth. It is a
very simple definition. Because you don't know which resource best
relates to the achievement of a given goal, you must consider all of
them and set priorit es.

You don't know which agency- or which level of Govc:rnment w
best come to bear on a local problem. And simply redistributing
moneymoney is 'only one of our resources---and- by simply re
tributing the money you don't get the final puswer.

, I think that is enough of my written statement.
Senator. HUMPHREY. All of your statement will be incorporated'

the record.
(The prepared statement of Mr. Whisman is as follows:)
Mr..WHISMAN. q am John D. Whisman, Stat,eS.regional represent-

.. ative +4n the Appalachian *Regional, Commission. The vAppalachian
Regional Commission, established by action of the Congress and the
voluntary participation of 13 States, consists of a Federal cochairman,
who has an alternate, the 13 Governors each of whom has appointed
a State'representative and an alternate, and the office of the States'
regional representative established and Supported by the 13 Governors
to represent the States M the continuing policy management of the
Commission. The Commission has established an executive com-
mittee consisting of the Federal cochairman,- voting, the States
regional representative, voting, and the executive director, nonvoting.

am providing this statement to your comniit tee to try to be helpful
in your consideration of the rural revenue sharing legislation. It is not
my intention to speak for any. or all or the 'Governors as to their
particular views on the pending legislation: Rather, I will simply
prOVide information based bn the fact that the Appalachian Regional
Commission and its ,program is specifically referenced and affected
by the legislation.

The Appalachian Governors, on their own, have strongly stated
their interest in the application of the successful experiences of the
Appalachian regional development program to the design of a
national program to provide for a local-State-Federal partnership in
program management and for a developmental concept in problem
solving in public programs. This idea is, obviously, itn portantly
related to the concept of revenue sharing,- for Which our Governors
have expressed general support. To my knowledge, Governors as
group have not taken general positions in relation to the rural or
other special revenue sharing proposals and their individual views
,would apply.

As you know, but stated here as a basis for my comments, the pend-
ing legislation provides authorization for continuation of the Appa-
lachia-n Regional Commission but removes all of its program funds,
Apparently, the intent is that these funds would be transferred t'o
the States and localities through the revenue sharing process with
the anticipation, further, either (a,) that the States might adapt the
allocation and use of such funds through the process now managed
in the commission, or (b) that the commission would simply be viewed
as a useful organization to assist the States and localities in the

rt` et-1

t) t)



52

planning and managemetit of programs, including those funded by
revenue sharing.

Although the remaining information in these comments is based
on my own views and knowledge, I think it is important that I include
here a statement by the Appalachian Governors made in a meeting
on February 5, 1971:

In his budget recommendations for Fiscal 1972, the President has proposed the
consolidation of a number of programs, including those authorized under the
Appalachian Regional Development Act, to form the ,basis for sharing Federal
revenues with the State governments to support rural development revenue-
sharing.'

We all fully support the basic concept of Federal revenue- sharing, and we
believe the Appalachian program has been one of the finest demonstrations of
how States and Communities can make effective use of shared Federiil revenues.
In addition, we believe that the Appalachian local-state federal partnership
structure allows a "decision sharing" mechanism which provides benefits in the
shared management of many programs in a way not provided by revenue sharing
alone. Based on the successful APpalitchian experience, we will be pleased to
work with the Administration in developing specific recommendations for sub-
mission to Congress.

The President's budget contemplates an-extension of the Appalachian Regional
Development Act to permit, the continuation of the vital programs authorized
under this legislation. We unanimously concur that the Appalachian Act must be
extended in order to continue work on the tasks for which the Act was initially
passed. We believe that many of these tasks can be finished within four years, and
therefore unanimously recommend to the President and Congress that the four-
year extension of the Act ,be Approved.

The intent to continue the Appalachian Commission in the pending
legislation is appreciated by those interested in our program, but is
subject to questions which cannot be completely answered at this
time. This means, simply, that the mere continuance of the commission
mechanism does not assure the continuance of the program which has
recently won overwhelming support of both Houses of Congress.
Whether the program could be continued is not a question of the
desire of both Federal and State as well as local participants in the
program. The 'questions go to the mechanisms which make the
Appalachian program function as well as it does.

There is no certainty that it would be possible for the State and
local recipients of the converted Appalachian funds, provided through
revenue sharing, to reassign these funds to the Commission or even
to program purposes and policies which they might voluntarily
develop through the Commission. One of the reasons the Commission
mechanism works is that the cooperative effort of local, State, and
Federal agencies can be joined in the Commission for the use of the
Commission's own funds in concert with the funds of individual
agencies. Candidly, in addition to the loss of incentive for participating
in the joint Commission process, there would be a sizable and complex
problem involved in being able to predetermine the combination of
fundseven including the flexible revenue-sharing fundsonce these
funds were assigned to agencies whose mandates are controlled by
separate functional policies and statutes. One of the values of the
Commission, operating as a separate entity embodying joint policy
decisions of Governors and the President, is that the Commission
can work with regular agencies to combine funds available for their
authorized purposes and can add the Commission's own supplementary
funds to meet special objectives for which funding is required in joint
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projects but for which regular' agency funds cannot be used. I am
simply pointing out that, while the idea of revenue sharing intends to
make flexible funding available, such funding in the States and locali-
ties is likely to be assigned by the Governor or legislature to regularly
operating agency programs. There would still be a need for a respon-
sible mechauism to be able to utilize supplementary funding in order
to achieve-the kinds of special developmental programing that has
been achieved through the Appalachian Commission.

In addition, a major capability of the commission mechanism, not
basically provided for in revenue sharing, is the ability of the individual
localities and States to achieve multijurisdictional and multistate pro-
gram policies a% Well as actual operating projects.

I would simply call to your attention that, in an opinion based on
my own experience in 15 years and in the entire development of the
concept of the Appalachian program, there will still be a need for the
commission mechanism with its own program fundsalong with gen-
eral sharing of revenueto achieve the unique and successful program
for which the Appalachian Commission has established a reputation.

In 1970 in city and countryside alike, eve find ourselves witnessing a
historic demonstration of the mismatch of people's problems and the
public action taken to meet them. It was out of this kind of mismatch,
and the need to right it, that the Appalachian development program
concept grew.

In 1960, the Appalachian Region presented a classic case of the
failure of public programs local, State,/ or Federal:--to meet even the
most severe and high priority problems of people. In the way major
national problems concern us today, the "problem of Appalachia"
caught the Nation's attention then. With initiative for special action
growing in localities, the States of the troubled region united and
proposed to the Federal Government the creation of special policies,
a partnership organization and a special program of comprehensive
regional development. In 1965, the national administration and the
Congress concurred and established the Appalachia program.

Without question, the prime reason for this willingness of local,
State, and Federal Government to take unusual steps was the dramatic
need for help to the region's people.

However, almost as important in gaining the agreement for action,
was the nature of the innovative proposal for the Appalachian Regional
Commissiona new arrangement by Which a wide variety of agencies
in all three levels of government could work together on such an
ambitious scaleand for the comprehensive approach to overall pro-
gram investments focused on a strategy for development and growth.

Now, after 6 years of experience with this new mechanism and
policy for public administration, those of us involved in the Appala-
chian Commission are carefully examining its workability. It is im-
portant we do so since it is under consideration and has just been
authorized for continuation by the Congress and .because it is under
review by the Congress as a possible model for a national system of
decision making arrangements to deal more rationally and effectively
with the critical problems and opportunities of the Nation in the 1970's.

The Appalachian program began, in the 1960's, as a symbol of
problems. We think it has worked to become, in the 1970's, a symbol*
of solutions.
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.3. The need to establish, more effective program policies and actual
program design to relate public resources and public decision making
to tlee identification and treatment of priority problems in a Practical
way. (These problems- tend to be in broad categories like
poverty, unemployment, environmental improvement, urban
development, et cetera, rather than in the narrow categories such
as health, education, transportation.) The "development policy"
employed in the regional development concept provides an effec-
tive new policy basil fcritLachievii0 this end. The Appalachian
experience has demonstrated that this concept can deliver public
decisions and public dollars on target to selected public problems.

rn brief, the region ot. development concept can be applied to a
national program approach. which will deal effectively with all three
of our strategic programs needsthe sharing of resources and decisions;
the mobilization of the three levels of government for action; and
the design of Special and concerted programs geared to major 'strategic
goals. ,r.

In view of current concern with revenue sharing;, t must be stressed
that the regional development approach is not an a ternative. Rather,
the two approaches are compatible and essentialcorollaries if
we are to achieve an effective system of effective programs. But
this means, in my own opinion, that the benefits of general revenue
sharing should be added to the broad framework of public programs
without eliminating the effective level of funding for such a pro-
gram as the Appalachian program. This progratn has not only
unique demonstration of the concept of sharing revenues butin a
way superior to that of sinq le revenue sharing it has demonstrated
decision sharing" as our overnors have said. It has brought,
together the ikvels'of government, provided for practical joint pro-
grams by multiple agencies, lord has mobilized concerted action on
priority targeted objectives. , <,

I hope these comments are useful to your consideration and improve-
ment of the pending legislation. Before hearings of the Senate Phblic
Works Committee ill consideration of the legislation authorizing the
Appalachian program; I have presented more detailed suggestions
on the application. of the Appalachian program concepts to a notional
development program and I can make this information available if
you desire it. I believe this could provide improvement ip the use of
revenue sharing and would provide a management mechanism in
which the sharing of resources and decisions could support action
geared to a balanced national development. policy.

Senator HfumennEy. We have Senator Allen with us.
Senator, do you have any questions gnu wish to ask of Mr. Whisman.
Senator ALLEN. I want to congratulate you on your statement. I

have been reading it I am sorry I wns late.1 have been tied up with
other matters. I am delighted that the Congress and the adminis-
tration has been inclined to allow the Appalachian Regional Commission
to continue. And I think that the points you have made regarding
its role certainly are well taken.

I might say too that I feel that this is one Federal program,
among others, of course, that does have the ,wholehearted hacking
of the people of the area that it serves. .

Mr. VNISMAN. Thank you.
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Senator ALLEN. And we are real proud of the Appalachian Regional
Couvission. And we feel that the solutions that it has'offered to the
problems of the region, is the reason that the Congress and the
administration are willing to go ahead with this separate program
rather than to fold that into the rural revenue sharing.

The concep of action by the Commission, its ability to handle
the matter on a regional basis, and its use of funds on a regional basis,
would seem be one of the cardinal features of the plan.

You make the point that if this money does go to the local govern-
ments that there would be no assurance that they would reassign
it to the Commission. And obviously they might not. Because they
have other agencies that they might use money on. So I feel that the
important work of the commission, the role that it is performing, has
been responsible for this attitude on the part of the administration.

Your comments, of course, are confined only to the Appalachian
Regional Commission?

Mr. WEISMAN. Not exactly, sir.
Senator ALLEN. DO you wish to comment on the other aspects?
Mr. WEISMAN. I will be brtis.h enough to suggest, if I may, that

in addition to just how it affects our Commission, I am saying thatin our region, through our program, we have a corollary delivery
system that make§ revenue sharing work. I would suggest that revenue
sharing, if enacted, would still need this kind of a delivery system
throughout the United States. So I am going a little further than just
to say, take care of our regi9n. I am suggesting that the regional
development program is not an alternative to revenue sharing. But
it is a necessary corollary. I think much of your testimony has gone
to the need for a delivery system. We would like to preserve ours, but
we don't want to keep it uniquely, we would like to see it come into
wider use throughout the Nation.

Senator ALLEN. You would feel, then, that keeping the Appalachian.
Regional Commission out of the revenue sharing and going ahead and
enacting revenue-sharing legislation, that certain portions of that
program should be implemented through the facilities of the Appa-
lachian Regional Commission; is that correct?

Mr. WEISMAN. Yes.
Senator ALLEN. That, then, would beef up the Commission, wouldit not?
Mr. WHISMAN. That is right; yes, sir.
Senator ALLEN. And have it performing a still larger role in this

concept of revenue sharing?' Mr. WHISMAN. That is correct. And our Governors, while they
support the revenue sharing, support this corollary as well. So it isnot

Senator ALLEN. On the rural revenue sharing, and the unfolding
of possibly a hundred existing programs, what assurance is there that
these programs would be carried on with money placed in the hands
of the local governments.

Mr. WEISMAN. I think, sir, if my suggestion were followed, that
this delivery system be set as a corollary to revenue sharingand
mean as corollary to general revenue sharing as well as the special
programs. You would have to look realistically to the experience of
the Appalachian program in the last 6 years, and ask the question
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whether we have delivered on target to the things we were charged
to deliver on whether we have done that efficiently, and whether we
have been responsive to our local people.

And if the answer to those is yes, as we think it is, then I think
you would have found a corollary here.

Senator HUMPHREY, What is the point, though, if you take these
special revenue-sharing funds and put them over in the office of the
Governor, if that is what you are really doing, is there any assurance
that these programs will be carried out.

Mr. WHISMAN. No, sir; not in my opinion, because the Governor
is subject to working with the State legislature, and the local mayors
are subject to working with their councils, and you would have great
difficulty in seeing, for instance, a national developthent policy come
into being, because there is nothing about revenue sharing by itself
that assures the joining of the interests and the resources and the
ideas of all three levels of government.

Senator ALLEN. This money that the 'local governments would
get, having been spent on other needs, would there not then be a
demand that these existing programs be reinstituted, and we would,
have to go back to them as well? I an speaking of all programs that
are now popular with the public and have .public support.

Mr. YVHISMAN. You pose there of .course the key _problem that
You gentlemen are wrestling with in the'Congress of the United States.
In the 1960's this was a response by the Congress to a great many
needs. But the tendency of the first response inevitably is to provide
a program for a stated need. So you have many programs.

Now, there is obviously a need for consolidation, for review, and
for a means to give both flexibility and functional focus to these
programs. I am inclined to doubt that that can be done by fiat in a
piece of legislation. But you can set a system for doing this, in which
the local people are not given carte blanche, the Governors are not
given the money to do with as they would, the Congress, a Fefleral
agency, doesn't take the money and write the guidelines fight to the
nth degree, but all of these must work together, they must come
forward and present to the Congress plan that states the objectives,
and as it happens in our program, 1 year in advatwe of the spending
of the funds the plan must he demonstrated by a stateof the projects.
We don't settle for a plan. Our States and localities come forward
and. say, next year the limey we anticipate being available will be
spent for these projects for this reason, because of our plan.

Now, I think you would get the purposes, sir, of the programs that
you have enacted this way, and you would have to go through a
period of watching to see this action take place.

I think that the word "transition" is extremely important. Both
revenue sharing and the enactment possibly of a national delivery
system of this kind would require a year of working, and you would
have the existing programs instead of consolidating them into rural
revenue sharing.

If you .could g is much further you leave them in. But you
would allow then egin to be managed by this system, the agency.
And as you wat 1 that happen you might then convert some of
those programs t a more flexible form, if you were assured that the
;purpose for which the program was -enacted would be served by this
system. I think it would be.

6 2.
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Senator Your suggestion, then, % uld go just exactly
counter to the Ooncept of revenue sharing, w h would, be to leave
these programs 'to sink or swim subject to the -hires and wishes of
the local governments. Is that not right, to pla the money in the
hands of the local governments and allow the \ to support those
-portions of the existmg programs that they UMW° of, and to plow
it into other poOgrams, not necessarily the very sale ones they see
fit to employ or support?

Mr. WHISMAN. To try to give you a specific ansar, my feeling
is that that would not necessarily be productive, as , ferenced forin the rural revenue sharing program.

Senator ALLEN. Yes. But your suggestion is exactly t opposite
of what the present concept is, is that not right?

Mr. WismAN. Of rural revenue sharing it is different. would
hesitat,e to say it is absolutely.

Senator ALLEN. Considerahly different.
NIr. Winsmit N. Yes; because 1 would see in transition a tim\ lien

these programs might be amalgamated into a different systenk
Sc run tor ALLEN. I t leaves t he Federal Government ha \ ng

the ultimate and final control over whether the program is Institut t,
whereas this concept allows the local governments to tletermine it.

Mr. WtsmAN. That i,: right.
Senator ALLEN. And the possible abandonmem of a number of

existing programs, such as the popular and successful Appalachian
program.

Mr. WHISMAN. Yes, sir. I think that withorat a transition, and
without it delivery system, both' the local people and everybody
would have trouble making that transition from undoing it program
to starting a new way to manage it. And the reilson I saw I am not
necessarily counter, I suggested a transition, that if general revenue
sharing were enacted, and as a corollary you created this delivery
system, you leave rural revenue sharing alone as proposed in them,
and theu see how to fit it in after you have done the other two.

Senator ALLEN. The State, though; would not he interested in
plowing the money into an Appalachian commission if they were not
assured of getting that same money or more hack into their,State,
would they?

Mr. WIIISMAN. That is realistically correct; yes, sir.
Senator ALLEN. SO it would be pretty hard to see how you could

act as a delivery vehicle.
Mr. WismAN. Unless we had program funds of our iwn. And all

t-.of our program funds, of course, must he used in what is called sup-
plementation.

Senatio ALLEN. That, then, in essence means the beefing up of
Appalachia, isnit that right?

Mr. WHISMAN. Yes, sir.
Senator ALLEN. Than you.
Senator HUMPHREY. Mr. Whisman, I think your discussion. has

,been very helpful to us. It concentrates on what we heard just a
few minutes.ago from Mr. Esala, Mr. Hardin, and Mr. Price. The
Whole thrust of it is that S. 1612 places full discretion in the hands of
4ie Governor as to what will be done with the funds that are con-
$olidated. You are suggesting that you start with your multicounty

(.4
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planning units, which are then coordinated with the States, and then
coordinated with your regional comtnission (Appalachia), this ap-
proach provides for programing the proper use of fundswith local
m- putas to how the planning will proceed.

Mr. WHISMAN. That is correct.
Senator HUMPHREY. So you are trying to get the best of two worlds.
Mr. WHSMAti. Yes, sir. And that, would give you a delivery

system which, when put through revenue sharing, would allow you
to approach the management of many programs that here are simply
pulled together without the delivery system.

Senator liuNtruniwr. Thank you very much, Mr. Whisman.
appreciate it very, very much.

I want to thank you for your help with respect to the rural coalition
matter too.

Mr. WHISMAX. Thank you very much. And I congratulate you on
that case.

Senator ITUMPHREY. Mr. Wax, we were going to have you testify
this itf ternoon. But since we are here, would You like to come forward.

Mr. Ray Wax is president of the National Association of Farmer
Elected Committeemen, from Newman, Ill.

And I remember .,eing you here not long ago. I am happy to see
you here again.

STATEMENT 017 RAY WAX, PRESIDENT, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
OF FARMER ELECTED COMMITTEEMEN, NEWMAN, ILL.

Mr. 1j/AX. 'Phis is Mr. Ernest Wilhelm, my national secretary, and
Mr. Robert Koch, Jr., who is an official with our group.

Senator HUMPHREY. And Senator Allen is here with us. too.
Proceed, Mr. Wax; with, whatever you have in mind.
Mr. WAX. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I am

Ray Wax of Newmen, III. First, I am a farmer and operate 640 acres
devoted to corn, soybeans, and registered shorthorn cattle. Second, it
is in privilege to be chairman of the county ASCS Committee to

position I have been elected by the farmers of Douglas County.
Third, it is in high honor to be president of the National Association
of Farmer Elected Committeemen. I know all members of the subcom-
mittee are aware of this, but for the record I would like to point out
that, there an approximately 5,400 county committeemen and 100,000
community committeemen elected in the 2,800 counties where our
Nation's farm prograps are administeri,d. Our association covers. 31
"States and will soon include all 50 States. Our membership is made
up of present. and past county and community committeemen that
have served farm programs. We have two main objectives MAI that
is for a sound farm program to first benefit rural Americans and
second to be of value to all our citizens.

It is a pleasure for me to testify before this distinguished committee
today and I am proud to know this group of men represent so great
an interest in the Nation's agriculture. Therefore, I count you as a
friend of my industry. I am sure this committee is cognizant of the
severe economic plight that is facing the American farmer. To dwell
on this topic;.with facts would consume all my allotted time, there-
fore, I hasten to the subject of revenue sharing.
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We as an association of men who are the closest to the farmer and
his program participation are opposed to the administration's revenue
sharing proposals. We oppose both the general revenue sharing pro-
posal, which is currently pending before the committee, as well as the
bills on "special" revenue sharing that are pending before other le s_
lative committees. Although the administration's revenue sharing pro-
posals were submitted to Congress in seven separate bills they are
-interrelated in such a way that it is unrealistic to discuss them in
isolation from one another. Furthermore, the administration's pro-
posals for reorganization are related to and inseparable from revenue
sharing.

As I travel this great Nation and confer with governors of States and
mayors of our great cities I find their greatest need is additional money
to satisfy the demands of-their people and for the services they request.
In taking my position I recognize the plight of the cities in meeting the
fiscal crisis that is upon their; but I feel alternate solutions to this
crisis can and should be adopted. Revenue sharing, I think, is the
wrong way to accomplish fiscal relief and reduCtion in "administrative
redtape." I am sure that just additional funds remitted to the various
States will eventually be deterimental to my farm people.

Mr. Chairman, I think revenue sharing is bad in principle because it
diminishes the progressive role of the National Government in our
political system. I Bm proud to state over the past several decades this
country has made progress in so many fields due to leadership of our
National Government.

Basically, Mr. Chairman, I feel the conservation of our greatest
natural resources, our land, streams, and forests, which has been
directed by a national policy through the U.S. Department of Agri-
culture with the ACP and now the rural environmental assistance pro-
gram, would jeopardized by the adoption of a "no strings attached"
revenue-sharin system. Funds appropriated by the Government and
matched by th participating farmer have been instrumental in saving
our fertile , controlling our water supply, increasing our forest
acreage, d loping our recret nal areas for an ever increasing urban,
demand, and at the same t me producing the most abundant food
supply at the hest relative price of any nation in the world. These
above-named funds have never been adequate for this most construc-
tive agricultural program. At times in the past, and even today, men
have doubted the necessity of maintaining these great resources by
unwarranted requests for reduction oPfunds or a complete elimination
of the conservation program. In fact, at present, I understand there is
an impoundment of funds in many States where conservation is badly
needed. Under the revenue-sharing proposals, the basic conservation
plan of our Nation's farms, streams, and forests, could be put aside, at
the-discretion of the individual States, by men who do not understand
conservation. It is doubtful that the urban dominated State legislatures
will he very concerned about rural development. With the proposed
elimination of the A('P-REAP, many ASCS county offices could he
closed. And remember, these offices administer price support, acreage
control and many other programs in addition to ACP-REAP. Let me
remind you that the ACP-REAP is the only Federal agricultural pro-
gram that exists in every county across our Nation. Office closing
would eliminate the ongoing staffs which in the past have handled the
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emergency drought program, rural civil defense, and even today are
the ones designated to answer questions at the rural level about the
administration's wage price freeze.

I know that workable alternatives to revenue sharing will come
forth from this committee and will be approved by Congress. I am
concerned for my people, the farmers of this Nation who are beim-
forced from the lands becAse of a lack of net farm income. I do grant
that reorganization of our USDA could be justified in the eyes of our
farmers so that the people of this Nation would know what services are
correctly charged to the Department. However, in the words of the

eat Abraham Lincoln who came from the rural area of my home
tate of Illinois and respectfully stated "A Nation cannot stand

divided " therefore in respect to this dynamic leader I cannot see the
Department of Agriculture divded to fall prey to those who would
destroy farm programs.

My'life has been spent in agriculture and for my people to go without
a sound farm program and the loss of the Department would be in
comparison to going to the Capitol to catch a bus to the moon with a
Holiday Inn reservation awaiting your arrival. President Nixon said
in Illinois, "When you stop trying to be No. 1 you admit defeat
as an individual." As that individual today I humbly reque you
to keep the Department of Agriculture and to help improve and
maintain the conservation of our Nation's greatest industry by your
distinguished leadership.

Senator HUMPHREY. N1r. Wax I gather from your testimonywhich
was not too difficult to understand it is rather pertinent and concise
that you oppose S. 1612.

Mk. Wax. We do form the standpoint of returning the funds and
with a no-strings attachment hack to the State government.

Senator HUMPHREY. And while we are not discussing the matter here
today nor do vi'e have jurisdiction over the legislation relating to the
consolidation and elimination of the Department of Agriculture I
gather from the thrust of your remarks that you are not in favor of
that.

Mr. WAX. Mr. Humphrey, I couldn't come to Washington today
and represent the people back on the farms across this Nation, the
greatest industry of our Nation and say that I would he in favor of
doing anything to eliminate the Department of Agriculture. *We talk
about revenue sharing; we talk about values; we talk 'about the
economic plight of my people and the loss of 52 cents a bushel today
of corn, on 5 billion bushels. So if you would go by the figures that
people smarter in the economic field hand down to us and multiply
this figure by seven times the effect it has on our economy is $21
billion in purchasing power.

I think this is one of the greatest things to help rural America and
all the people. 63,

Senator Humprism. I was down to Worthington Minn. Saturday.
It is in the corn and soybean area. And we used to raise a lot of turkeys
down there not as man as now but we have what we call a turkey
day. And 'While there I

y
learned that the price of corn has been just

plummeting downward. What is happening in Illinois?
Mr. WAX. You remember when I was here 2 years ago asking to

put 'a price support under corn a dollar and 8 cents a bushel. And

03-582-71-pt. 0-5
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finally I said we in agriculture could get along with no price support
if industry could get along wits no minimum wage. Now corn ranges
from 91 to 96 cents a bushel.

Senator HUMPHREY. Isn't it interesting that you can have that drop
in corn prices, and when I pick up the morning paper there is not one
thing in it about that problem. That is-a fact. The largest newspaper
in the United States, the New York Times. If it were to carry a story
about agriculture it would probably get two lines hidden somewhere
probably in the want ad section.

Now, that drop in corn prices in my State is worse than any amount
of unemployment or any amount of inflation to our economy. I mean
if you really want to talk about what is hitting the people of Minnesota.
But you know the poor farmer --'I just go beserk about this half 'the
timenobody seems to care. It 'cloesn't even get a little notice. If
wages drop 10 percent tomorrow morning, that would be a banner
headline.

If profits of industry ware to drop 5 percent, or the market were to
go down 10 percent, everybody would get excited. But the farmer takes
this whipping and they just look at him and say; well, how are you
doing? And I saw the other day where the President indicated with
respect to our foreign trade that somebody said there might be some
retaliation, because of the 10 percent import surcharge and he ap-
parently said, well, I think the. farmer can take that. Well, how much
can you take? I thought we ought to get this in the record today too.
I don't think there is 10 people m Washington outside the Department
of Agriculture and a few Members of Congress that know that corn
prices have been going down the drain.

Mr. WAX. It is a sad situation in the rural communities of this
Nation. These people do not know what to do. They have never
walked in a strike line, they have never refused, or turned down the
production that their country demanded of them in war or peace.
I am most proud to represent this group of people, and I 'am the
closest to them. I could give you some facts of pricing. Mr. Connally
recently stated, to set the price of a product- you establish the profit

ito that industry. This is true in agriculture.
I agree with you, .across this Nation economists feel that farmers

and farm families don't understand the difference between a dollar
corn and a dollar-and-a-half con.

And if you are going to stay in farming today you can't be that
gullible and continue farming. A. man close to me, rele,ted his .father
spent $19,000, for a 170-acre tract of land. This young man just spent
$24,000 for a combine. He is going to try to do his work and some
custom work of his own. to pay for this machine. Industry i.z; going
to have to realize that the farmer has got to have money to buy the
equipment they are building.

And we are certainly proud of our world trade: We are going to
have to look into this surcharge. And I ism sure tha there was op-
position met-Mr. Connally is meeting overseas with European
nationsand if we lose- the 1 acre out of 4 that is exported, this
Nation is going to be dragged into a depression a lot worse even than
in 1932; I am old enough to remember that one when I helped milk
23 cows by hand to help pay the farm 'hand. And we hoped the mail-
man didn't bring us another bill.o I understand this.
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. Senator IImmtawr. Senator Allen, when I was home down in
Nobles County, the southwest part of our Stateit is beautiful down
there, it is rPally the most fertile seetion of our StateI was told by
the editor of the paper, Mr. Vance, that in the last 5 years, 200 farm
families from that county have left. And the rite of disappearance is
up) now. I talked to farm families and individual farmers. I was there
Saturday from mion to &beta, 3:30. And 1 had one.man after another
come up to me on this corn price problem. And they are just beside
themselves.

We don't feed all that corn down there, even though we do feed a
lot of it. Much of it goes into the market. And then we have this
problem of storage. You know that the Department of Agriculture
has ordered out of farm storage the 1967-68 corn crops. And we lack
sufficient terminal storage space ,to accumulate it. What is happening
is a flooding of corn on the market, and a driving down of prices again.
And this is yet another blow to the farm producer.

Well, that is off this bill, but by gosh it really bothers me. I tame
back here terribly depressed.- The finest. people that I know in these
areas had just taken a whipping, an 4/credible whipping.

Mr: Wax. They are leaving the fa ms.
Senator /IumiulEy..I don't know how we get attention down here.

I understand how s( mebody feels when nobody listens to his plea.
Because they come ti) me when I am home as they come to you, and
I sort of look at them with a tear in my eye, and-f.don't know quite
what to do. In fact, I was toll the other day when I' wrote a letter to
the Department of Agriculture about this corn sitnation that they
weren't even going to, answer it. When found out 'what they said
I told them I will deliver the next one to them personally and wait for
an answer.

Mr. WAX. Can I give you a prediction about what is going to
happen. I think thaVunless this Nation realizes what these people
have to have to stay on the farm we are in trouble. I have talked in 10
or 15 States in the last 15 monthsI think I have had audiences
average 200 people and only three men under 30 years of age were in
attendance. If they want to go to corporations, let them look at the
record. Sure afarm family is getting the best returbs over a corpora-
tion, because Mom and the kids drive tractors and haul the grain in
and try to help make a living. But I am bringing a 27-year-old son,
back in my own business, and he is looking with apprehension about,
retirement benefits and pensions, and 3o forth, that are not on the
farm today. And if you look at the farms today, some people drive by
from the city and say, the air is clean, and there is new equipment
sitting out hereI served on the FHA hoard for 3 years,eand I can tell
you about some of the indebtedness of these young men, awl unless
the crop price is changed you have no way to pay for the investment
in machinery and land. -

You have two alternatives. Destroy these people when they drop
with indebtedness, or else you give them something than they can live
by and keep producing as they have for this Nation. Or the third
choice, someday when the farmer says, this is it., there will be no
milk, or no meat will come to market. When you have got a 24-hour
supplyof milk, a 7-day supply of red meat, then this is something
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important. I hope it never denies to a food strike, because my people
Are net that kind of people.

Senator HUMPHREY. I am going to have to -depart. But Senator
Allen is here/ and ha is the best friend the farmer has. And I am going
to put him in charge.

Senator ALLEN. Thallk_you, Mr. Chairman.
Senator HUMPHREY. You may want to a these gentlemen

question.
Senator ALLEN (presiding). Mr. Wax, I gather, then, that you do

not reel that the rural revenue sharing proposal as advanced by the
administration is in the best interest of the farmers.

Mr. WAX. If we -go upon the past record, as your distinguished
chairman said here, the recognition given farm people, I know from
personal experience, there are greater demands, greater cries for this .

money. And to go back to sabre the pollution or the conservation plan
of this Nation, I am sure that GOvernors are going to have greater pull
upon them to put in money in'ether places. And then too I look at the
source from (which this money is coming. Todlly in Illinois we look
down 10 row-a quarter of a mile and we lay a $20 bill on it for taxes. I -
don't know how our farm reel estate can carry much more from the
'standpoint of tatation.

8enator.ALLEN. Would this program as advanced by the adniinis.
tratibn put all of the money provided for these eldstintprograms in the
hands of the respective States with only broad classifications as to
their. use find disbursement?

Mr. WAX. I don't doubt that this would be the AvayI don't think
anyone is intelligent enough today. to tbresee 10 years, as we set up
reyenuesharing, to see in 10 years time the need that is going to be
here. Who saw 7 years ago the effort thatpis being put into pollution
now with Mr. Ruckelshaus? I met with him in the White House in
March. Who what this program was going to demand upon the
people of this Nation? And you know what their budget is. Who knows
how much more our urban demands are going to be? So I think it is
something that you would have to agree with.

But Wess this 'honey was, earmarked for certain programs.
aind thjitis why there are many people that take issue with farm
programs - -but I think they have been directed at the best possibre
solution that could be found at the present time.,

d I complinient Secretary Hardin on trying to bail this country
f we would have had the loss in our corn crop that we had a

year I don't want to think where our .food prices would have
gone. par farmers tried to produce this drOp for this Nation, and .they
have.
. And now to come in 'for such a price drop and loss of income,
I think there are some other people that owe the responsibility for
this abunaance.

When I planted my coin crop, Mr. Allen, this spring I just kind of
had. a little talk with the Maker wondering what would be there this
tail, because I saw the stacks fall and the-ears not develop last year.
Through the Midwest, 2 weeks of cool weather with the kind of seed
corn that we had to plant, has done much to save this Nation's most
important feed grain.
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Senator ALLEN. Would this revenue-;haring program put the
various on-going programs at the mercy of the respective States?

Mr. WAX Unless there was an order from the Federal Government
with specific guidelines, I don't think we in agriculture would have any
right' to expect it.

Senator ALLEN. The legislation does provide broad general classi-
fications, but not specific programs. But it put the various existing
programs in a wild scramble at the State levels 'to try to obtain for
their particular program a continuation pf their funds. Is that correct?

Mr. WAX. I don',,t doubt that this would he true. I have, heard
testimony here from other groups,. people on land developnient,
and people' on extension, and, the last gentlemen you had here,
'yew have tried to obtain a voice -for agriculture in the past year:

I sort of realize where- the farm people might come upon this totem
pole, so. to speak. I had a conference with nly Governor of Illinois.
And he promised me through- the direCtor of agriculture that they
Would make every possible means to see that these fundg'were direCted
in this fashion.

I am not opposed to .change. Our obligation has changed. And our
method of production has changed. I am not opposed to this, but I.
am opposed-to seeing the sale bills appearJn our papers and the people
disappearing from the farin as they have.

Senator ALLEN. Do you know-of any agricultiital programs that
the administration; that the Federal Government now has that should

lie abandoned?
W. &x. Of the total outlook upon the agriculttiral program that

the administration fosters today I think the definition of. what each

program does for this- Nationmaybe not the eliniination of the pro-
gram but at least to take an explanation to the people of this Nation
so that they have an understanding of what is being done for them

and if it shouht be charged off to the agricultural department. I can
quote you many vticles of what is being charged off to farm progranis

and it has made agriculture look bad in this Nation to a group of people

who have no way, really organized way, to fight back. I name you your
school lunch program. And I name you your meat inspection program.
These are all necessary services . the same 'as transportation- in the

cities. Bit they should not be required costs on the raw products of
the farm people. Sir I have question. As you understand, the present
wage price freeze, the -raw commodity is not frozen. The product to
the consumer is frozen. Does that mean that where our price has varied

on corn over the past year from $1.54' to 89 cents at its low--,What

will we have to consider as a fair price?This is a different subject

but 'I would like your distinguished opinionwhere will our price

be set' on this? Igo we need a group of people today who run our price

up and down or will it be frozen at a level so that I know when I
put a crop in the ground and this gentleman from Missouri with me
that we will have a certain price for our commodity?

Senator ALLEN, This is a question I suggest that you direct to
Secretary connally. I feel that he would -be the man to answer that.
I alight state that the President's promise is that the freeze is going

to go off on November 15. Aml it i§ not supposed to apply to agricul-
tural products the farm produce.

A
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Mr. WAX. Could I leave this impression with this committee, thatI am not here. looking forthat I am not here looking for $4 soybeansand $2.50 corn. Rut I am looking for the welfare of farm people whowill keep an industry going that some people° have forgotten. WhenI left World War II corn was $1.18 a bushel and I could buy that
tractor outfit for $2,800.

I just rode out here with a machinery executive from Illinois on theplane. And that will cost me $11,000 today, to buy this same equip-ment. And corn-is 96 cents.
Senator ALLEN. Now under the rural revenue sharing program Inotice you seem particularly interested in the APC prbgram, that isthe rural environmental assistance program, ,which is not widely

known by that name. There would be no assurance that this program
would be continued would there, if the administration's rural revenuesharing bill were passed?

Mr. WAX. This is the way I understand the proposed measuresthere would be no assurance.
Senator ALLEN. The same would be true with the various other

specific programs now being funded by the Federal Government.
Mr. W4x. You see the farmer matches 50 percent the funds thatare given.
Might I just for the record give you a statement from the State of

Oklahoma. The annual investment need in conservation in the Stateof Oklahoma is estimated at $70nillion. The 1971 REAP allocation
was $4,588,000, about 6 percent of the total need. I am sure you arefamiliar with Jamie Whitten and his work that he has done for thisand .1 am sure that you are familiar with the effort's that the farm
people want to make for the control of the streams and the pollutionof the air. There are a lot of people today that don't know that ahundred bushels of corn to the acre takes up 8 tons of carbon dioxide
and puts back in 7 tons of oxygen and I think that this pollution
program,should be directed back in the rural areas to the ACS Office
which is established and handled by people who know farm regulationsand farm law and who are willing to cooperate with the Federal
Government, and I would make this recommendation.

Senator ALLEN. There is no -assurance, though, that the ACS
program would even be carried on?

Mr. WAX. That is right.
Senator ALLEN. Do vot think it wise to abandon or allow the

abandonment of these tried and true and well-proven programs?Mr. Wax. No, sir; I would like to say that I have seen no finer
group of program people as I- have served. 17 years on ti countycommittee. In the many years that`I have served f have heard unfair
criticisms, and I read you stories hero this morning of a hundredthousand committees. I am sure there are probably people right in
this room at this moment who say: Look at this number of people
who are on the Federal payroll. Let me tell youand I am sure thisgentleman on my right hand here will agree with methat someof these men have not served one day for pay, but they have still
gone out and worked on their own time and given their time to
farm program work for their Nation.

So, when I speak of nu !tethers this has been an abbreviated fact by
many. writers, but when I come to these situations where just hist

7i
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week in the local paper in Champagne-Urbana, a town of 40,000
people, a university community, where you had a newspaper reporter
who reported---how would you like to have a new sidewalk put in?
How would you like to'have a new roof put on, or maybe a drive .to
your garage, or something else, with the Government paying half
the expense? He was speaking of a plan whereby the farmers in that
community matched the funds of the Government. I wonder if you
can find anyplace else in this country where people in an industry;
at the price they are receiving for their efforts are matching Federal
funds 50-50 to get a job done.

Now, go back to your county committees, these nlen, as I said
prior, have seen their offices develo p,. have seen management and
service come to farm people and rural communities and urban people
who share in these programs. I have never seen any group of people
make the improvement in their conduct, in their ability to handle the
job, as I have in the ACSS offices across the Nation.

One other comment: I sat with the Secretary of Agriculture and a
distinguished group of farm people in January and February, after he
took office, and I know that this man has tried to give the farmers of
this Nation the right to produce, and I compliment him. I could not
appear before this committee without saving he has made a fine effort
to bring forth this Nation's production. I sat with him in some lonely
hours a year ago When, if he had failed and gotten a 3-billion bushel
corn crop this year, what chaos we would have been in. Again, I thank
the good. Lord that this did not happen to farm people so that we
could have had this kind of poor production to impress upon the people
of the Nation how bad things can be. Everyone is the farmer's cus-
tomer. No other group in America can claim this distinction. Even a
person today in the hospital bed taking glucose still is a farmer's
customer.

Senator ALLEN. Thank you very much, Mr. Wax. I appreciate you
gentlemen coming and appearing before the committee.

Senktor Louise Leonard, please.

STATEMENT OF HON. LOITISE LEONARD, MEMBER, WEST VIRGINIA
SENATE, HARPER'S FERRY, W. VA.

Mrs. LEONARD. We are interested in this bill in West Virginia and
elsewhere. I have my statement which I have prepared for distribution,
and I want to testify in favor of this bill, S. 1612. I want to support
this, and I speak to you as a senator from the 16th senatorial district
of West Virginia, which is an agricultural area. I represent six rural
counties in the eastern panhandle of the State.

I am also the president of the planning commission of one of those
counties, and so I have worked closely with these Federal programs.
Consequently, I appreciate the section of the bill that calls for the
consultation and coordination with the units of local government.

I believe that State government should have a primary role in this
historic revenue-sharing program, and would like to add that I strongly
support the stand taken by the 'National Legislative Conference, the
National Conference of State Legislative Leaders and the National
Society of State Legislators, that funds should be channeled from the
Federal Government, throt? State government to county and local,
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government, and under no circumstances should State government be
bypassed in the distribution of funds under the revenue-sharing
program.

The overall plan for rural deV(401)111V111, 'find revenue-sharing to
achieve it is excellent. We are sal aware that the C11E1111, need for
certain public facilities and 1111111t1('S 111 our ,mall 11)11.11S, 111 our C11,1(41
and in our counties is greater than that which can be supported by
collection Of local taxes. For many years the American taxpayers
have watched while millions of dollars have gone overseas to assist
the underdeveloped nations of the world. It is time now that a greater
portion of our tax dollars be allocated to assist the underdeveloped
areas of America..

No one can fault a. bill (lesigned to increase employment, invest-
ment and incomes, to improve public service and facilities, to stein
out migration, to promote conservation, to improve educational
facilities, law enforcement, housing, and health fC,cilitks, -Mid trans-
portation. These are all within the areas .where people look to their
government for assistance. This trend during recent years has led to
the development Of so many assistance programs that duplication of
effort has resulted and local leaders have great 41-ifiictilly in finding in
our bureaucracy the agency which handles the specific programs for
their needs.

I believe .that to combine many of these programs, Its the President
has suggested, under the Rural Development Revenue - Sharing Act
is.certainly a. step in the right direction to enable local leaders to find
their way through the maze of programs currently offered.

The part of the bill to which I object, however, is the section dealing,
with the extension service. I oppose this section of the bill, because
S. 1612 does not allow for continuity of the extension program. its
people participating in it now know the program. At present _Federal
funds under the Smith-Lever Act of 1914 go to land grant colleg,es.

In our Stiqe, West Virginia University administers the program.
The State matches these funds and counties contribute to the exten-
sion firog,riun. JefTersiin ('minty where I live, population approxi-
mate y 20,000, we have 20 4 -1i clubs with about 400 members; we
have 10- or 12 homes demonstration clubs with about 300 members.
We have one full -tinge county agricultural agent, one 4-11 agent,
aim one part-time home demonstration agent. 'clie Jefferson County
commissioners provide office space, phone and traveLexpenses.

Participants 111 the present extension programs urge that .prograin,s
continue to be administered by the land grant colleges because this
has worked so well since 1914 and has fret,d the programs from the
politics in which they could become involved should the system be
changed from the Smith-Lever Act to the system proposed in S. 1612.

This becomes a question of "Why should an existing, workable,
efficient Federal prograin he changed ?" The extension service today
certainly fulfills for the most part the needs of rural communities 111

the areas in which information. is provided and I .fail to see the need,
for changing it. There is no indication that a. change from the Smith
Lever Act to this bill will bring about a more efficient extension service.

Other objections are that the bill leaves many arrangements to
administrative discretion, and as administrations change within the
States at election time, continuity of the program could -be lost as

7'6
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new State executives establish different priorities. There appears to ho
no requirement for a State to continue extension work if the executive
decided not to do so.

gxtension work which began in 1914 %with the Stnit li-Lever Act is
an effective educational system of pooling the resources of the De-
partment of Agriculture, Ow land grant universities, the various
experimental stations and county governments through the local
extension staff. It hats worked well under the existing art, and I do
not think .removal of the extension service portion of S. 1612 from the
bill under discussion today would weaken the Rural Communit.y
Development Revenue-Sharing Act of 1971. Instead it would permit
greater emphasis on other facets of the bill in areas of rural develop-
ment in greater need for change and assistance than the extension
service.

I urge the Congress to pass the revenue-sharing legislation and to
delete the extension service from the bill since it has futretioned ade-
quately under the 1914 bill which established the extension service.
Let us spend our resources in areas where attention is sorely needed
rather than in areas which are well established and functioning suc-
cessfully- and which have withstood the test of time.

To leave the Extension Service in this bill makes the bill unaccept-
able to many of the very rural areas it is designed to help; passage
wilfbe difficult, if not impossible, and the numerous ()the; benefits of
the bill will is lost to the areas which need them th'e roost.

I notice inn the earlier discussion here that emphasis Ions been placed
on the fact that apparently people think the Govertinient would be
t he only one to really have a say in developing ilte, priorities for the
State. I want to call attention to the section \Ville!' makes it very
clear that a State development plan must be developed, and that a
State development conunksion must. be appointed, I believe this pro-
vision, which already exists in the bill, answers the .questions ra .ed
about one man having control. I do not believe this bill provides or
one-man control. I do not think that was the intent of the bill. I think
the safeguard is already written into the bill.

Another safeguard in this bill is the section which calls for the
accounting of the development. commission and the Governor to the
Secretary of Agriculture. This is also written in here, that they are
accountable for the way these funds are spent. They must make sure
that. they meet the e, iterin of the Sect et ary pf Agriculture.

Again, I think this is an excellent safeguard, and to point well taken.
Another thing I think in great favor of this bill is this: The fact that
these revenue-sharing funds can be used for matching funds is a strong
point in its favor.

As I stated earlier, in the small community where ,I live, the small
towns its that county do not have a tax base to raise even the matching
futOszto obtaitl. the benefits of the existing. programs %%hie!) are avail-
able. If they .can use these revenue-shating funds in that manner it
will enable them to obtain the benefits that they need in order to
provide hospital services, sanitary services, public utilities facilities,
tuull of the other programs that they can take advantage of if they
haveTunds available.

I think this whole concept of revenue sharing is unique thing:
It should be explored and I hope it will be enacted, We have watched

1(



70

for many years while programs have been developed through our'
various agencies. These have been effective in part. I believe that if
they are tied together under the provisions of this bill that many of
those progratfis will be administered under this hill. This will make a
much more effective operation for the recipients by having these tied
together where they will know just where to go to get information
and the program they need.

These are the main, points that I want to make.
The only other thing would be that there is a definite-desire, I

believe, on the part of many people to diminish control at the
Federal level and to return the government to the people and to
encourage the making of decisions by local governments with again
the participation of the individuals who live in the towns andion the
farms and in the cities which are so badly in need of help and the
additional financial reAources which this bill provides.

Senator ALLEN. ThanWyou, Senator Leonard. I think your testi-.
mony will certainly be of benefit to the committee and we certainly
appreciate your coining and giving us the benefit of your views.

How long have you been in the West Virginia Senate?
Mrs. LEONARD. I was elected last November and I am serving my

first term in the Senate.
Senator ALLEN. A 4-year term?
Mrs. LEONARD. Yes, Senator Allen; it is 4 years.
Senator AttEN. And are you on the:agriculture commit tee?
Mrs. LEONARD. Yes, I am, because of the rural counties which I

represent this appointment was given to me.
Senator ALLEN. Mr. Wax was here. He was the witness who im-

mediately preceded you and he was speaking in behalf of the agri-
cultural conservation program, which is now the rural environmental
assistance program, I 'believe, and he was pointing out that under
the rural revenue sharing a program such as this would 'not be guaran-
teed support under this same setup, that it would have all the various
programs contending with the State for preference, and for their
share of the available money. What would be your thought about
that?

Mrs. LEONARD. Again, as I understand it, these programs that are
developed by this conunission must he reviewed through the legislature
and the legislature` does have something to say about their participa-
tion in them.

Senator ALLEN. Yes, but the money would not have to be -these
programs would not have to be carried out at the local level; that is
the theory of the legislation, that it falls into the new program, the
existing agricultural programs.

Mrs. LEONARD. I think the new program that is offered here is
the one that we should give a chance for its effectiveness, give it
every opportunity.

Senato ALLEN. I notice that you want to except out the Extension
Service.

Mrs. LEONARD. Yes.
Senator ALLEN. And I believe the administration has agreed to do

that, possibly guaranteeing that it gets as much support as it now
gets, but possibly 9.ot providing for increased support. Are there
other programs that are now being carried on that you would also
like to see saved?
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Mrs. LEONARD. Well, again we are talking about our 4-H program
and our home demonstration programs, to be specific. These are
some of the ones we are particularly interested in, and the fact that
they are covered so adequately- by existing legislation I would like to
suggest that they be left out of this bill and just continued as they are
under the Smith-Lever Act, because there is so much else that needs
to be done, and with this bill talking about aid in the areas of trans-
portation and industrial development, and investment in education.
and everything, it seems to me that perhaps the funds that are
available for revenue sharing should go to those purposes, in line with
this bill, while the other; which has been operating so well since
1914, shOuld be continued as is.

Senator ALLEN. Who decides that then? Would that be the
Congress or would that be the various States?

Mrs. LEONARD. Well, it has already been decided by the Congress,.
by the enactment of the Smith-Lever law, and it is already beint
administered through the Department of Agriculture and through
the land-grant universities down to the county level. So, my idea was
that that structure would remain the same; the administration would
remain the same, and separate from 1612.

Senator ALLEN. In oilier words, you would reserve after, then, the
Future Farmers and

Mrs. LEONARD. Yes.
Senator ALLEN (continued). As a part of the Extension Service?

Are they now separate from the Extension Service?
Mrs. LEONARD. I would like any of those existing programs which

affect the farmers and the Extension, and so forth, to be continued.
Senator ALLEN. In other words, all worthwhile programs, then

Ought to be continued by the Federal Government or by the State
after revenue sharing?

Mrs. LEONARD:As I understand it, it was done with matching
funds, and we will just continue that.

Senator ALLEN. That is the point though: One of the reasons for
the revenue sharing is that the special revenue -sharing, -in many
casesand I speak to this generallyin many cases a local ,contribu-
tion is required, and that is imposing a hardship on many local
governments.

So, the theory of special revenue shin:Dig, is that it would eliminate
local contribution and it would go to the State, so there would be no
programs to match. That would be the trouble, under the administra-
tion's rural revenue-sharing proposal, because these activities would-be
turned over to the local governments and they would carry on such
activities as they, wanted, and the Federal Government would be
getting out of those particular activities.

So there would not be anything to match unless the Federal Govern-
ment went on with additional programs.

Mrs. LEONARD. Yes; but as I understand it, the Federal Govern-
ment would provide the revenue sharing and the funds for these other
areas outside of the extension, because the things extend so far beyond
just simply the extension programs available to rural communities.
That is where I think we need aid. And that is where I am speaking
again from, my experience as .0 years as president of a planning
commission of a local small rural grassroots county whose tax base
doesn't make it possible for the municipalities to get the money to
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put in a new sewer system, let's say, or to get the money for other
Improvements: hospitals, and. such things as that. They just simply
do not have the means of raising funds to provide for their needs.
And this is the area where I would like to think that revenue sharing
will come in and provide these facilities for the people.

Senator ALLEN. But, the trouble is that revenue sharing comes in
the main, some 95 to 90 percent from existing programs, so it will not
be just a bunch of new money dumped over into the hands of the
States.

Mrs. LEONARD. No; I understand that, because I realize that we do
have so many programs available for which financing has already been
provided through the various agencies; I do understand that. And
again, so many times the local coimmity can't raise tlAr matching
funds to take advantage of it, and that is why I would like to see this
passed, so that they would be able to get that money and use it for
matching funds if they want to.

Senator ALLEN. The trouble is, though, that once they pass the
money over to the States, they would stop their own programs calling
for matching. They can't have their cake and eat it, too.

Mrs. LEONARD. You mean the State would stop it?
Senator ALLEN. No; the Federal Government would stop these

various programs, and the States would be riven the money that is
now being spent on these programs. That is where so e 85 to 9.0
percent of the money would come from and there wouldn't be anything
to match because the Federal Government would be ont of business
in those spejific- areas, see.

So, if the State decided to spend its money for one aspect of rural
development, there would be les4`oney, then I understand, for other
aspects.

Mrs. LEONARD. This is where I think the State development co-
mission is so important. They would be the ones to help establish the
priorities and where the money should be spent. It is not as though
one person could pick a pet project, shall we say, and say, "Well, this
is where the reveme-sharing funds are going to go." Again, I believe
there is an adequate safeguard there so that we could got into the
areas that we really need and which would benefit the most by the
use of these funds.

Senator ALLEN. Are there some of the programs here that you feel
the State should move the money from over to a more .desirable
program, any that you suggest t hat rho[ ld be curtailed or eliminated
once a program is adopted and is turned over to the States?

Mrs. LEONA RD. No; I am not suggesting, that.
Senator ALLEN. You want to keep the Extension Service? And I

do, too.
Mrs. LEONARD. Yes; when anything has stood the test of time the

way this Extension -program has withstood Ow test of time, I think
it is te mistake to change it. We have so many other things that we
need to be working on rather than to take the time to change some-
thing.which is already working well. I would rather address ourselves
to real progranis, such as the need for funds in our small communities
and in our rural areas.

Senator ALLEN. I note here in a booklet furnished by the White
House itself, that in the matter of the rural revenue s!haring, approx-
imatelyfor the fiscal year 1972 it would propose $962 million would
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be provided forirthis program throughout the country, but one way
they were going to get this $902 million was to take $278 million

from the Appalachian Regional Commission. You wouldn't be in

favor of that, would you?
Mrs. LEONARD. No; I an not familiar with the material that you

have.
Senator ALLEN. It sounds like a lot of money, but it is coining

from existing programs, in the main.
Mrs. LEoNvitn. This is what I understood that the President had

Si suggested, that these programs under the general revenue-sharing
aspect of this program, the money that would he combined under the
revenue sharing is your title V regional commissions, your Appa-
lachian Regional Commission, the Ecoanie Development Admin-
istration, resource conservation and development programs, the
Cooperative Agricultural Extension Service, the rural water and
waste disposal grants, and with regard to environment, your rural
environmental assistance program, forestry assistance, Great Plains
agricultural conservation programs, soil bank programs, ,and tree-
planting programs, that all ofthese are going to be combined under
the general revenue sharing, and that in addition

Senator ALLEN. Under special.
NIrs.sliEoNARD. I have the "general."
Senator ALLEN. The general. There is no strings attached at all.

Now, this is the special we are talking, about.
Mrs:. LEONARD. 1 hove the President's message with "general."
And again, in addition to this, there would he thin incroased fund-

ing there, the money already programed for these would be used,
and in addition, an additional amount of new money: $179 million.

And when we get down to special
'Senator ALLEN. So that there would be -this book here says:

$179 million in new funds, but $179 Million divided among 50 States
would he an average of less. than $4 million a State, you

So, it really wouldn't be a whole lot of new money pumped into the
economy, and especially when you then give up the Appalachian
Regional Commission, and the EDA to the tune.of $227 million--

Mrs. 1,EoNAlin. I didn't understand it so 11111(.11 as being given up
as when we are talking about, combining them under this act. I realize
that we are talking really about the transition and the changes it is
going to make, to bring them in under a new piece of legislation; I
realize that..

Senator ALLEN. They would not be combined; they would cease to
perform their .functions, and the State should select those portions
of their programs, that they Avant to carry on. That would be the size
of it.

But it would be your thought that with the elimination of the
extension service from the combination-- aml 1 feel sure the elimina-
tion of the Appalachian Regional Commissionthat it would be in
the best interest of the agricultural community and our rural areas
to give them more control over the projects and programs Unit they
carry on in the developni.ent of their rural areas?

Mrs. LEONARD. Yes; that is my understanding. And again, from
speaking to the people in the area where I live and the area which I_
represent in the State Senate, I really believe that I am speaking
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for them in 'asking that the extension service betaken out of this bill,
S. 1612.

Senator ALLEN. Yes; I think very definitely that is going to be done.
Now, do you feel that with these programs, existing programs folded

into a new program, and all of them calling on the State to carry on
their work, would there not be a wild scramble for funds at the hands
of the various States, and some worthwhile programs might be
eliminated?

Mrs. LEONARD. I think we have more less of a wild scramble
now where it comes to trying to get the funds from the various
agencies which provide them under the existing legislation at the pres-
ent time. I don't, see that it would-be any greater or any worse under
revenue sharing. And again, the safeguard is in your development
commission which, as I understand it, is really whew your decisions
are going to be made and your priorities are going to be set. Naturally
every county and town will be wanting to get their requests in.
Somebody is going to have to make a .decision, and again, not just
some one person, but this commission which was established just for
that purpose.

There is no question but what the requests will be coming flooding
in, and indeed they are already coming in. Frankly, I think the re-
quests will be answered faster under this revenue-sharing bill than
.under the existing system where applications lire filed and yeti have
to go through so many different steps before the actual funds are
allocated and granted, ,and you are ready to go ahead on a given
project.

I have had experience with this, and again with the local planning
commission in the county live, and I think that We will get action
faster through funds distributed this way than we are by the present
system.

Senator ALLEN. It might. expedite it.
Mrs. LEONARD. I really think that it will and I think that the people

will respond to this; and will have a greater voice at a locallevel, be-
cause again this is calling for local participation. I think this is very
important in the planning process everywhere. I think, too, we have
had the present system building up over a long period of years and
yet we need to do something different.

I think we all recognize that we have not through the present system
solved these needs 'and' met the requirements of county and local
government. So that I think that it is time now to look at a iiew ap-
proach and this isThe one that has been offered. It seems to me that it
has great possibilities, and I believe that it will be a great help to the
areas to which it is directed.

Senator ALLEN. Thank you very much, Senator Leonard. We thank
you for coming and we certainly want to congratulate the people of
your senatorial district for being so wise as to choose you for their
State senator.

Mrs. LEONARD. Thank you very much, senator Allen.
Senator ALLEN. We will recess now until 1:a0 p.m.
((Whereupon, at 12:25 o'clock p.m., a recess was taken until 1:30

o'clock p.m., this day.)
AFTERNOON SESSION

Senator ALLEN (presiding). The 'committee will please come to
order. Mr. Longmire, you may proceed.
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STATEMENT OF RICHARD C. LONGMIRE, VICE PRESIDENT AND

CHAIRMAN, LEGISLATIVE COORDINATION COMMITTEE, NA-

TIONAL ASSOCIATION OF CONSERVATION DISTRICTS, PAULS

VALLEY, OKLA

Mr. LONGMIRE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I am Richard C. Longmire of Paula Valley, Okla., vice president

and chairman of the legislative coordination committee of the National
Association of Conservation Districts (NACD). NACD represents
over 3,000 individual soil and water conservation and natural resource
districts; which are subdivisions of State government, . and their
associations in the 50 States, Puerto. Rico, and the Virgin Islands.

NACD is opposed to the passage of S. 1612, the proposed Rural
Community Development Revenue Sharing Act of 1971. We believe
that such a revenue-sharing program would be at the expense of on-
going Federal programs which are critically important to environ-
mental quality and productive capability on the privately-owned
lands of the Nation.

The provisions of S. 1612 would systematically- dismantle several
major conservation programs of the Federal Government which are
functioning successfully` and contributing to the public good. There is
no assurance that the State governments would use the funds trans-
ferred from these programs for the purposes that Congress, over the
years, has determined for them. All of the priorities laboriously estab-
lished to accomplish key public purposes and accommodate the con-
cerns of all citizens and interests involved would be discarded.

One of the purposes of S. 1612 and other "special revenue-sharing"
proposals, according to proponents, is the rationalization of categorical
grant-in-aid programs. 'Yet many of the programs that S. 1612 would
discontimre cannot be characterized as grant-in-aid programs.

Conservation disqicts are closely involved in the administration and
implementation of several of the programs proposed for discontinuance.
In some cases, such as resource conservation and development projects,
they are principal sponsors. Yet soil and water conservation districts,
as well as other special subdivisions of State government, are spe-
cificially excluded from participation in planning for the use of the
"shared" funds and in setting priorities for their use. 4

NACD believes in the principle of local self government. The
activities of our memberconservation districts are founded and carried
out in accordance with that principle. Throughout the Nation, over
18,000 men and women, who are contributing their time and services,
are administering the work of the districts:

Yet we realize that assistance from the States and the Federal
Government is necessary for success with the tasks of conservation and
natural resource development. Experience has proven that a 'partner-
sNip effort among the three levels of government is the most effective
way to accomplish our conservation objectives. Each of our districts
has entered into a memorandum of understanding with the U.S.
Department of Agriculture as a key element- in this partnership
approach.

In this way, there is a meaningful and effective sharing of funds,
commitment, and effort in achieving wise and sustained use of natural
resources on the privately owned lands of the nation.
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proud that conservation districts a n' the principal sponsors of every
project of this kind in the Nation.

There are other sections of this proposed legislation to which we
object. also, such as those ending FDA water and sewer grants, Ex-
tension Service programs in the field of conservation, the conservation
provisions of the Appalachian Regional Development Act, and others.

Although the proponents of this legislation argue that State govern-'
ments would not necessarily abandon the kinds of work -being carried
on under each of these programs, there is no guarantee that they
would not-indeed, do just that. The State planning bodies would have
no representation from the local governments most experienced in
natural resource development. There %vould be no .consistency from
State to State in conservation work that is distinctly regional in
nature, such as the Great Plains conservation program. The efficient
system of regulations and administrative arrangements developed by
the Federal Government to protect the use of public funds and assure
that they are spent in accordance with scientifie eons*vation principles
would be lost.

In our opinion, S. 1612 could result in the destruction of many of
the Nation's most respected conservation and environmental improve-
ment programs. We urge your committee to reject it.

Thank you for this opportunity to present our views.
Senator ALLEN. Thank you, Mr. Longmire. We appreciate your

testimony and we appreciate your going to the trouble to come before
this committee, and giving us the-benefit of yciur views.

Mr. Longmire, do you know of any great demand by the public or
from'the rural community for legislation of this sort?

Mr. LONGMME. I really don't Mr. Chairman; I am a farmer
myself, and I associate %rith. a lot of farmer's organizations and farm
people, and frankly I haven't seen anyone in the farm community
that is in favor of revenue sinning of this type.

Senator ALLEN. It is liot, a prOgram that had its origin with a
public demand, to reform the agricultural and rural programs of the
Federal Government; is it?

Mr. LoxGmutE. It surely isn't.
Senator ALLEN. Those programs in which you and the National

Association of Conservation Districts are interested, in effect, %yould
be wiped out or folded into the revenue-sharing programs. Is there
any danger that. they will le carried on under State controls?

Mr. LONGMIRE. Frankly, I don't think there is. I think there
would possibly be some of the programs, but I think there won't
be nearly 11.9 M 11 Money available.

And we have seen- something recently in tiny State. Yon know that
Congress appropriated maw money to the Department of Agriculture
and the Soil Conservation Service this year to expand

of -these
of these on-

going programs, anThthere has been a freeze of sonic Of 'these funds-and
we are not getting any more than we have in the past. But at the
same time, just 2 or 3 weeks ago there were several million dollars
sent down to my State for unemployment relief and the rural'com-
munity got little of it; it mostly went to the larger municipalities and

So, I am afraid that agriculture has got to be left holding the sack.

63- 582-71----pt. 6-6
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Senator ALEN. Would not S. 1612 require the various States to
enact far- reaching new programs' to, take up the slack taus by the

.

Federal Government getting out of these fields?
,

Mr. LONGMI RE. Well,. v,e would- have to have some kind of organiza-
tion or bureaucratic setup.

Senator ALLEN. Are there progras,.in the various States that would
permit the States to carry on in these general areds of rural develop-
ent progranis?

Mr. Lorcomr RE. I don't think there are in my State; I can't say for.
all of them, but in my State there are not.

Senator ALLEN. So, it would take a vast new revamping of State
laws? -

LoNstan-RE. It certainkv would.
Senator ALLEN. Now, the various programs now in existence would

he folded into the, new programs. Would they not then be scramble
for these funds at the State level?

Mr. LONG;IIRE. There sure would.
Senator ALLEN. Resulting possibly in many other pro-grams now

Wing carried on being dropped at the State level?
Mr. 1,0-sgmntE. Right.
St'llebtOr ALLEN. No\Y do you care to make any recommendations

as to-- what is your jtalphent as to the programs that should be dropped
at the State level, if any?

Mr. LONGMTtE; I don't think any should be,dropped.Of,cour e the
ones that we are really interested in and the ones that 1 speeilqd in
my testimony, we think ought to be strengthened. We think the

'.-Npartment of Agriculture should be strengthened; we don't Oink
it should be reduced to a secondary position in the Cabinet-. Agriculturu
is one of the thingssthat has built this great Nation of ours to where it
is and would hate to see it relegated to a second-class word in our
vocabulary the way some people would like for it to be:

Senator ALLEN. IT S. 1612 is enacted, it would require a major cut
hack in U.S. Soil Conservation Service personnel, would it not in your
judgment? That is: if the States do not choose to carry on the prot
grams at the present level, wouhl it not chIl for a big cutback?

Mr. LONUMIRE. It would.call for a big cutback. I presume that these
flids, revenue-sharing hinds, will eonie down with A-95 stainped on
them, won't they? They will.go through the,St ate planning agency.

Senator ALLEN. That u ill be determined by the arious States in-
volved, as to how they 'spend it.

Mr. LoNumnrE.., I am fearful that all of our agricultural programs.
will he cui back, not only the Soil Conservation Service; but -many of
the others.

Settator,;AL-Lfp.;-. What would hecorAe of the various U.S. Govern-
..

Ideut employees now as,soeated with these various -programs?
LONGM1RE. They would be unemployed, I presume.'

Senator ALLEN^. I don't suppose Phereis any great demand by 4he
departments involved to :41 S. 1612 enacted, then, is. there?,

LONG:14111E. I W011hilif t think
Senator ALLEN: Well, the States; then, 'eould-;eliminate stich pro-

grams as they wanted to and could strengths sorAiksuill. drop others,
and there would be lac) assurance that .anv of "these', pgrams would be
under control at the State,ley , is thereY-- 4

8 ,
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Mr. Lorsmmthitt. The way we see it there would not be any assurance.
I Senator ALLEN:Do you' feel that S. 1612 is inthe best interest of
the farmer and the rural community?

Mr. LONGMIRE. I definitely think it is not.
Servitor ALLEN. Isn't there a great demand for money, for funds at

the State level now, and would there be a likelihood or a possibility
that funds now channeled into the States in lieu of the present gov-
ernment programs would be used to take up some of the slack in the
existing programs that the States have, rather than carrying on these
programs of Federal GovernMent?

Mr. LONGMIRE. I don't know whether there would be or not. The
people in agriculture are so in the minority- today that I am afraid
that we are going to have to look to the Vederal Government to
protect our industry through the States.

Senator ALLEN. Yes, but the point I was suggesting was that this
Money be channeled through the States, that instead.of carrying out
the exist'ing programs in some way, fulfilling_ those needs, that money
might be spent in programs that the 'State already have that are not
related to the programs.

Mr. LoNnhimE. I think you are right, sir.
Senator ALLEN. Do you have any suggestions as to how conserva-

tion programs. and conservation personnel might be utilized to improve
and'strengthen rural development offorts?

Mr. LONGMIRE. I have some very-definite ideas. I think that con-
sett-vation of our natural resources and our small watershed develop-
ment i> rural develOpment. This creates water supplies, municipal
water supplies, and protects not only rural but urban areas from
flooding, and it gidlis us what we think in our State is one of the
greatest things there is for rural development: recreation. We think
we are improvingf. and maintaining our environment day by day by,,
conservation methods. We don't know whether xe want a factory
out there or not, but we' mow watershed projects create jobs, and,
that the conservation of our natural resources creates. jobs. We are
proud of our grass and our trees and we don't want to destroy them;
we want to conserve them and use them.

Senator ALLEN. There-would be no assurance, then, that the States
would carry on the' important conservation programs?

Mr. LONOMIRE. I -think most of the States would, but what type
don't know. And: we are real happy with the ones we have now.

Senator ALLEN. So it is your thought: why give up a tried and true
program, a proven program for a chance to participate in such a pro-
gram at the state level?

Mr, LotinivituE. That is right, sir.
Senator ALLEN. Who seems to be pushing this proposed legislation?

We are trying to find out.
Mr. LONGMIRE. Well, frankly, I haven't talked to anyone that has

of course, it-has been mainly people in the field of conservation and
agriculture that I have talked to. I haven't talked to anyone that has
really favored it. So, frankly I can't answer your question.

Senator AliEN. Yon don't know of any people who are backing it
in the agricultural community?

Mr. LONGMIRE. NO:
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Senator ALLEN. And I tbelieve you said you did not favor doing
away with the DepartMent of Agriculture as a Cabinet position and
merging it into some sort of Government reorganiiation?

Mr. LONGMIRE. No, sir; I am definitely opposed to it.
Senator ALLEN. That would be it further indication of downgrading

agriculture in our rural areas; would it not?
Mr. LONGMIRE. That is right,.sir. -

"Senator ALLEN. Thank you very much, Mr. Longtnire. Yoh %yen, a
splendid witness.

Mr. LONGMIRE. Thank you.
Senator ALLEN. Mr. Pomeroy, please.
We are delighted to have you here before the committee. and wv.

look forward to hearing your testimony.

STATEMENT OF KENNETH B. POMEROY, CHIEF FORESTER,
AMERICAN FORESTRY ASSOCIATION

Mr. POMEROY. Mr. Chairthan, I am Kenneth B. Pomeniy, chief of
forestry of the American Forestry Association.

The Rural Community Development Revenue Sharing Act of 1971
has a worthy purpose in that it seeks to improve the quality or rural
life. But the methods proposed are not desirable, Therefore, the
American Forestry Association recommends that this proposal not be
enacted.

The bill recognizes the need for forestry and tree planting assist-
ance, forest pest control, eooperative forest management. Great Plains
conservation, resource conservation and development, rural environ-
mental assistance, and related natural resource programs. Yet S. 1612
terminates Federal supervision over these vital programs and leaves
it to the States and territories to decide which prograMs they wish to
emphasize.

In effect, S. 1612 substitutes 53 different combinations of local
priorities for one set of recognized national. goals. It is a ticket, to
confusion and disaster.

As an example of what can happen, please consider the (Atrrionve
of local communities during the great, fires in NI.nitie in 1947. h
town operated as an independent unit. While one town constructed
lines to control the fires; another town set backfires %%hie!) wiped out
the achievements of its neighbor. The Governor hickekl authority to
coordinate their efforts.

So it will be with other natural resource programs if administration
through a central agency is eliminated. The constnictive efforts of
some States will be offset, by diverse interests of other States.

The authors of S. 1612 have recognized this problem with respect
to the Extension Service. Section 202(3)(e) .requires each State to
continue to carry out a program of agricultural extension comparable
in size and type to the present program. Does this provision imply that
the Extension Service is weaker than other programs? Or does it i,ean
it is more important than other programs? if such a provision is needed
to maintain Extension work, then why not apply the same require-
ment to each of the other programs?

The arrangement proposed in S. 1612 is a poor substitute for the
present system in which the Appropriations Committees of the 'Con-

85,
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gress annually .weigh the relative merits and needs of each program
with respect to national-goals and priorities.

It is4L_Annerided that S. 1612 not be enacted.
Mr. 'Chairman, may I suppleinent.this statement with a review of

cooperative forest fire protection?
Senator ALLEN. Yes; we would be delighted to hear from you.

Proceed.
Mr. PomunoY. Some States enacted fire laws, soon after the Decla-

ration of Independence, but these laws were ineffective because the
-States lacked means of enforcement. This situation came to a climax
in 1875, when some 1,500 people lost their lives in the great peshtigo.
fire in Wisconsin.

In 1875 the American Foresty Association was organized to see
what could be done. Its earliest recommendations were for the fl)kleral
Government to set an example by creating forest reserves outrof the

. land still in public ownership. This led to the establishment of the
national forests.

In 1911 Federal cooperation with States in foresty matters became
possible through the Weeks Act. This program was strengthened in.
the Clarke-Mc Nary Act of 1924, but all States did not enter into the
cooperative forest fire protection program, and litill until the 1960's;
and quite a few counties in Florida, North Carolina, Ohio, Illinois;
Mistiotiri, and Arkansas still do -not participate.

What do you think the result will be if the entire program is thrown
back to the States? -a

Thank you, sir.
Senator ALLEN. Thank you, Mr. Pomerby.
You recommend, then, that this rural revenue-sharing legislation

as proposed by the administration: not' e enacted?
Mr. POMEROY. Yes, sir. , )

Senator ALLEN. It is your feeling, I pr me, that if the various
programs now in existence are eliminated or intonto the revenue -
sharingSharing programs, that some States might C try on a forestry pro-
gram, and others might carry on such a program, .and that it would
be in a State of chaos as far as the various State programs are con-
cerned?

Mr. POMEROY. Theis 9111T V env.
adminis-

tration would allow the States o pick and choose as to the Tyrograms
Senator ALLEN. Now, this rel. enue-sharing program of the

,. that they wish to have and the m4thod that they wish to have to
implement those programs iindin some States they might not .have
any program at Q, and other States might have one aspect of the
forestry program, and not have another -aspect, so that you would
not know in one State what the situation was in another State.

Mfr. POMEROY. That is true. It is our feeling that the local people
would be mtich more susceptible to pressure'than,a gentleman of your
stature in the National Capital.

Senator ALLEN. If all of the programs, existing programs, were
folded into the new program, would there not be a wild scramble for
funds on the part of the various beneficiaries of the various programs?
'1.- Mr. PomEnor. There most certainly would and also I think yoU
would be assured that the immediate short-range results would
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probably get preference,over long-range programs such as tree planting
and this type of thing. It would be the natural was for people to react.

Senator ALLEN. Do you think it is wise for the Federal Government,
to abandon the programs which have been found to be sound and a
benefit to the people of the country, and turn the management and
decision as to these programs over to 50 States, and possibly some of
the territories?

Mr. POMEROY. We think that these programs have'been proven
over the years, over a nuinber of decades, and it would be a step
backward.

Senator ALLEN, Does anybody in the American Forestry Associa-
tion feel that S. 1612 is for the benefit of the forestry industry?

Mr. POMEROY. WO have 83,000 members and we have not received
one letter in support of this.proposal from among our members.

Senator ALLEN. This proposal, then, does not come from the
grassroots; does it?

Mr. POMEROY. No.
Senator ALLEN. From rural America?
Mr. POMEROY. We don't think so.
Senator ALLEN. Do you see where the rural coimminity will

benefit by this program as proposed by the adMinistration.
Mr. Ron EROY. Well, I am always it little hesitant to make a bread,

sweeping statement, because there are local things that you need, but
there are long-range things that you need,--too, and we just don't
think it would be it good idea to have every State trying to decide its
of n future, when you have got a national goal that ought to be viewed.

Let me take you back a little bit to some things we saw in England
on a recent visit over there. I just came back last week. The British
have been plant it.,r white oak for centuries in order to support their
Navy. It is a natural thing for the. British to do and they are a big
naval power. But, in repeating planting of white oak they have fallen
into sonie of the problems that you have when you concentrate on a
single thing: they have developed a rot that ruins all their white oak.

So now they are getting rid of White oak in order to plant conifers
and they are using conifers from the United States.

Now, if we had each State trying to follow its-own future, \\ 0111(111't
we have some of this sort bf thing? We think you need-a broad central
program to push these through.

Senator ALLEN. Now, if these programs are folded into the new
program, an 6. the money withdrawn from them and put over into a
fimd to go to the States as part of a special revenue-sharing program,
is it not possible that, say25 States would carry on a rural en yiron-
mental assistance program, some 20 States might carry on a water
-bank progrun, 15 States might carry on a foresty program, and in
the .States *here these programs were not carried on, would there
not then be a hue and cry among the people to go back as to
specific programs to a Federal program to meet those needs?

Mr. POMEROY. I think there would be.
Senator ALLEN. And wouldn't we then have to go through this

very same.thing of our.setting up these Federal programs anew?
Mr. POMEROY. I am glad that you mentioned the water bank

program' particularly, because streams run through several States
sometimes.
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Senator ALLEN. Yes; that is true.
Mr. POMEROY. And you can't have one State with one program

and another State with a different program; it won't work.
Senator ALLEN. The present programs are of benefit to the people;

are they not?
Mr.. POMEROY. They certainly are.
Senator ALLEN. If the work of these programs is not carried on

by all of the States, will the people insist that the Federal Government
retake theta?

Mr. PomEnov. I should think so.
Senator ALLEN. Leaving the Federal Government with its subsidy

program for rural development and still being called upon to institute
trogroms to take up the slack in those areas where the States have
notfrone forward NNith he programs?

Mr. POMEROY. They would have to recapture a lot of lost ground.
Senator ALIEN. Yes; so, there is a whole lot of room for considerable

chaos here in going along with the 1612; is that your thought?
Mr. Pumunot. Yes, sir.
Senator ALLEN. Thank you very much.
Mr. POMEROY. Thank you, sfr.
Senator ALLEN.- Mr. Scott Wallinger, ease.
Mr. Wallinger, you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF R. SCOTT WALLINGER, FOREST FARMERS ASSOCIA-

TION, CHARLESTON, S.C.; ALSO REPRESENTING THE SOUTH
CAROLINA FORESTRY STUDY COMMITTEE

Mr. WALLINGER. Mr. Chairman, my name is R. Scott Wallinger,
and I am appearing as a representative of the Forest Farmers Asso-
ciation. With the committee's permission, I would like to present our
association's views on S. 1612, a bill to establish a revenue-sharing
program for rural development.

And with your permission, sir, T would like to inject a few extem-
poraneous comments derived from some of the discussion that has
vire-tidy taken plaice.

Senator ALLEN. We would be glad to hear you.
Mr. WALLrrstomi. My own company, Westvaco Corp., formerly

known as the West Virginia Pulp & Paper Co., is a member of
Forest Farmers Association. ITowever, the majority of our org,ariza-
tion's members are small- to medium-size timberland owners in 15
Southern States.

I amalso authorized to speak ftir the Sout h Carolina ForeStry Study
Committee, an official State body charged with the responsibility for
continuing study of the requirements for fuller development of South
Carolina's forest resources.

In my testimony I will refer to the southern forest resources analy-
, 4 Els, which was cosponsored by the Forest Farmers Association. This

analysis resulted in the report, `:`The South's Third Forest," which I
believe various members of the committee are familiar with.

As the third forest report indicates, over 70 percent of the South's
forest area-143 million acres out of a total of 200 million acres total
is owned by private nonindustrial owners. These are the small land-
owners we hear so much about.

8 6
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South Carolina is a function of what the State of South Carolina de-
cides is necessary, which has a tremendous bearing on the 'people who
want new homes in New York City or San Francisco or elsewhere,
and I don't think that we can afford to have national goals of this
magnitude jeopardized by whether or not a local agency decides to
continue a program. at an existing level or decides to cut it back in
favor of a short-term need.

The Southern forest resource analysis shop that our southern
forests urgently need vastly greater development and greater not
less protection. Congress recently recognized this by voting addi-
tional funds for cooperative forest fire control (('M-2). Now we are
considering a bill which would almost certainly- take a portion of these
funds away.

Another point of major concern to the Forest Farmers Association
is the system of allocation for funds proposed in S. 1 61 2. A principal
criterion is population density, without any consideration to the lo-
cation of our forest resources. Such 11 system would almost certainly
inVite disaster. One example should suffice. Los Angeles County,
Calif.,' would fare poorly in the distribution of funds because of its
high population density, yet I scarcely need to mention the terrific
forest fire problem encountered. there.

Siutilatr difficulties could be anticipated throughout the country,
if S. 1 1;1 2 were enacted.

Funds for development of our natural resources simply do not
belong in a measure such as t his. Although I have stressed the forestry
items, many of these same points \\Amid apply as the measure treats
the soil ( 'on..,erv,t ion Service, Extension Services, et cetera.

The Forest Farmers Association strongly favor, cooperative match-
ing fund prograins versus outright grants by the-Federal Government.
The Federal share could be greatly increased to, perhaps, P, 90 percent
FN re,1-10 percent State basis, if this is felt desirable. We feel strongly,
however. that the governmental b.oly spending the money should have
some .responsibilitv for raising a portion of they funds,

committee.'s consideration to these views presented On behalf
of the Forest Farmers Association is invited and will be appreciated.

Thank you for your courtesy in hearing me.
Senator ALLEN. Thank you, Wr.11inger. We apprecb.te your

coming lief-pre the committee and giving its the benefit of your views
turd t he Forest F11.1111elS Association.

I notice phi sax that we are going to have to have an additional
30 million acres of forest...land if we are to meet the year 2000 needs.
and those acres will have to be planted in the next 15 years.

Where do you think they ore going to come from?
Mr. WALLINGER. TIrds 31) million acres is derived from the "Sooth's

Third Forest." and it is based on the area in the 15Stalthern States
that is now either eoMpletely unproductive, cutover land, or unpro-
ductive forestland, and so forth loud .t that is very poorly stocked.
And additional improvements can be produced through timber stand
improvements, and we are talking about a program to meet the year
2001) levels that would have to be funded from all sources at approxi-
mately $100 million a year.

(
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We have determined in South Carolina alone that our program
sbculd operate -at a level of $5 million a year to be invested in timber
.stand improvement and tree planting and all-of this is, of course, a
rural activity: ( 'tirrently in South ('rrolina we are getting in the neigh-
borhoed of $2S5,000 a year from ACP funds, now the REAP program.
But, this comes very close to the 5- or 6-percent figure that was men-
tioned by one of the witnesses earlier this morning in terms of the
level of participation.

And we are well aware that landowners are meeting mortgage
payments and trying to pay for their oar and get their kills through
school, and don't have the Money to invest in the programs that have
20- and 30-year retirements,

Senator ALLEN. Those 30;million acres ore in 15 Southern States?
Mr. WALLINGEIL That is correct, sir. That was the basis for the

Southern Forest Resource Analysis, which was a combined study of
the southern resources. Of counlie, we are projecting that by the year
2000 the South will be .producing well over one-half of the Nation's
wood requirements, and close to two-thirds.

Senator ALLEN. What about these strip mines? Is there any
possibility of having forests planted there?

Mr. W AwsuEa. Yes, there is. In fact, there are programs already
underway ill' the areas where there are strip, reclamation projects
and t his is an activity that should be expanded. It has a heavy cost,
but a lot of research has been done, and I think the TVA has been
very itistrument al in developing the techniques, the technology of
strip mine reclamation:, And, a lot of what they bave learned will be
implemented with., proper funding.

Senator ALLEN. The present Federal programs, are they adequate
to serve the needs .0f,--,the4leveloptnent_of our forests over the years,
in your judgmete .

Mr. WAI.1.1NnEa. We feel that,ther:litiye been very helpful, but
we feel that:4114 are far fromradequate for-Nvhat. is necessary to do
the job.-fr.

SentitnrALLEN. HOW. dO'-you think you would fare under strictly
State a pproPriations'if these, funds were folded back into this rural
reventle-sharing program?

Mr. WALLINGER. Senator Allen, I am not optimistic at all as to
how we would fare. I think we would he lucky to maintain the status
quo on portions, much less than to continue to advance. We have been
making steady progress in recent years. through, the CFNI fund that
Mr. Pomeroy has mentioned, and these other prograrthi that have been
a great stimulus. Andwe feel that the great need now is the matching
type of funds- tp support directly the agencies in the State than have,
been implementing the programs,- -and also -to nroyide the funds td.,..the landowner to help them get their- land-mto production.

There are many landowners who would develop their-land if they
had the financial resources, hut a man-working for wages_ just doesn't
have the money to tie up.

;Senator. ALLEN. There would be no further matching of these
funds ,puMped back into the States on the revenue-sharing basis,
would there? That is 100-percent sharing, and there would be no

'further matlhing of that, the State taking that money and asking
for matching, would there?

9
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N1r. WALLisnlitt. No; there wouldn't be'.
Senator ALLEN. So you would prefer, then, a sure, tried and proven

program that, while not altogether adequate now, gives promise of
becoming adequate, rather than to participate in a scramble for these
funds if turned back to the States?

Mr. WALLi'N GER,. Yes, sir; that is our position.
Senator ALLEN. Now; have you heard of any segment of the

agricultural or the rural community advocating S. 1012 or stating
that they would fare better under S.' 1012?

Nit.. WALLN-Gnu. No, haven't come i contact with anyone
who would be ktprtnative on either of those points.

Senator ALIJA Do you feel that this is a grassroots Movement to
pass this legislation, or does it cinne merely from. the administration?

Mr. W4LLimiEtt. This is soling mug we feel that has ,come down from
the top. The position. of these people that I have been in touch with
has,been one4of reaction to something which has occurred, rather than
any effort to create a program of this type.

Senator ALLEN. Is this revenue program,' revenue-sharing program
loT rural development --if enacted, is it not likely that the States would
fund each one of these programs that the Federal Government has?
-Some would be doubled or tripled, and soide would be elitninated
altogether; wouldn't that bd your thought?

WALI.INGE. I think so.
SCIlat,01' ALLEN. NOW, as to those program:4 which were eliminated

in the various States, since there is a need, demonstrated need for the
program, would there not be a movement throughout the country to
reinstate on the Federal level the very same programs that the Federal
Government seeks to fold into the new programs?

Mr. WALLINGER. I very definitely think so, Senator. We very
strongly favor the approach, for example, in the USDA forestry in-
centive program and as I have indicated, at the current levels the
funding is far short of what is needed to do the job to develop the
forest resources in the South. .

If .ia had the revenue-sharing program implemented, and main-
tained our position financially within the funds of that, we would still
need additional funds from somewhere to get the job done.

Senator ALLEN. DO you feel dug the program as contemplated by
S. 1612, would be of Iwnefit to rural areas?

Mr. WA MANGER. I don't feel that it would improve their position
w hatsoever over the present situation and I feel that there is a good
risk t hat it would be detrimental.

Senator ALLEN. Now, as to t-he forestry- program, what additional
recommendations would you make to improving that program if it is
carried On under its present basis?

Mr. VALLINGER. We feel that probably the most important pro-
gram t fiat we have in terms of on-the-ground forestry in the South is
the REAP progratn, and a strengthening of thal would be very
beneficial. The strengthening of CFNI programs, the cooperative forest
fire control, and things of that nature, have a more subtle influence. I
think they becoMe more speetaQnlar Py their absence than they are in
effect. I think that we very definitely would like to see a strengthening
of the existing cooperating forest fire control programs, the CFM
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programs that get more professional people on the ground to work with
landowners.

As an example of our present program'iti South Carolina, with the
combined State and Federal moneys providing foresters to go into the
field, our State forester just a few years ago brought out that he had
the manpower to reach each landowner in the State about one in
every 20 years to give him professional forestry advice. And the pro-
gram has improved

Senator ALLEN. You do have a long-range program on that kind
of basis?

Mr. WALLINGER. That is right, and this has been. one of the most
beneficial aspects of the ('FM program. And also the resource con-
servation and development 'program is putting technical people on
the ground to work with landowners and help them coordinate and
develop their activities.

Thy second thing, along with the good recommendations, many
management plans itave been prepared and the landowner doesn't
have the financial resources to implement tlit. program, although we
have sometldng on paper. And more and more NNc are finding that we
have reached a situation where .t he money to implement the pro-
"gram on the ground, to pay the cost, of getting the land ready for
planting, to pay the cost of getting the trees in the ground., to improve
the growing stock, and things of that nature, are becoming the limiting
fact or in the South as to Nvhnt we can do to develop our forestry
resources.

On the other hand we know that if we ((NH develop it anywhere
needr its capacity that we can double the production of our land and
we will have to do this to meet goals only three decodes away. And
of course, the industries which use this resource are essentially rural
industries.

The paper industry, %%Wl some exceptions, is generally a small
town or small city industry. The lumber industry- is almost entirely
a rural-based industry, in the smallest towns. And the southern
industry has become much more sophisticated. It is not a bunch of
scattered, small sawmills any more, but there are large establishments
in small towns with year=round employment and good wages.

Senator ALLEN'. ti. 113 14, then, would seem to sound good in theory,
but NOW!' put into practice might cause hardships or destruction of
valuable programs and chaos among those programs throughout the
50 States?

Mr. WALL1NGER. IPS, sir. We feel the objectives are very fine, but
when we take into account the implementation procedures, we don't
feel that the program will achieve the results that are set out for it.

Senator ALLEN. Would your thought be different if their were
new funds rather than a reshuffling of existing funds in the main?

Mr. WALL1NGER. I think that if there were substantial new funds
that we might have some different thoughts on it, but as long as we
are talking about the same money, or essentially the same money as
we are in this case, WP find little incentive to make 'a change.

Senator ALLEN. T1111 Ilk you very nitwit, NIr. Wolfinger. We appre-
ciate your coming before the committee and giving us' the benefit
of your views.

Mr. WALLusomt. Thank you very much, sir.

3
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Senator ALLEN. Senator Burdick, we would be delighted to hear
.

from you at this time. You may proceed, sir.

STATEMENT OF HON. QUENTIN N. I3URDICK, A U.S. SENATOR FROM
THE STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA

Senator BitfinteK. Mr. CloLirman, and members of the committee,
first I would like to ask unanimous consent to have my entire state-
ment made a part of the record.

Senator ALLEN. Without objection, it is so ordered.
Senator B1-noicK. N1r. Chairaian, I want to express my complete

agreement with the statement of findings in S. 1612, the runt com-
munity development re venue-sliaring proposal, which silys that "malty
rural areas of the Nation, while rich in natural resources and potential,
have lagged behind the rest of the Nation in economic growth, and
that the people of these rural areas have not shared in the Nation's
prosperity."

Upon examining the details of the proposal, how ever, I find that
I do not see how this bill, if enacted. %void(' achieve all of the- good
intentions stated: to generate increased employment opportunities,
to improve the quality and accessibility of rural community facilities
and services to stem outmigration frorw.rural areas, to encourage
private in'vestment in industrial, agriculf,iTfal, and commercial enter-
prise, to protect and conserve .nature,1 resources, and to solve farm,
home, and community problems.

These Pre .,,reat '.Is, and ringing phrases, but I fear there is more
shadow than substance here. The programs which have been of
greatest help to the conservation of soil and water, to the inipmvement
of thea-quality of life in North I)akota,seeni to me to be in the greatest
clanger of abandonment if this le.',,islation ever became a reality on the,
statute books.

The claim that the funds available for these grant-in-aid programs,
if pooled and turned over to the individual States according to a
cumbersome formula based almost entirely on population figures,
would result in a, balanced rural development, plan meeting more
exactly the individual needs of the rural areas is misleading. These
programs have not been abstractly plotted by bureaucrats in Washing-
ton who think they know best what the local people want.

REAP, the Agricultural Conservation program, has always been
tailored to the needs of each county by recommendations of the local
county and community ASC committeemen. Ilhis is a cost-share
program; almo'st every dollar of Federal money spent lias resulted in
$2 worth of conservation practices. For more than 30 years farmers
have been practicing what now the ecologists tire preaching:
control of pollution of the rivers and streams, the lakes and ponds,
by erosion-control practices.

If the great water-using industries and city planners had. spent
half the time and careful thought on pollution-control measures as
our Amefican farmers, we would not how be faced with the shocking
sight and stench of dead lakes and sewer-like streams.

The other programs that would be turned over to the States, to be
continued in some form or disearded, are also planned and carried
out with the full cooperation of local and State authorities and citizen
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groups. Resource conservation and -development programs, multi-
county planning and development efforts, enable units of Scate and
local government to develop and carry out project plans for orderly
conservation, improvement, and development of natural resources. The
Soil Conservation Service provides technical help and funds and the
Farmers Home Administration cooperates with loans.

The Great Plains conservation program, one of growing impvetance
in North Dakota, is administered to meet the very specific needs of
iRdividual ranchers and groups of ranchers. The value of returning
land now ill crops to grassland cannot be overemphasized in the
prairie States.

Forest Service grant-in-aid programs are by law directed toward
fire prevention and .suppression on private lands, the production and
distribution of tree seedlings on State and private lands, and forest
management programs to aid private woodland owners. The Forest
Service establishes the broad national goals and objectives of these
programs but State government officials, State foresters, and 'land-
owners work together on these cooperative programs.

One of the most valuable, of the programs in terms of strengthening,
rural conummities 'is the water and waste disposal program admin-
istered by the Farmers Home Administration. This is a program which,
since its inception in 1965, has upgraded the standard of living of rural
residents while attracting new business operations into rural communi-
ties all over the country. When a program such as this has proved so
successful, why -should it not be continued and strengthened in its
present circumstances? Funds for this program too would be`thrown
into the rural revenue-sharing pool. .

All of these programs have operated for years throughthe close co-
operation of local and State government.

S. 1612 as- presented would include the Federal funds now made
available to the Cooperative Extension Service but I understand
second thoughtti on the part of the administration would exempt that
program from the effects of the proposal.

Of great concern to the people of North Di ot a and to conservation
and wildlife interests of the entire .countr s the inclusion in S; 1612 of
the new water bank program, Public Law 91-559, enacted December
19,1970, and funded in this session of Congress.

This program was designed to preserve and enlyanco migratory
waterfowl breeding and nesting areas-- the "wetlands" --without
placing an undue burden on the individuals whose holdings encompass
some wetlands. Ntativ wetlands areas can be, and have bocoine, highly
productive cropland when properly drained. When this happens the
land's value as a breeding area ceases or is materially lessened. The
water bank offers the farmer or rancher annual payments for his
agreement not to drain, burn, or fill Stich ,areas for the duration of the
'contract, 10 years. 'rho landowner is under no compulsion to partici-
pate, but must simply decide if the ecorcomic gains iii participation
outweigh the economic benefit to be realized by draining the wetlands.

The passage of the Water Bank Act was the cuhninat ion of years of
concerted effort by various public and private -agencies and farm
groups. It had the active support of North Dakota State government
officials, the North Dakota State University, the National Wildlife
Federation, the North Dakot a Wildlife Federation, the Wildlife
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Management Institute, the Mississippi Flyway Council, the North
Dakota and National Associations of Soil Conservation Districts,
and the North Dakota St ate Water Con 'mission and ninny other
agencies and groups. I am not aware of any opposition to the proposal
in Inv State.

When sit) million Was provided by Congress in the bill making
appropriations for the Department ,of Agriculture and environmental
and conskun'er protection programs for fiscal year 1972, all of the
interested organizations and individulds felt t hat immediate steps
would be taken to implenynt the pTograin, which was to be adinis-
tered by AST'S. When the rural revenue-sharing proposal was made
piddle this siring, Iwrote to the U.S. Department of Agriculture,
asking for specifre in form tion cm t he handling of the water hank
program" under -the rural revenue-AA-Mg.. proposal. I asked:

(1) In transferring t he funds to tfie States, what stain lards
would govern the amounts going to each State?

(2) What steps would be taken to insure that a State did
devote these funds to pursuing the objectives of the Water Bank
Act? -. .

The reply stated, in Bart: "The major portion of the proposed hinds
distribution for each State would be according to formulas principally
Iiased upon . mind population percentages, per capita incomes, and

-.population change percentages * *"
Mr. Chairman, the water batik program has nothing. to +19 with

rural. population, per capita income, or population pereentages, It hits
to do with the preservation of wetlands, most'y prairie pOthole
lands, where migratory waterfowl nest and breed. Arid I want to say
at this time, \Ir. Chairman, that the production of ducks in My State
is not for North Dakota alone; it. is for the entire Nation.' So we
can't base the program upon these population figures:

There are more then lq million .acres of such wetlands in North
Dakota. More than hid( the game 'ducks in this country are hatched
in the Dakotas, and western.AlinneSota.

The letter from the Department of Agriculture also pointed out
that athere is no. provision in 1612/that a State must devote any
of these funds to pursuing the specific ohjeiftives of the Wider
Dank Act."

The 'Congress of the United States has approved this program; it
has been signed into law by the President; funds have been prided
for its administration; but not one step has been taken.to impleni.nt
it. This situation is unbelievable to me and to the many people
interested-in seeing. the prograin put into effect.

Again I made inquiry of the Department- of Agriculture it short
time ago, and. received on Septeniber 11 a letter that concluded on
this 'positive. note: "The Water Bank Program is one of the sources

-of kinds for rural community development special revenrie-sharing;
therefore, pending resolution of this proposal it is not planned to
initiate this program under Federal operation."

Mr. Chairman, I am not willing to accept a decision that a needed
program, approved and funded by Congress, shall not be put into
effect,

In recent weeks I have received a number of letters from con-
conservation and wildlife groups, the North Dakota Cooperative

c
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to

Extensai Service, the North Dakota Stockmen's Association, the
North

and
Wildlife Advisory' Committee, and North. Dakota

State and CountpAgsociations.of Soil (!onservation Districts. I ask
that these letters, together with the correspondence I have had with
officials of the U.S. Department of Agriculture,bOnade' part of this
hearing record.

Senator ALLEN. Without objeion it is so ordered.
(The documents referred to follow) :

FARGO, N. DAK., September 1, 1971.
Senator QUENTIN BCRDICK,
U.S. Senate,
Washington, D.C.'

DEAR SENATOR IktrameK: During the past .several years all of the-wildlife
interests in North Dakota have enjoyed your leadership, participation and full
support in the Passage of the Water Bank Legislation. This has been no small
task. During this sctssion of Congress the exechtive, recommendation for the
appropriation of $10 million to implement the initiation of the Water fia.ek
Program has been successfully passed through both Rouses of Congress under th&
leadership cif yourself and other Members of our delegation. As chairman of the
Wildlife Advisory Committee, for North Dakota, may I take this occasion to
thank you for the support you have given this entire matter:The next objective,
of course; is to see the successful implementation of the program.

A number of contacts have been made with the Department of Agriculture
and members of the Agricultural Stabilization and Conservatiod Service relative
to their plans for the implementation of the program. There seems to be a con-
tinuing rumor that the funds for the implementation of the program swill not be
released by the Office of .1anagement and Budgets thereby precluding the
initiation of the program. positive reasons are twallable but there appears
to be an inference that the in union of the Water Bank Program in the Proposed
Special Revenue Sharing Le 'station plus the recently announced economy
policies of the President are factors involved. We are deeply concerned about this
turn of Ovents and most sincerely%Solicit your leadership in securing release of
these funds so that the program can be initiated.

L am sure that you arc aware of the mas.sive .prograth of drainage that has
occurred throughout the pothole area of the North Central States awl particularly
in the nesting and breeding-grounds of North I Yhkota. The economic pressures are

. on the farmers, in spite of the very excellent crop of this year and will inevitably
result in maior additional drainage unless some means can be developed imme-
diately to give some economic relief to these landowners. The Water Bank Legis-
lation appears at this time to be the only such relief in sight. I speak unanimously
for the Wildlife Advisory Committee in stating that we do not believe we can afford
further delay of the activation of this program.

Each of us will be deeply appreciative of anything that you can do to motivate
the implementation of this program at the earliest date possible. We are confident
that if it can he announced at an early date that North Dakota alone could sign
enough acreage to utilize a major portion of the $10 million appropriation. The
people of North Dakota are looking forward to cooperating. Your help is urgently
needed and most certainly will be appreciated. Anything that you could do to
secure reincival of the Water Bank from the Proposed RevAilly Sharing Legislation
would also certainly be appreciated and may be the key t o t herelease of the funds.

With best personal regards,
Sincerely yours,

ARTHUR II. SCHULZ,
Dean and Director, Cooperative Extension Service,

North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science.

Senator QUENTIN N. BURDICK,
Old Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR BURDICK: We, the Eddy County Soil Conservation District
supervisors, are asking for your support towards securing a release of the Water
Bank funds from the Revenue Sharing Bill (S. B. 1612). We feel that if these funds

NEW 13,OCKFORD, N. DAs., September 18, 1974.

9
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are released the Water Bank Program which is-needed in North Dakota to help
save our wetlands, could be put into use right away.

We thank you for your past support on all roil and water conservation programs.
We hope that you will again Support us on this matter. .

Respectfully yours,
. , WILLAM STARKE,

. Chairman, Eddy County Soil Conservation District.

Hon. ,51UENTIN L. BURDICK,
U.S. enate,
Washington, D.C.

DEVILS LAKE, N. DAk., August 24, 1971.

DEAR SENATOR BURDICK: The Water Bank is included in the" Agriculture
Appropriations for 1972 with $1 million to be spent for Water Bank contracts.
I hope the program can begin with signups for this program beginning this fall.

At the last meeting of the North Dakota Wildlife Advisory Committee, we
discussed the maximum amount of wetlands that would fit into this program in

,, North Dakota. According to the:North Dakota Game and Fish and the Bureau
of Sport Fisheries and Wildlife, North Dakota raises about 80% of the ducks
raised in the United States. We also estimated the amount of wetlands needed,
and according to these two agencies it would take $30 million per year for Water
Bank contracts to fill the needs ofgwetlands in North Dakota.

It is now costing the `individual landowner about $13 per acre per year for
interest and taxes on his investment t6 leave these wetlands.

In order to ease the controversy of Wetlands drainage that affects our wildlife,
to help our agriculture economics of North Dakota, and to help the economic
stability of thp individual landowner to leave these areas for 4ildlife, I feel a
minimum of $10 million per year should be our national goal towards tape Water
Bank program at this time to preserve these wetlands.

I upge your support in getting more money behind the Water Bank program in
order preserve this heritage we have enjoyed:

Sincerely yours,
GORDON BERG,

North Dakota Wildlife Advisory Committee.

LINTON, N. DAK.
Senator QUF.NTIN N. Burtmcit,
Old Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR BURDICK: The Ertitnons County Soil Conservation District has
been following and is a promoter of the proposed Water Bank Act. We were pleased
when we heard the Act had been passed by Congress and signed by President
Nixon.

We feel the Water Bank Act is the answer to saving our wetlands and yet
compensating the farmer for saving these areas for our wildlife and for future
generations to use in their recreational progra,-.

We are now very disappointed and feel ths(progress has been stopped by the
action of the office of Management and Budget in freezing the funds appropriated
for this program.

We hope that you will see fit to work toward securing a release of those ftukcls
so that the long awaited Water Bank Act can go into action.

Thanks for your consideration on this matter.
Sincerely,

HOE. QicyTiN BURDICK,
Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

ALOIS LEIER,
Chairman, Emmons County Soil Conservation District.

BISMARCK, N. DAK., September 2, 1971.e
DEAR SENATOR: Our Association is concerned that funds for the recently

enacted "Water Bank" Program are tied-up, reportedly pending the outcome
of special revenue sharing legislation, as contained in S. 1612.

63-582-71pt. 6-7



94

We certainly don't want to discuss the concept of revenue sharing by the
states because we've not considered it necessary that we have a po 'cy position
relative thereto.

However, we do not think the Water Bank funds should be plat d into the
revenue sharing legislation, if and when ouch does become Law.

Our main objection is that, under revenue sharing, the $1,000,000 annual
Water Bank appropriation would be split up among 50 states whenlin fact it
should be confined to the "pot hole" states which hatch theNation's waterfowlin
other words, we think it's a regional problem, not national.

We know you share this view point but want you to know that we support
your efforts toward trying to exclude Water Bank funds from Senate Bill 1612.

Thank you and very best personal regards.
Sincerely,

CLAIR MICHELS,
Executive Secretary, North Dakota Stockmen's Association.

Senator QUENTIN N. BURDICK,
ON Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR BURDICK: It has COMO to our attention that the Water Bank
Proposal is part of the Revenue Sharing Bill (S.B. 1612).

We would like to see the Water Bank Proposal deleted from the Revenue
Sharing Bill so the program can be implemented. If the program is to be successful,
the funds should be allocated to the areas of greatest waterfowl production.

The longer it takes to get the program in action, the fewer will be the number
of wetlands to save. Many farmers have voiced an interest in participating in the
Water Bank Program, but if it is not put into action, they may proceed with
draining wildlife habitat.

We would appreciate your efforts in gettingthis program started.
Yours very truly,

JOSEPH HARBEKE,
riChairman, West Cass Soil Conservation Distct(

aft11
WEST FARGO, N. DAK., September 10, 1971.

Senator QUENTIN N. BURDICK,
Old Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR BURDICK: Eunds for a Water Bank program were included in
the Department of Agriculture appropriation.

We appreciate your fine cooperation in getting this program started. We now
urge you to follow up on this program and get the money released so that the
program can get started in North Dakota this fall.

Sincerely yours,

ti
DEVILS LAKE, N. DAK., September 9, 1971.

OLIVER LEET,
Chairman, Ramsey County Soil Conservation Diarict.

LEEDS, N. DAK., September 18, 1971.
Senator QUENTIN N. BURDICK,
Old Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

.DEAR SENATOR: We are very much concerned that the funds for the Water
Bank Program is not available to implement this vital program immediately..

We had a thorough discussion of this matter at our meeting last eveningand
by resolution of dur board I am contacting you asking that you help us get this
program moving.

Our area is second to none from the standpoint of "pot holes" and duck produc-
tion. We believe the impact of the Water Bank Program is vital to the preserva-
tion of our wetland sites.

We also are sincere and concerned that there may be involvement, of this Oro-
gram with the Revenue Sharing Bill. We are hot a heavily populated area and we
think that_it would be a very unfair distribution. It amounts to this; we have the
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wetland sites but we don't have the populace. We will appreciate your efforts in
deleting thin from any other program.

() Sincerely,
FLOYD ALLAN,

Chairman, Board of Supervisors,
North,Csnlral Soil Conservation District.

BotrugzAu, N. DAK., September 7, 1971.
Senator QUENTIN N. BURDICK,
Old Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.
'DEAR ENATOR BURDICK: You are aware of the continued interest we have had

in the ter Bank. Act since we suggested the idea a number of years ago. We are
proud off the work you have done to assist us with this program.

At the ,,present time we are concerned abotit implementing the Aot as was
passed and signed into law. North Dakota and other states with nesting and
breeding areas seriously need this program now and with the two items we are
faced with, it appears a good piece of legislatioir has become indefinitely tied up
jiy, (1) freezing of funds and/or (2) because of the Revenue Sharing Proposal.

We would like t9 propose to you and solicit your help in removing this Act from
the Revenue Sharing Proposal. .

We ask this for three reasoipa. (1) The need for funds will be in the pothole
region of the U.S., such as North Dakota, not throughout the. U:S. (2) The
distribution of funds under revenue sharing is based primarily on population and
need whereas utilization of the Water Bank funds are intended primarily to
preserve wetlands in selected areas. (3) We feel it would be impossible for the
state to administer this program.

We realize we could have an on-going program now if the funds were released
so we are also asking you to assist in getting the administration to immediatt
release these funds. The longer this program is delayed, the more people
lose, since wetlands will continue to be lost at an accelerated -rate.

We'appreciate any help you can give us and urge your active support for these
two proposals.

Sincerely,

Hon. QUENTIN N. BURDICK,
Old Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

NORTH DAKOTA ASSOCIATION OF
SOIL CONSERVATION DISTRICTS,

ALLAN KNUDSON, President.

GRAND FORKS, N. DAIt., September 13, 1971.

ff

DEAR SENATOR BURDICK: We understand that the Water Bank Bill has been
assigned to Senate Bill 1612, the Revenue Sharing Bill.

In order that work can be expedited on getting some of the wildlife waterhole /I

areas preserved, wouldn't it expedite the Water Bank Program if it were separated /
from the. Revenue Sharing Bill? We understand that the Water Bank Bill was /
passed by Congress and signed by President Nixon. Why shouldn't this allow/
thiq work to proceed without any further delay?

As long as our pothole prairie area is the only one discriminated against o
I

draining of pothole areas we feel that the Water Bank Bill should be used t
reimburse our farmers for preserving the wetlands for migratory waterfo 1

propagation. And furthqrmore, a large percent of the funds should be used in tliie
areas where these pothBles are located rather than given to states- who have no
pothole areas.

We tope that you will expedite any action needed on getting this program itito
operation.

Sincerely,
EASTERN GRAND FORKS COLTIM>"""ik/

SOIL CONSERVATION DISTRICT,
FRANK DUBUQUE,
Chairman, Board of District Supervisos.

I Go
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CAVALIER, N. DAIC., September 10, 19712
Senator-QUENTIN Bunnica,
Old Senate Office Building, Washington, D.C.

DEAR. SIR: It has come to our .attention that, the funds for the ItVater Bank
Program have been ftozen by the Office of Management and Budget.

The Program is of vital interest to the environmental and, agricultural interegts
Of this area. As such, we ask that you take whatever action you deem necessary
to obtain the release of these funds.

These funds seem to be tied to the Revenue :Tharing bill (S.B. 1612). We urge
(1) that the Water Bank Bill be delete from' this bill, and t2) that congress work
toward securing a release 14 these fun

SinceretY,
EitNi..tr MALO,

,Chairman, Pembina County Soil Conservalibn District.

lion. QUENTIN N. BURDICK,
U.S. Senate, Washington, D.C.

kitt SENATOR BURDICK:
of the Water Bank progra,in

Ydlirs very truly,

WAHPETON, N. D AK., August 31, 1971.

This Board wishes to go on record as bring inimpport
included in the Agriculture Appropriation Bill.

LA.VKRNE K. OLSON,
Chairman,

HOLDER BillTELGENt
Commissioner,

AARON II. HEOLIE,
Commissioner,

Richland County Water Management District.

Senator Btraptcx. In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, I want to say that
'I.have complete confidence in the mernbers of this Rural Development
Subkunmittee and the members of the full Senate Committee on
kgricillture and Forestry to develop and present legislation that
will achieve the goals as stated in S. 16122...without destroying the
established programs that are basic to rural America's well-being.
Tho enactment of S. 1612 could only result it more problems and
more confusion in the area of rural development. -

I also have confidence that with the support of members of. the
Senate Committee on Agriculture it should be possible to convince
the Department of Agriculture and, more importantly, the Office of
Management and Budget, that the Water Bank Act should be im-
plemented at once.

Mr. Chairman, I would like to make a reference to my young
college days. I attended the University of Minnesota and there I
played football, and we had a play called "66 off tackle." When it
worked, we would keep on using it. If these programs we established
have worked, why change them?

We should use the programs we have that have been beneficial
`to rural America and I think the water bank program should not be
sacrificed for a newer concept which might be all right, but which
is fraught with a lot of danger and implications.

Senator ALLEN. Thank you very much, Senator Burdick. We
appreciate your testimony and we know it will be of great value to
the committee in its study- and deliberations on this bill.

Senator Burdick, do, you know of any popular demand for this
rural revenue-sharing program?

Senator BunnicK. Afy mail does not reflect it at all from my area;
not at all.

I
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Senator ALLEN. Does it have its inception, its beginning, at the
grassroots level, or is' it something handed down irom above to apply,
at the grassroots- level?ets-level?

Senfttor BURDICK. I ilon't know where it came from. It didn't
come from the grassroots of North Dakota.

Senator ALLEN. Do you know if this rural revenue-slurring. prograin
of the administration has the support of your-people, the good itizens
of North Dakota? .

Senator BURDICK. I think they are strongly in support of the
programs I have outlined in Inv testimony today because they have
been workable programs; they have brought results. I. think they arce
very well satisfied with what we haVe. N.

4ettator ALLEN. If the administration's rural revenue-Sharing
program is adopted would there be any assurance that any single
one of the odsting Federal programs would be carried on by the

° State other than the' Extension Service which has been frozen into
the new change?

Senator Holum:K. There might be. There would certainly be no
complete assurance of that at all. .

Senator ALLEN. All of the money that is implementing these pro -
grams would be put intosone pot from which 'decisions would be made
as to what Programs would be carried forward?

tienator BuanteK. And you have no idea when they first dip out of
that pct what programs are going to be funded, Whether the good
on or the bad ones or any.

Senator ALIEN. Do the States have legislation at this time that
... would allow-them to carry on these programs or substantially some of

the programs?
Senator Butunek. I doubt it very-much, sir.
Senator ALLEN. What about personnel involved? Are not those

- programs catTied .on in many instances by Federal employees, and
would there not have to be a new echelon of employees created at the
State level to take over any of the programs that the State saw fit to
continue?

Senator Buamck. Without a doubt, and if it were done it would
'lead to a tremendous amount of delay and it hasn't been done.

Senator ALLEN. Now, there irhio amurance that the grants for water,
and sewer systems would Be carried on by the States, is there?

Senator BURDICK. None whatever. ,
Senator ALLEN. No assurance that,° the water bank program would

begeorried bn?
,Senator BURDICK:None. ,

0Senator/ALLEN. No assurance that the Forest Service grants would
be carried on nor the agricultural conservation program now called
rural environmental system program? ,

m)Senator Bu K. No assurance for any of these programs.
Senator ALLE. . Right on down.the lip m all of the present systems?
senator BURDIC*. Yes.
Senator ALLEN. Now, would this seem to indicate that if the

States did not carry on a large number of these programs and the need
would still be there, would there not then be a demand from the
people that these programs be recaptured by the Federal Government?

Senator BURDICK. There wouldn't be any question ;about it, because.4,

02
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the people have had the benefit of these programs for many, many
years, and they would demand their return, I am sure.

Senator ALLEN. gas the admirustration Tointed out to any of the
other Members of Congress or any other committee an ' of these pro-

/ grams that tthey feel 'should be eliminated at the State level?
Senator Bunmex. I have not soon them point out y hich would be

eliminated and which would not.
Senator ALLEN. Your farm people in your State, are they satisfied

with these existing programs?
Senator BURDICK. Very much so. I would say that the soil comm.-

vation program and the others I have enumerated in my testimony 1..',
have total support throughout the State. There is no criticism of them
that I know of.

Senator ALLEN. I notice that you feeilike that in theory, or pos-
sibly in the abstract, that S. 1612 might appear to have some merit,
but when it is put into effect, when considered from the practical
'Ant 6f view it just will not do the job in the proper fashion; is that
your feeling? -

Senator Bunincici. That is my present opinion.
Senator.ALLEN. Thank you very much, Senator Burdick. I appre-

ciate your coming before the committee and giving us the benefit of
your views. Your testimony is most thought-provoking.

Senator Bvnnteic. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
- Senator ALLEN. Mr. Kimball. - t

STATEMENT OF THOMAS L. KIMBALL, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
NATIONAL WILDLIFE FEDERATION

Mr. KIMBALL. Mr. Chairman, I am Thomas L. Kimball, executive et%
director of the National Wildlife Federation which has its national IF
headquarters at 1412 16th Street NW., here in Washington, D.C.

Ours is a private organi7 tion which seeks to attain conservation
goals through iiciticational me s. The federation has independent
affiliates in all 50 States and t Virgin Islands. These affiliates, in
turn, are composed of local grows and individuals who, when com-
bined with associate members and other supporters of the National
Wildlife Federation, number an estjwited 3 million persons.

Mr. Chairman, we welcome this invitation to testify on S. 1612,
the proposed "Rural Community Development Revenue Sharing Act
of 1971," because we view the activities of this subcommittee, and the
full committee, in attempting to resolve, the multifaceted problems
relating to urban development, as among the most important before
the Congress and the country at thig time.

The outward migration of people from rural areas, with subsequent
concentrations along theseacoasts and in the metropolitan areas, with
all of the attendant environmental difficulties relating to big cities, as
well as a slow deterioration of rural communities and the worthwhile

. and suitable life styles which they provide, is one of the greatest
tragedies of our age. For those of us who grew up in, or have lived in,
small communities, it is doubly tragic because of the many advantages
we know and appreciate as being found only in such areas. Indeed,
some metropolitan areas, where people are crowded into tenements, the
living conditions often appear to be similar to tciose which existed in
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the MiddleAges when crowded people were frightened to leave their
honies at night and when garbage and other types of debris were hurled
from windows to become public problems and nuisances.

We fully appreciate the recognition this Committee is giving to this
outstanding problem and hope the general comments that follow will
be beneficial in offering some clarity to what is an obscure and complex
situation involving economics, life styles, social problems, education,
and even politics.

1. As we see it, one of the most important single needs before the
country is for a national laid -use plan, as has been proposed by both

, many Members of the Congress and by the administration. Only by
developing a comprehensive and coordinated overall plan which would
recognize the principal values and uses of all of our various resources,
can the maximum advantage be obtained from them. This, in effect,
well could result in rural zoning and we believe such a plan and pro-
gram is necessary to identify all of the,' best potentials in these im-
portant areas.

2. -'It is essential that efforts to stabilize and improve the economy of
rural areas must, in many situations, become something other than
agriculturally oriented. We know that agriculture alone, as presently
practiced, will not sustain many communities.

We believe that there is much merit in considering incentives to
locate in new towns and cities in areas. away from the present metro-
politan Compleies. Not only would this avoid many of the present
inner-city urban problems, such as overcrowding and transportation
and environmental pollution, but could help equalize many/elf the
difficulties which relate to the deterioration of rural communities.

In this connection we are thinking of new communities such as
Columbia, Mdi, or Reston, Va., although on a smaller scale, and not
necessarily so closely tied as that community is to the cities of Wash-
ington and Baltimore. I am taking the liberty of attaching to this
statement a tearsheet from the AugustSeptember 1970 issue of
National Wildlife magazine, which outlined exciting new possibilities
for the development of ecologically sound urban communities and
variations of this very well could be located in many rural parts of the
country which are low in population at the prevent time or are losing
people.

3. If the population is to be relocated or dispersed, some additional
attractions must be made for rural areas in the form of employment.
We are now convinced that many people want to get away from metro-
politan areas and would actually prefer living in rural areas if a suitable
means of livelihood could be developed. Therefore, it would seem to us
that the Federal Goverpment could play an important role in stimu-
lating a location of small light industries or manufacturing concerns or
other businesses. These incentives could come through special tax
considerations, through low-cost loans, through subsidized o u s in g ,

and so forth, However, again, this must be programed in accordance
with an overall master. land -use plan.

It must be quite obvious by'' now, My. Chairman, that the National
Wildlife Federation is vividly aware of the plight of our rural areas. We
commend the administration for its concern and its desire to enact
legislation that might rectify the situation. Unfortunately, however,
we cannot support S. 1612 because we are of the firm belief that the

0
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bill, if enacted, could do more harm than good. Or, to put it another
way, the federation feels. that, at best, S. 16112 can achieve no more than
is being accomplished under several current and separate legislative
acts. At worst, we are fearful that. S. 1612' woilld undo the abundant
good stemming from the firograms listed in sections 410 through 417
Great Plains conservation, forestry assistance, water and waste dis-
posal systems, resource conservation and development, and others.

More to the point, and the main reason for our opposition to the bill,
it would, in all likelihood, effectively destroy two relatively new pro-
grams that possess great potential the water bank program and the
rural environmental' assistance program (REAP). We know that
S. 1612 does not specifically prohibit continuing the kinds 'of conserva-
tion activities carried on under REAP and the water bank, but the
odds would -certainly favor their diminution, at est., if the decision-
making and administration were at the State ley( I.

Mr. Chairman, with all due _respect for our St, e officials, we feel it
is desirable that this revenue-sharingprograth for rural development,
if enacted, would result in a subversion of congressional intent built up
over a period .of. years in 'a tiumber of rural-oriented Conservation
Acts far which there are 'continuing specific national or

o regionalrequirements.
The mere fact that a State would be required to produce a develop-

ment plan before it would receive funds under this program would not
preclude the very real possibilitY of priorities being so rearranged that
some very worthwhile and needed conservation programs would get
short shrift. a

Our concern, however, goes beyond the desire of inllividual States to-
continue such programs as the water bank and REAP. Mr. Chairman,
a matter of greater t oni;ern to the federation is the capability of the
respective .States to effectively administer the rural development
programs initiated under this proposed act.

Speaking from the personal experience some of us have gained by
working at State levels, we are of the firm conviction that regardless
of motives and intentions, the efficiency of the rural development
programs would be seriously degraded while administrative costs
would rise. Under these circumstances, we believe that it i4 wishful
thinking to assume that the various rural-oriented conservation pro-
grams will continue to be funded at the same levels and receive the
same high quality of professional guidance that they presently
receive.

Admittedly, tbe States could and probably would, over a period of
years, overcome the handicap of inadequate top-level staffing and
eventually administer the rural programs., with commendable com-
petence'. However, the administrative inefficiency and high cost 'of
such an evolutionary process cannot be overlooked or discounted'
when compared to the present administrative arrangement of having
one relatively small, knowledgable* group at the Federal level runthe programs.

In summary, Mr. Chairman, the National Wildlife Federation is
deeply concerned over the plight of our rural communities. We are
anxious to reverse the migration trend that brings the country and
small village dweller to our urban areas and results in ever-worsening
social conditions and environmental pollution in the ifities of the United
States. However, we sincerer' feel that the first step that must be

b
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taken to improve the situation is the development of a comprehensive
li,nd-use plan and not the passage of a vevenuelharring bill such as
S. 1612 which would do little other than; with a minimum of guidance
and restrictions,' place great quantities of money inithe coffers of
State governments, many of which would indeed be hard pressed to
prepare and implement the kind of rural development plan envisioned
by the proposed hill.

Thank you,far this opportunity to present our views.
(The attachment to the statement of Mr. Kimball follows:)

From the Auguat-tleptentbkr 1970 National Wildlife]

WE CAN BUILD SPACE AGE CITIES Now-----BIG CITY NOISE,. FILTH, SMOG, 'AND
UGLINESS AR NOT INVINCIBLE ENEMIES; THEY CAN BE CONQUERlie BY

. PRESENT TECHNOLOGY . . . IF WE HAVE THE WILL

(By James W. Hudson) -
In 1960 President John Kennedy stirred the- pioneering ;instincts and patriotic.

fervor of this country by making a national commitment to put Aniericans on
the moon by 1970. We promptly embarked on a crash program rooted in the
imaginative "systems approach," propelled by tens of thousands of scientists,
technicians and workers and fueled with billions of tax dollars. And we reached
this impossible goalbefore the late President's deadline,

Now, in 1970, we need another such national commitment:And a new time-
table. Our goal must be the transformation df Ainerica's dying cities into the
healthful and exciting living and working centers you see on these pages.

This is no idle pipe dream. Any knowledgeable scientist or engineer will *tell
you we have the technology rikht now to o this job. We need only apply the
"systems approach" to this vitally challeAgi g project. This modern technique
which would combine the expertise of seient sts, engineers, architects, ecologists,
sociologists and city plannerscan produce another AmeriCan "miracle."

NEED URBAN REBIRTH

And how desperately we need that miracle. What a colossal absurdity that we
allow Our central citiesthe centers of modern American lifeto crumble into
depressing places where it is no fun to live and work. It is understandable that
dirty air,. congested streets, cramped living quarters, and urban ugliness are
driving. out long-time residents who can afford to live in more pleasant surround-
ings. But this leaves behind only thoSe who are too poor to cope with the grinding
urban decay, And so our cities are deteriorating at an alarming and increasing
rate.

But this tragedy is not inevAable. We can rescue, and rebuild our cities. This
is just as practicaland far more importahtthan putting men on the moon.
All it takes is a national commitment. Let's see how the systems approach can
make cities more pd.fle-oriented:

One key part of our plan is the covering of existing streets with a roof with 'a
green carpet of grass and trees on top about 30 feet above the streets. This
opens the way to literally transform the city's harsh concrete and smelly gasoline
alleys into restful areas planted to lawns, trees and flowers.

The space abovjet he streets and between the buildings becomes an oasis in
the cement junta, a people-oriented environment with grassy playgrounds,
flowering shrubs and chattering squirre1:4.- There will be sidewalks for people in a
Ifilirty and meandering paths for ethers. Places to talk, to read, and to relax. Soft
conversation and the songs of birds will replace the nerve- shattering cacophony
Of construction and traffic.

And nature using sunlight, chlorophyll, water and soil -can go to work
manufacturing clean, fresh air. Every tree leaf, every blade of grass is a miniature
anti-pollution factory, absorbing gases from our polluted air and miraculously
returning pure oxygen,

TERRACED ;ICI LD1 NOS

Some high-rise 'office and apartment buildings will be terraced like the. ones on
these pages with a series of setbacks for sunlight, and planted with lawns, flowers,
shrubs and small trees. Roof gardens will have pools for ducks and fish. Most
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of these terrAres will lai open to peopk; for a host of activities ificluding fishing,
picnicking and nature study. .

Small animals will raise their families on some terraces which will be off limits
to people. Coffee breaks eariturn into nature breaks ast office workers Watch
the life cycles of songbirds, rabbits, squirrels and fish outside their .windows.

The automobile enginewhich consumes enormous quantities of oxygen and
exhausts poisonous, smog-breeding gases is 'Air Pollution Villain No. 1, responsible
for 60 per cent of all air pollution. Urban people suffer most, trapped as they are
in densely populated areas with many high-rise buildings. With filters and the
addition of manufactured oxygen, our city streets can become a closed system
of vehicular tunnels. .

Other advantages of the clotted street systemsre just as exciting:
Fast, efficient monorail transportation can be suspended under the pedes-

trianievel. Thiti'will greatly improve mass transportation with a Ininimum
of coat. .

Car and truck traffic will flow easier. No longer need pedestrians compete
with traffic. Sidewalks and islands now set aside as "people space" can be
con % ted to gdditional traffic lanes.

G and floors of buildings can become deliveryssreas, and the confused
maze of double-parked trucks would disappear from traffic lanes. These
lower floors.,will, also contain parking lots, service statiOns and car washes.
And drive-in bunks, restaurants and newsstands.

The coveced'street will bottle up the noise from traffic, trash r,c gioval andft
road repair. And no longer can a big storm paralyze the city.

Digging up streets t4i, install and repair cables will become a thing of the
. past. Telephone wires and power cables will be accessible in oyiphead troughs.

What happenslo the people displaced from the first two floors' off the.buildings?
They can have first chance at moving into new buildings which will be built
over some of the old intersections. .

A flight over such a city will 'reveal beautiful patterns of shape and color.
Foliage softens the hard, straight lines of streets and buildings. Rain falls on
absorbent green belts instead of hitting miles of asphalt and concrete only to
run 9ff into sewers. ....

What a city. Robins nesting on the roof. . . . Fishing streams running around
the building. Office windows revealing the mysteries of marine life. . . .

Eating lunch while fishing on the 20th floor. . . . Botanists, biologists, zoologists
and ecologists will help plan this new world of ,beatity and fresh air which is
technically feasible now.

Such buildings can in no way replace prks and wild areas.But new designs
incorporating glimpses of nature will make city 'life more enjoyable and help
to develop a love of nature among urban, dwellers whichc hopefully, will make its tis
continued destruction unthinkable.

In high-rise residential areas (a.s wag done downtown) the first step ill to *aft
an overall plan to provide for the remodeling or robuilding of entire gitions of
the city at the same time so no new construction will he needed for 20 years or
more. This will give city dwellers a reprieve froni iistant construetion, blocked
traffic and swirling dust.

Then we cover the streets and reserve t old street level for cars and truckst1,
so people cad move up to fresh air and q et, Also, like the dowtalown area,
lawns, trees, flowersand shrubs are planted everywhere.

RECREATION JICINTS

In planning recreation areas, it is important to reniember people are different
in age andtinterest. So.MOth 'Street might become 80th Belt, a five-mile-long
kindergarten, nursery and fairyland. A book away is gist Belt for grammer
school children. here the swings and basketball goals are higher and the swimming
pool deeper. And so it goes throughout the residential areas with green recreation
belts instead of streets for sub-teens, teens, young adults, adults and the aged.

As a systems engineer I have traveled coast to coast to meet with enthusiastic
groups in more than a hundred cities. I have shown color pictures of what the
American city should be like to be livable and how the "systems approach",
can be the key to unlocking a new and higher quality lifetfor all urbanites. The
response has been overwhelming.
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But, politicians ask, will it -be too expensive? My answer: Is health damage
resulting from pplluted air inexpensive? Is urban decay inexpensive? Is break-
down in citylife inexpensive? Is an increasingly depressing life for the majority
of Americans going to be tolerated?

If.we can spend nearly $100 billion a year for past, present and future wars
which gain* us nothing but another year and a bigger military budgetthen
I'd say we can afford totake .this approach of rebuilding our citics,;which will
help solve or ameliorate dozens of problems, be they social, economic, health,
environmental or esthetic . . . problems which cause endless misery and
heavy tax burdens. Using modern technology--which so far has been .a mixed
blessingwe can reverse the centuries-old trend of moving people to big cities
only. to bury them in ugliness and filth.

And let's face it. When we aks people to pay higher taxes for conservation and
*ilderness, inne ity folks ho choke on foul air daily, fight rats nightly, and
watch their oit ecay about them are likely to ask: "Why don't you start here?"

Parts of r s new concept are already in use. For example: The concept of
covering the streets with a grassy roof for pedestrians has been used in Cuyahoga
Community College in Cleveland, Ohio; Edmunds Community College in Lyn-
wood, Washington; and the Health and Welfare Complex in Nassau County
On Long Island. The American Intornaticinal Development Colporation' is using
some facets of thisrconcept in the design of the 30-story plus One North Iligh
Building in Columbus, Ohio.

But Uncle Sam isn't going to wave a magic wand and rebuild your cities.
Local planning and participation have to be the ,first step: Communities must
evaluate their problems, consider solutions and draw up tentative plans beforethe
Federal government can help with money. But money rhould not be the limiting
factor on programs like this.

I ask you: Is not continued existence of livable cities at least as important as
building More interstate highways? Or financing more space adventures? Beauty
and fresh air, continued existence itself aren't these all worth a grand army of
systems teams? And as bid an effort as our NASA program? Isn't an investment
in hope and urban peace worth as much to Americans as war and weapons?

We have the technology. We know the depths of the problem. All we need is
the commitment. Let's make 'one.

Senator ALLEN. Thank you very nnich,-Mr. Kimball. We appreciate
your attendance at the subcommittee. Your statement is most per-
suasiVe and I might say also that it would make splendid testimony
when the subcommittee considers the overall problems of rural develop-
ment. We are seeking to obtain some of the answers to those, problems
confronting town and country America, and you have made some
fine suggestions along that line. I want to request if. you have not
appeared before this committee in that connection, that you allow us
to insert your testimony in that aspect of your investigation, as well.

Mr. KIMBALL. I. would be pleased to have you do -that, Mr.
Chairman.

Senator ALLEN. That will-make a very fine point and we will see
to it.

Mr. Kimball, you apparently are of the opinion, that transferring
these programs and these duties and responsibilities and funds to the
State governments might result in a less efficient operating series of
programs at greater expense?

Mr: KIMBALL. I ani fearful that that would t'esult. I don't feel that ;

State agencies are really geared up
Senator ALLEN.. And there is a good cliance that some of the very

fine Federal programs might be overlooked, or their priority might be
downgraded by the State government?

Mr. KIMBALL..That is my fear. I think that the priority of attention
would be rearranged, and that might subvert the real intent of the
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..CongFess. So, if ybujust transferred the money in a !limp sum and in
essence let them set their priorities . r""Senator li,i,LErN. In effect, wouldn't the Congress abandon, as far -1k

as the Federal Government is concerned, the funding (if these programs
and turn those funds over to the State; apparently to spend a they '
see fit in the general classifications'under our rural developmenT if it
enActed S. 1612 as introduced.

Mr.' KIMBALL. I think, in essence, as I understand it, that you ,
would 'be transferring a blOc of money andi iii essence, saying to the
State government: "You have this and. it is-up to you to determine -in
.what 434 of these vairiou program yod \vim t to fund thatspect;7and,
to what degree." . .

.Senator ALLEN,. It wouldn't have to be this specific-program; it
Ittould,just lie in that general area.

Mr. KIMBALL. No-. -For example: The water 'Pink: frhis'is a new
'program and as -conservationists we were hopeful ihatIthis .would en-

. laiillowner to Tetaig water on his land and main-
Vain- some of the valuable marshwildlife habitat that our particular
organization-is interested in maintaining. It really itiasii't made sense

- even at the Federal level to agree to have one agency- let's say the
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, which has a directive from Copgress
to maintain a marsh environment for -water fowl, which is again their
responsibility, and having anothiSr agency or the Federal Government,
in thiScase the U.S. Department of Agriculture, providing tax money
to "drain.those same marshes. And these are the types of judgments
that you get if you transfer bloOstrfemoney and allow somebody to
set their.own priorities. I think, here again, if there was some way we
could be reassured that we have a master plan; and we- can say, for
'example, in your home State of Alabama, that we are going to inain-
tain a certain arpount of those marshlands for ivater fowl, Or whatever
the people of Alabannylecide should be mairifained, and then we
are going to drain some of this for agriculture, :mid we are going to
maintain smile of this-fin' industry, then everybody would Understand
where we are going, and we wouldn't have allot these conflicts,amr,,all
of the problems of funding, the arguments that go on in the govern-
ment and out in,the public.
( So, malty what I am saying is that we desperately- need a statewide,

"comprehensive land plan, and anything that the Congress can do to
help finance and support the States in their effort to ifo this I think
would be very well spent.

Senator ALLEN: I certainlythink so.
Now, in order for some of these Federal funds tinder these programs

to becoine-available they may have to be matched,. do they not?
Mr. KIMBALL. Yes.
Senator ALLEN. Now, in th Dew- program, the administration's

rural revenue-sharing program, hese funds are turned over to the
States without any matching. So is not possible that actually less
money, and therefo less benefit, would he obtained through the
revenue-sharing basis an under tl present program, which does
draw local money into the program?

Mr. KIMBALL. That is correct, Nlr. Ghairman. And I think anyone
who has ever served in any administratill-e capacity in the Govern-
ment knows that he can devise the best programs in the world, and
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if you doi't have funds to inplement those programs it doesn't mean
a thing. And if you diininish those funds i think you get alit of your
planning effort and your.administrative.costs just that much less and
I firmly believe that.the local governments, and Stated should'share in
the cost of the programs which benefit those people.

Senator ALLEN. I ogre*. .

NoR, tthy of the existing Fedtoral programs tare carried oh by Fed-
'oral emkloyees, are they not? ,

°Mr. KIMBALL. Yes.
"Senator ALLE14..fThis, then, mfOuld phase most of them out of em- ,

ployment Without the States paving coniparable personnel to Cake over
the work?

Mr. KimBALL.., That is right.
SenatoyilLpN. Arid po.ssibly th'at is and' of parts that prompts

you to say, that there would be less' efficiency with the State ads
ministration? -

Mr. KIMBALL. That is right; there is no "question about it,. if you
provide the .money and the authority td proceed with an -expanded
program are going to have to have thoteamical and adminiptrative
peiTonnel o make those programs fthiction. They have them c'uxTently
m the Federal Establishment. You do not have them in the State
government. And in the evolutionary process, although-eventually the
States would probably get there, it is still a very expensive, tame-
consuming and really, in our view,an unnecessary step.

Senator ALLEN. .Now, are you hearing fi-olil the State wildlife
federations telling you to get in behind tlus program-and support it,
or are 35ou hearing to the contrary?

Mr. KIMBALL. We are hearing to the contrary. I think the testis
mony is an expression of conceurn and fear more than anything else.
They can see some problems even in their own States of having these
priorities disrupted:Because we have been along time in convincing
some of our Federal policymakers that some of the esthetic values
I am thinking now about the one I am interested in, and that .is
wildlife but some of the esthetic values should rec9ive consideration
ii the development of programs, particularly as tt, affects land use.

e have been successful in enlightening the Feilral policymakers, I
think, to a Much greater degree than we have some of the State
people. And now that we have them enlightened where some of these
consider:airs are clamped into the policy determinations, we have
some real fear that all of that will be lost, and people at the State level
generally are inclined to look at things in terms*of contributions to
the economy, maximilin economic efficiencies, and they don't have
room to consider esthetic values such as open space and natural
beauty, wildlife conservation.

These are the types of things that most States say: Well, we really
don't- have the funds or the time or the effort or the interest to
look after, or they give them the same degree of weight in their de-
liberations that we do, the economic values. And consequently, we
have some real concern that this might be accentuated by giving them
block's of money to do with as they will.

Senator ALLEN. In the matter of rural development and the better-
ment of our rural areas and our rural communities, do you feel that
the enactment of S. 1612 would be a forward step or a-backward step?
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Mr. KIMBALL. No, sir; I think it would be a backward step.
Senator ALLEN. Do you feel that this is a grassroots movement, or

is: it an effort from the top to impose this on the grassroots, so to
sp ak?

Ir. KIMBALL. Well, I am really norsure ; am qualified to answer,
tha Mr. Chairman.

S ator ALLEN. Let's just ask the first,hali Of it, thcr
D' you feel that this movement has grassroots.ongin or support?
NI KIMBALL. No, I reiilly don't. I don't think this is motivated by

any eat groundswells of public opinion from- out in the rural com
munities. I think more importantly there has. been, a4'-I read at
least, considerable comment about the desirability of revenue sharing.
The. States and. cities always'have problems,: as everybody does, with
funding the programs they a'ready have am) many feel that the taxing
value of the Federal Government is so much greater, and they receive
Sueb greabq contribution from the tax area, that this should tale
place and there may be some groundswells of opinion along that ling,

. but whether it is specifically earmarked for these particular projects
in rural communities I doubt.

There is some effort to fulfill that particular desire, but certainly
not specific

Senator
demand am

Mr. KIMB
from the Sta
imposed from

Senator ALL
question.

Mr. KIMBALL. That is a personal opinion, Mr. Chairman. I don't
know, if I had to document that with communications from our
own State, that I could do that. -

Senator ALLEN. Thank youvery 'much, Mr. Kimball. I appreciate
your kindness and courtesy.

Mr. Poole, please.
Mr. Poole, they have just signaled Pvote over there, knd it will take

about 20 minutes for the vote, and then they will have another vote
that will take about 20 minutes. So it looks like I am going to have to
be gone until o'clock.' I would be delighted to come back at
that time if it was co venient to you.

Mr.. POOLE. Senato , I am your last witness of the day?
Senator ALLEN. Yo are the last witness, yes.
Mr. POOLE. Perhap it might suffice that my statement be sub-

mitted for the record, and say, secondly, that the rural revenue-
sharing proposal, as we understand it, makes no sense whatsoever
with respect to the water bank program that 4nany of the national
conservation organizations and many of the national wildlife organiza-
tions worked so very many years to achieve.

The preservation of duck waterfowl habitat to carry out this
country's commitments, international commitments with Canada
and Mexico, cannot be 'achieved in our opinion on purely a local
basis. The birds are only in certain places because of their historic
characteristics, and it is in those areas where water,'wetlands, and
habitats have to be preserved and it cannot be preserved in any way

lly to this specific program.
LEN. Now, as to the States themselves, is there any great
g the States for saddling them with this responsibility?
L. Not this particular responsibility; no, I know of none
s or from public opinion generally. I think it is really
he top down.
N. Now you have answered ale second half of my
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if the Stites

,
tes are merely going to divide the money among them and

hopefully use it for the purpose of this program, because the problem
is not equal in all States. .:--

Senator ALLEN. Thfink you very much. And without objection your
statement will be put in the record as though delivered verbally,

Mr. POOLE. Thank you, sir.
(The statement of /Or. Poole follows:)

STATEMENT OF D A. POOLE, PRESIDENT, WILDLIFE
M t EMENT INSTITUTE

Mr. POOLE. Mr. Chairnfan I am Daniel A. Poole, president of the
Wildlife Management Institute, with headquarters in Washington,
D.C. The institote is one of the older.national conservation organiza-
tions, and its program has been devoted to the restoration and urn-
proved management of renewable natural resources in the public
interest sinca1911.

I appreciate this opportunity 'to explain the institute's objection to
the inclusion of the water bankprogram in the proposed Rural Com-
munity Development Revenue-Sharing Act. I am not attempting to
pass judgment an the rural revenue-sharing proposal itself. I am not
fa ar enough.with some of the programs that would be folded into it
to c ent knowledgably.

I have one general reservation about the proposal, however. It
stems less from a human's normal resistance to change than it does
from recognition that most national legislation has its beginnings in
responses to problems that are at least of regional concern. The major
kinds of programs that would be folded into the revenue-sharing plan
impact rural residents and communities in many States and I ques-
tion how fully discretionary State use of the nqmshed moneys can
assure that the regional or national purposes pf such programs are
achieved.

The water bank program is a case in po arrying an authorizdd
annual appropriation of $10 million for ears, the water bank is
designed to give willing landowners a finan 'al alternative to wetlands
drainage and destruction. Under our natio 1 agricultural program,
farmers can get technical and financial help o drain wetlands, but
there is no balancing program to save wet ands. The pressures of
rising taxes and greater labor, equipment, nd materials costs force
farmers to seek to use all of their land for income production. Natural
wetlands on America's farms are caught in this bind, and millions of
acres of potholes, marshes, and sloughs have been drained or filled
and converted to cropland or pasture.

The waterbank provides an economically viable alternative to
wetlands destruction by offering 'willing farmers and ranchers an
amount equal to what their wetlands are calculated to yield if drained
or filled and converted to pasture or crops. It gives the landowner,
for the first time, a pair of financially equal alternatives for the use
of his wetlanddrain it or save it.

Having this kind of an option, the farmer and rancher more likely
will opt for wetland preservation. Wildlife agencies have known for
many years, and freely admit, that this country sustains its abundance
and diversity of wildlife mainly through the generosity and interest
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of the farmer and rancher. Potholes, sloughs, marshes, and othernatural wetlands are among the most productive habitat for wildlife.
They are important for ducks, geese, and other migratory birds, and
they also provide excellent cover for such resident species as rabbitsAnd pheasants. Additionally, these natural land depressions collect
and store surface runoff, thereby helping to reduce flood crests. Theyalso collect and store nutrients that run off the land and they are
instrumental in recharging ground water supplies.

The water bank is a land and water conservation program. Areading of the testimony received by the house and Senate committees
makes this clear. Appearing before the committees.to endorse andsupport the concept were representatives from as many .rricultural

*organizations and soil and water conservation district associations, ifnot more, than there were from wildlife a<.r,encies and organizations.The program hat( the endorsement of such groups as the American
Farm Bureau Federation, National Fanners Union, stockmen and
water users associations, and the National Association of Soil andWater Conservation Districts, among others. Appended to this state-ment is a .cop of a letter signed by 13 notional conservation organiza-
tions, also endorsinfr, the water bank.

Conservationists lOieve that the regional and national objectives
of the waterbank cannot be achieved by folding it into a revenue-
sharing program giving individual States full discretion over how the
money is to be spent. First, the* water bank nevss was conceived nor
advanced as an adjunct to rural development lugging largely or solely
local objectives. While it is attractive in flint the landowner retainstitle' to his land and that it can be taxed by local governmeint, the
water bank is a wildlife and soil and water conservation program.

Principal beneficiaries of the waterbank are water lowland other
migratory wildlife, nearly all of which are covered under the Migratory
bird treaties with Canada and fexico. Under the treaties and the
implementing acts,- the. Federal Government is responsible for the
designated migratory birds. This responsibility i"`executed through
the Departmentooftbe Interior's Bureau of Sport Fisheries and Wild-life. That agency's. program for migratory waterfowl,. of nec'essity,
blankets all of the country. Because of their high mobility and seasonal
movements,. migratory waterfowl cannot be -considered on purely alocal basis. Decisions and management actions concerning their well-
being must be based on regional, national, and international considera-tions.

One of the nit vital elements in this country's migratory bird
conservation program is the preservation of wetlands habitat. With-
out sufficient habitat, and in the right places with respect to the bird'snesting, wintering, and migrational needs, waterfowl and othermigratory birds will be imperiled and their numbers threatened. Anational waterfowl conservation program cannot be erected on the
mere -presumption that a 'State will .invest its equivalent share ofwater bank funds in Nvetland's preservation. As it now is constituted
and intended to be administered, the water bank program is responsive
to the Federal Government's commitment to Canada and Mexico
to protect migratory birds. Habitat preservation in a large way assists
our Government in discharging those commitments and for thisreason we believe that the water bank program should not be included
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in any kind of a revemie-sharing program giving states full discretion
in use of the funds.

(The letter refers to follows:)
SEPTEMBER 28, 1970.

DEAR CONGRESSM AN: The undersigned national conservation organizations
have learned that the chairman of the Rouse Cominittee on Merchant Marine
and Fisheries has requested the Speater to list the widely supported Water Bank
bill, 11.R. 15770, on the suspension calendar fur Monday, October 5.

Much has been heard in recent years about the drainage and destruction of the
natural wetlands needed by inigratory waterfowl and other wildlife. Records of
House a d Senate committees bear out that a vast acreage of wetlands has been
destro d, much of it stimulated by 'federal technical and financial assistance.

Th Water Bank offers the owners of wetlands an acceptable alternative to
drainage. Operating through existing Cf:/SIM agencies, it would authorize payments
for wetlands preservation, thereby making it feasible for farmers, ranchers, and
otherMandowners to resist the economic pressures that encourage wetlands
destruction.

An Shown by the !louse committee's hearing record, the Water Bank is endorsed
by many of the country's leading conservation and farm organizations and
agencies,as a constructive approach to the proper management of land, wildlife,
and water resources. -

American Forestry Association, William E. 'Powell, Executive Vice President;
Frieruis of the Earth, George Alderson, Legislative Director;
Izaak Walton League of America, Joseph W. Penfold, Conservation Director;
National Association of Conservation Districts, Gordon K. ZlInnierrnan, .Extbeu-

Witt Secretary;
National Audubon Society, Charles If Callison, Executive Vice President;
National Rifle Association of America, Frank C. Daniel, Secretary;
National Wildlife Federation, Thomas L. Kimball, Executive Director;
The Nature Conservancy, Thomas W. Richards, President;.
Sierra Club, W. Lloyd tupling, Washington Conservation Representative;
Trout Unlimited, Ray A. Kotrla, Washington Representative;
The Wilderness Society, Stewart M. Brandberg, Executive Director;
Wildlife :Management Institute, Daniel A. Pooltw President; and
The Wildlife Society, Fred G. Evenden, Executive Director.

Senator ALLEN. This concludes the Rural Development Subcom-
mittee's hearing on S. 1612, President Nixon's Special Rural Com-
munity Development Revenue-Sharing Act of 1971. However, the
hearing record hill remain open until September 29 to accommodate
other individuals or organizations that may want to submit statements.
for the record.

Speaking for Senator Humphrey, chairman of the subcommittee,
Senator Talmadege, chairman of the full committee, both the subcom-
mittee and. the full Committee on Wgriculture and Forestry hope to
complete action on this legislation (hiring the month of October.

(Whereupon, at 3:10 p.m., the subcommittee adjourned, subject to\
the call Of the Chair).

(Additional statements filed for the record are as follows:)

STATEMENT OE HON. JIMMY CARTER, GOVERNOR, .tTAT( OF GEORGIA,
ATLANTA, GA.

I am Jimmy Carter, Governor of the State of Georgia. During, this, the first
year of my administration in Georgia, we are undertitking every conceivable
effort to expand and improve the capability of Georgia's state government opera-.
tions. One of my 'major objectives is to develop a highly efficient system for the
management of all programsso as to achieve defined goals and objectives that
are responsive to the expressed interest of all Georgiafis.

We, in Georgia, have instituted a reorganization of state government, in order
to maximize both the effectiveness of individual state agencies and to develop a
better overall planning and management system for the total efforts of Georgia's
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governmental operations. As an integral part of our planning and management
efforts, we are vitally concerned with the responsible management of the financial
resources of all federal grant-in-aid programs so that they too will serve the goals
of our people in the most effective and efficient manner.

At the present time, we in the State of Georgia arc undertaking a massive effort
to gather the thinking of all Georgians through a "Gilds for Georgia" prograiia,
We are urging every citizen to participate --thosigh regional is inferences, lettcfni
written directly to me, telephone calls to eight educational television programs,
and by attending eight statkiwise conferences in Atlanta,

Virtually all Georgians have been informed of the "Goals" program and have
had the opportunity to make an input. Nearly 300,000 Georgians have been
directly involved, either through the ETV programs or through participation in
the 61 regional and local conferences which were held this summoK. Several
thousand more will submit their ideas for improving the functions of government
at the eight Statewide Conferences now Ochedtiled betwern October 5-15. Over
5,000 "Goals for Georgia" workbooks were completed at the regional conferences
and their contents will be used as discussion points for the Statewide Conferences.

Although there have been other "Goals" programs in other states, the Georgia:
effort is unique in that it marks the first timer any state has gone directly to the
people to.set goals for a coordinated plan of state growth. The "goals", as deter- .
mined by the people, will enable me, as Georgia's Chief Executive, and our State
Legislature to become more responsive to the needs and vitilies of the Georgia
people. b -

We in Georgia have this year established a "zero-base budgeting system"
to increase the continuing review and evaluation of all existing State programs.

Georgia has had an effective "delivery system"lor planning and management
services longer than any other state government. Our delivery system has been
developed through our statewide system of multi-county Area Planning and
Development Commissions, To coordinate the relationship of state and federal
agencies to these local Commissions, we have concentrated technicalassistance and
coordination .capabilities for Georgia state government in my Bureau of State
Planning and Community Affairs. This same Bureau has overall responsibilities
for coordinating with federal agencies so that federal programs can be related
to the interests of the 'State Legislature, and in reporting directly to trie as
Governor. In this way, we Inwe built-into our planning and management system
the continuing inputs of local government, various organizations and all concerned
citizens. Out planning and program design process begins at the local level and
is then coordinated and further refined through the appropriate planning re-
sponsibilities of the State and federal governments. Georgia was one of the
original States to recognize the need for the multi-state Appalachian Regional
Corwission. We are also one of only-three states in the action that is presently
participating in two Federal-State partnership Regional Development Programs,
In addition to the Appalachian Regional Development Prggram, we are also
members of the Coastal Plains Regional Commission.

I will not add to the list of the major actions we are undertaking beyond my
aforementioned examples. But I do want to assure you that the basis for my
statement to you today is our intention in 'Georgia to maximize the responsibility
of State government. Since I firmly believe that State government has a foremost
and an irreplaceable responsibility in our federal system, we must introspectively
look within our present federal system to develop feasible ways to distribute the -
revolnue resources paid by par taxpayers so as to maximize the delivery of govern-
ment services to our people.

On the basis of my previous statements which describe Georgia's capability
to manage the resources of State government, I now would like to make a brief
and simple statement with regard to questions generally raised by the pending
legislation on general and special revenue sharing.

The redistribution of federal revenues to State and local governments is essential
in order to provide reasonably adequate resources to maintain much needed
State and local government services. Since most of these services cannot and
should not be provided directly to the people by federal agencies, it is quite
obvious that an immediate application of the concept of general fevenue sharing is
proper and necessary. The urgency of need for it, in fact, increases and has tended
to grow beyond the point of crisis in many State and local governments. .

General revenue sharing, in and of itself, therefore has great merit. However,
I do not believe that gi:neral revenue sharing alone will provide the answer. In
addition to distribution t.o. resources to the point where they will best be planned
and administ d to sei vs t Le-people, we still need to insure the development of a
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total delivery system which will, with some uniformity of process, allow the
myriad of agencies at all three levels of government to mobilize their fun-dofrom
whatever noutces---more effectively in funding priority action for identified goals
and objectives.

Therefore, in addition to general revenue sharing, which would probably deal
initially with ()lily a relatively small portion of federal program funAs, we need a
system by which Militate, local and federal governments mat effectively share
together in planning and managing the total impact of all government programs,
and in delivering final serviees to meet the greatest needs of our citizens.

The Governors who have had experience in the Appalachian Regional Develop-
ment Program are generally agreed that the factors of state program management,
which I have already pointed out, do provide the framework for such a delivery
Gyntern. We believe that the Appalachian program deserves strong attention as a
basis for designing national 'policies which allow the States, localities and the
federal government to work together in partnership. We also believe that the
Appalachian Program provides much of the basic foundation for the design of a
delivery system which, if provided for on a national basis and assisted under
federal legislation, would make the concept of general revenue sharing more
palatable to all political interests, including The Congress, the Governors and the
mayors, and would allow our state, local and federal governments to maximize
the effectiveness of all goverrunental programs.

All of .my preceding remarks are preliminary to the final comment which I will
direct specifically to the pending rural revenue sharing legislation, S-1612. It is
clear to me that this legislation represents an admirable effort to bring together a
number_of_existing programs into a more coordinated fashion, and to provide the
funds Nr these programs directly to States and localities for their use in a more
flexible manner in attempting to achieve the purposes of the original programs. It
is a very worthwhile pitpose. But it does appear ,to full short of serving the pur-
pose in a practical waY7

Most of the programs which would be converted to special revenue sharing by
this legislation are much-needed programs. If the existing funds for these programs
were made available directly to States find localities, most of the same program
purposes would be properly served. I do believe, however, that a better way to
manage these programs can and should he developed. Certainly, there are too
many fragmented federal programs, now, which bririg about duplication and over-
lap, and which too frequently bypass the knowledge and constitutional responsi-
bilities of our State and local governments. But I do not believe that simply
turning the money loosewithout carefully building in a proper delivery system
designrepresents an adequate way to provide for transition in the management
of these programs. And S-1612, if passed in its presont form, might create con-
fusion and discontinuity in many essential government servicesparticularly in
those States which presently have effective, on-going long-range planning and
management systems.

It is imperative that We work out a more effective way for State, local and
federal governments to work together in the management of programs. I believe
this might he effectively dealt with in tandem with a general revenue sharing
approach since new money is involved and will provide additional funds to
implement a planned approach to the delivery of services. In the case, however,
of the rural development revenue sharing legislation, I do riot believe there has
been sufficient attention given to providing an orderly means by which the States
and localities could work with the Federal government to continue the important
existing program services while going through such an extensive transition in the
way such programs are managed.

I believe that Georgia is ready today to deal with any general revenue sharing
fundswhich are additional to those now availablethat can be provided. I
think we must also work together, though, to obtain more general policies on a
wide rarfge of existing programs so that the delivery systems, such as those we

``.-have established in Georgia, may receive support and cooperation from all federal
programs.

I do not believe, however, that it would he useful at this time, to pass S-1612,
since it provides little or no additional funds, but does present all states with the
need to work out program arrangements without adequate time to do so in an.
efficient manner. I believe that the purpose of 8-1612consolidating many fed=
eral programs and making their funds and provisions available for State and
local government management in a more flexible waycan be achieved if we
work together in the design of policies for an effective delivery system.

I
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I hope that my comMents are useful to you. I would be deliAted, not only to
confer with you at greater length, but to make the resources of our State govern-
ment available to aSsist you in the very worthy objectives you Undertake in
developing this legislation.

Hon. HUBERT II. HUMPHREY,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Rural Development, ,senate Committee on Agriculture

and Forestry; Senate Office Building, Washington, D.C.
DEAR SENATOR HUMPHREY: I am submitting this letter as a part of the record

of the hearing of your Subcommittee on Rural Development, of the Committee
on Agriculture and Forestry, regarding the Administration's revenue-sharing
program for rural development.

I am very concerned about this program because I believe it will result in a
great many states and local units of government circumventing the intent of
Congress when much of the conservation legislation was passed. As I understand
it, funds presently allocated 42 conservation programs could be used for other
programs which might appear inIiie.short-range point of view to he more important
locally. Even within the conservation programs, it would he possible to use the
hinds in exactly the opposite' way from the way Congress intended. For example,
funds allocdted to the Water Bank Act which was designed to preserve wetlands
could he used within the limits of other legislation and policy for drainage.

Conservationists, -both individuals and- organizations, provided strong support
for,the conservation hgislation that this program would place in jeopardy. I
firmly believe that the only way to insure that funds appropriated by the Congress
for the various programs are used as intended and within the limits Of the legisla-
tion and established rules and regulations is for each fund to retain-RS identity.
I am. confident that conservationists in Michigan overwhelmingtir-support this
position.

I appretiAte the opportunity to inform you and the members of your Subcom-
mittee of tte position of the Michigan Department of Natural Resources and
untold thousands of concernOcl conservationists on this important matter,

Sincerely,

LANSING, Mica., September 19, 1971.

M. L. PETOSKEY,
Chief, Wildlife Division,

Michigan Department of Nature/ Resources.

FORT COLLINS, COLO., August 13, 1971.
Senator HukuniT H. HUMPHREY,
Chairman, Senate.Suboommittee on Rural Development, U.S. Senate Office Building,

Washington, D.C.
DEAR SENATOR HUMPHREY: As President of Colorado State University, I am,

of course, deeply interested in the responsibilities of the Senate Subcommittee
on Rural Development which you chair in reviewing S. 1612, the 1971 Rural
Develorinent Act.

There are several features in the Bill as now before you that are of concern to
those of us within the land-grant system. These concerns relate to the Cooperative
Extension Service. Some of them are:

(1) There needs to be added a provision in the Bill for mutual consent in
program development between the land-grant university and the Secretary of
Agriculture.

(2) There should be a provision for growth.
j..3,411,4 the Bill is now written, the ability of Cooperative Extension person-

nel tie use penalty mail for official business would he terminated, and expenses
of regular mail service would be forced upon either the state or the individual
counties. This should he corrected.

(4) The proposed Bill would require the states to pay retirement and
fringe benefit costs of Extension federal appointees. These costs are now
borne by the Department of Agriculture through appropriation to the depart-
ment; this current practice should be continued.

(5) Under the proposed Bill, Extension would lose its present ability to
purchase supplies and equipment through GSA sources at greatly reduced
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rates and apparently woult loaf' its current authority to acquire excess
personal property which has provided a great saving in many states. Again,
current practice should be continued.

In spite of assurances by the Department of Agriculture that the intent is to see
the Extension Service assume a more tamiticant role and to receive additional
funds, the Bill seems to lack definitive guidelines and, therefore, could permit too
wide a range of choices in future programs for funding and administration.

Personally, I am of the opinion that the Extension Services must do better in
adapting their programs to meet higher priority needs of our society. I believe these
options are available to us under the current operating procedures, but greater
effort to change faster will have to be made. Certainly, there is more built-in
opportunity for local citizen advisory inputs in guiding programs under the pro-
gram as currently operated than wotild be the case if Extension should be included
in S. 1612 as it is now written.

A point of considerable concern ip, of course, a strong possibility under S. 1612
that Extension could be placed in a position such that the protection of the Exten-
Sion Service against political manipulation would be jeopardized. As an educator,
I would express to you my most serious concern if any legislation would permit a
branch of this University to be subject to becoming a political whipping boy.

In view of the lack of clarity in the Bill, because of the fact that Extension now
illustrates effectively many of the basic philosophies of revenue sharing and because
of the potential the current legislation poses for political domination of Extension,
I ask that you give serious attention to the possibility of outright exclusion of the
Extension Service from the legislation. It would seem that the statements of the
administration would he met if Extension were excluded. If for some,reason, the
Congress feels that Extension should* be retained in the legislation, a series of
amendments would most certainly be required to clarify the intent.

Your serious consideration 1g these concern will be deeply appreciated.
Sincerely yours,

A. R. CH /(141 BERLAI N,
President, Colorado State University.

Hon. Iintiewr H. II LIMPHRE Y,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Rural Development, Old &nate Office Building,

Washington, D.C.
DEAR SENATOR ALLEN: These comments are ibm it ted for inclusion in the

record of a public hearing scheduled for Monday, September 20, 1071 concerning
the Administration's Revenue-Sharing Program for Rural Development.

We understand that certain authorized federal program for rural areas will be
pooled into a common fund and that these appropriations and monies given to
the states for fully discretionary spending will be delineated toward accelerated
rural development. The Water flank Act, enacted last year to provide $10,000, -
000.00 annually in an incentive program to preserve privately owned wetlands
for wildlife purposes, would be included among the programs to be affected by
the revenue sharing proposal.

State wildlife agencies vigorously supported enactment of the Water Bank
with the understanding that land owners would receive incentives to preserve
wetlands on their properties. The Water Bank would, in effect, counter federally
financed agricultural programs which have offered fi.laticial assistance for the
drainage of wetlands and .concomitant destruetion of fisheries and wildlife
resources.

We are apprehensive_ that if the Water Bank's $10,000,000.00 annual appro-
priation is included in an Overall ''rural .develoonient" program, little of the
monies would actually be spent to encourage, wetlands conservation; as was the
intent of the Congress in pa,ssing the Act.

We feel t t appropriations for implementation of the Water Bank ACt must be
used for tlye specific purpose of preseving privately owned wetlands.

Y irs very truly,
RICHARD W. BROACH,

Administrative Assistant, Arkansas Game and Fish Commission.

IitiTTLE ROCK, ARK., &Member 14, 1971.
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". WASHINGTON, D.C., September 17, 1971.
Hon. Holum. 11. 114meiraEr,
Chairman, Rural Development Subcommittee, Senate Committee on Agriculture and

Forestry, U.S. Senate, Washington, D.C.
Thom SENATOR HUMPHREY: We are writing to you in regard to S. 1612, the

rural community development special revenue sharirtig proposal now before your
Subcommittee.

This proposal was made subsequent to the American Farm Bureau Federatio n's
1970 annual meeting held last December. Therefore, it has not been possible for
the official voting delegates of the member State Farm Bureaus to give considera-
tion to this matter.

Recognizing that this legislation would he considered by Congress ahead of our
next annual meeting, the American Farm Bureau Federation Board of Directors
discussed it at its March meeting and voted that Farm Bureau give its support
to the "$1.1 billion rural community development 'special' revenue sharing pro-
posal." At that time, the following statement was issued by the Board:

"Farm Bureau supports President Nixon's rural community development
revenue sharing proposal. Under this proposal, the respective states would receive
bloc grants for rural development in lieu of funds that currently are earmarked
for a variety of specific programs. The total amount of federal funds available for
state rural development activities would be increased; matchin quirements
would be eliminated; and states would be allowed-to determine th-Tway in which
federal grants are to be used to advance rural development."

We thank you for this opportunity to have Farm Bureau's views on S. 1612
considered, and would appreciate it if you would make this letter a part of the
hearing record on this issue.

Sincerely yours,
MARVIN L. MCLAIN,

Legislative Director, American Farm Bureau Federation.

ATLANTA, GA., September 11, 1971.
Hon. HUBERT HUMPHREY,
Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR HUMPHREY: Enclosed you will find the prepared statement
adopted by the National Association of County Agricultural Agents at their annual
meeting in Columbus, Ohio.

Our association realizes the need for, and will support, a program to develop the
rural areas of America.. We feel, However, that the strong teamwork our member-
ship can generate for any program could best he served under our present organiza-
tion and not under the proposal outlined in S 1612.

I had the privilege of hearing your statement to the County Commissioners of
Georgia this spring and I thought you did an excellent job of outlining some of the
basic problems in meeting one of Ameri 's critical needs, the need of development
the backbone of America, the rural con nities. Q is

Sincerely,
D. W. STROHBEHN,

National A ssocint ion of County Agricultural Agents.
(The statement is as follows:)
The National Association of County Agricultural Agents would appreciate the

opportunity to have its views on S 1612 expressed to you and your subcommittee
and made part of the official record of your committee. In addition, if further testi-
mony is needed our association would appreciate the opportunity to testify.

Our associatiOn of MOO members represents Extension agents whose primary
responsibility lies in the field of agriculture and its implications on the total society.
They may he assistant or associate Extension agents, County, Extension agents,
or area and.state staff personnel. Many of our members serve as county Extension

4chairmen, and this involves the responsibility of the total Extension program.
Therefore, some of our testimony will involve the total Extension program and will
supplement other testimony you might receive on the 4-11 and Home Economics
programs. 0

BRIEF HISTORY OF EXTENSION

With the passage of the Smith-Lever Act in 1914, we in Eitension have had 57
years of experience working with rural people. The passage of the Smith-Lever Act
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did not make Cooperative Extension work or its representatives an instant success.
Par from it, a's our earlier agents were looked upon with suspicion, and "that fellow
with only book knowledge who probably couldn't even plow a furrow." The ac-
ceptance of the first county Extension agents was indeed slow and many a year
passed by before he was looked upon as an autlfority in the field of agriculture.

Because of the wisdom of the language in the Smith-Lever Act and the freedom
from political pressure on the state and national lave!, Cooperative Extension
began to make its mark on the agricultural scene.

Cooperative Extension through its informal cducationWmethods has made it
possible for millions of Americans to receive and participate in the benefits of
higher education who would not have had the opportunity to attend for formal
study.

The educational system of pooling the resources of USDA, the Land Grant.
universities, the various experiment stations through the local Extension staff,
has made this: system a model for the world. The combined financial support, by
local, state, and federal funds has prevented Extension Service from being domi-
nated by any agency. The efficiency of American agriculture today has placed
the United States as an exporter of food and released from agriculture production
millions of workers for American industry. This combination of events is the
major reason Phy the United States is a world power. Let us emphasize again
that this position of power was not brought on by' chance, but by the confidence
of American agriculture in its method of research and education that makes new
methods, varieties, machinery, etc. adopted in a very shortperiod of time.

WHY IS EXTENGION EFFECTIVE?

. The Cooperative Extension Service is effectiye on the local level for Mimerous
reasons. Its professional staff of 15,300 men and women and approximately ten
thousand aides is small compared to many other agencies. But, its effectiveness
is increased for the following reasons:

1. Extension agents are assisted on the local and the state level by an estimated

r
100,00 many of volunteer leaders, a force dedicated to Extension and a
nucleus fo ge and advancement of the Extension program.

2. Extension programs involve local people and ant generally the results of
program planning and development involving the esires and aspirations of the
people on the lomillevel. When a person has a has in developing the program he
will also be a promoter of the program and help tarry it to completion.

3. Confidence by Local People: By presenting, the facts both pro and con and
by not dictating a program, -Extension has through the years let the people
decide after studying all available facts the best course of action. Through this
method Extension has gained the confidence of the people and the new program
becomes their program and adoption becomes a matter of fact.

4. Educate, Not Sell: The Cooperative Extension Service role hai; always been
to place before the people the facts on any given situation. Through seminars,
group meetings, field days and tours, etc., Extension has been able to lay before
the people the combined facts of research and technology from the USDA, the
agriculture college, experiment station, and then let them decide according to their
needs. We have not been a selling agency of either the state or federal government.
The selling approach of so many federal programs is one of the reasons they so
often fail to gain local acceptance. By presenting the facts through educational
meetings, Extension has relied on those involved to come up with the right
decision.

5. Local Programs: The Extension program has been a local program and has
not been classified by its people as something that came down the pipe from
Washington or the State Capitol. This type program has again created confidence
on the local level that we are not watchdogs for either a federal or state program
and friendly dinagreement will not become testimony for or against any program.

5. Extension Springboard for the Job: Extension when adequately staffed can
do the job. It has the local contacts, know-how, professional competence, and
physical facilities to carry out rural development or any other program. Too many
times, we have been saddled with a new job with no increase in the staff to carry
It out. Every efficient Extension agent in the United States is carrying more than
a full load. By adding another program to his load without additional personnel is
unfair to both the new program and local staff. Those of use on the local level have
seen many federal programs spend tremendous sums of money trying to get a
program off the gound. The failure was*due primarily to lack of educational pro-
cedures and a local baSe of confidence by the people. Given a staff and adequate
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financing, we are positive the Extension Service can do the job on the coniAty level
'because we work from the ground tin tend of from the top down.

7. Extension Library of Knowl dge : Local clientele, for years, has recNnized
Extension as its best source of info mation on everything pertaining to agrOlulture
and home veonornies. Extension th ugh its chain of resources has been Ole to
supply both the rural and urban audience inforrnatioy and research data on hearty
every agriculture and home economies tiiihjiq't.

Si, Outside Financial Hell,: Extension because of its reputation on the locallevel
has been able to invite local civic organizations, business enterprises foundntions,
and local peolile to finamially participate in a number of agricultural projecti:f..and
livestock snows, community development, arid 4-11 activities and home econdmic
activities. This outside help, besides the moral help on .1 be local level, has podred
mations of dollars each year into sponsorship of these prograinslprograins thatcotild be lost if Extension loses its friends on the local level.

9. 'Extension Revenue Sharihg at Its Best.: The Cooperative Extension SerVice
is Revenue Sharing at itw best. An example of where federal dollars are matchedtV
county' and spate governments- more than dollar for dollar: When you -add a
100,000 man years of volunteer service plus millions of dollars contributed by the
people. themselves, 0"w' result is a program that works with a minimum of t
dollars and a maximum of people participation.

NACAA is Opposed to Cooperative Extensions' Inclusion in irural DevelopmentRevenue Sharing:
The National Association of Connty Agricultural Agents is opposed to the

inclusion of the Coots rative Extension Service in S 1612. S 1612 as it presently
is written pertaining to Extension Service raises questiuns4hat are unanswered.

I. 'Through our fornutla system of the division of the federal dollar and the
matching requirenant of thpstate's, the Cooperative Extension Service has been
able to carry on its program on a nonpolitical basis. S 1612 appears to require no
matehitig money from state and local sources: With over half of these funds coining
from these sources, what happens to these funds when the stat and county
governments are led to believe that the federal government will now finance the
Cooperative Extension Service? It is conceivable in a short period of time after the
passage of such a bill local and state governments might withdraw their financial
support throwing the whole program on t he Federal grant. The end result could
cut the personnel and program by.more than 50 per cent.

2. 5 1612 Could Freeze Extension Funds: This leaves no room for new programs,
or growth, nor any provision for the loss of local or state support. The bill calls for
no matching money as does the Sinith-Lever Act. The end result would be an
ipadequate understaffed Extension Serviee that was no longer effective as local
%nil state funds were shifted to other programs and Extension became totally
financed through its Federal grants to the state.

3, 5 1612 would mean "Good-Bye" volunteer leaders and millions of dollars of
nou-tax money for I he Extension- Serviee. Dime we lose the identity as a local
program developed by local people and are depetedent on the funds set up by
Congress in rural di veloptiwnt revenue sharing, we've lost mu most effectiveweapon- lo4support.

4, No Pe ty Mail: Extension uses newsletters or commodity letters as one
of its major means of keeping the public up to date with the changes and recom-
mendations Vint; made. This plus the countless bulletins and other inforniation
mailed on request cost money. Who is going to pay the bill for this essential
service, or will the counties who are supposed to be helped have Co pay the hill?

5. Civil Service Retirement: Ilow many USDA employees at one time or
another were employees of the Cooperative Extension Service? Quite a few. We
believe reeruitment front the ranks of Extension to other federal agencies has
been helped because they would not lose their Civil Service riotirement.

Although the bill authorizes the states to contribute to Civil Service retire-
ment, there is rio requirement, And, under S 1612 all Cooperative Extension
employees would, in our opinion, soon he eliminated from Civil Service Retire-
ment. States would require that we participate under their retirement system.
Since most retirement plans are geared to 30 or 35 years of service, without
severe early retirement losseS. Those Extension agents presently employed would
not have the required number of years and, therefore, most Would have to work
until mandatory retirement to build a satisfactory retirement hase.

6. Insurance and Employee Insurance Coverte: Federal employees insurance
has been the base for many an Extension Service employee's insurance program.
No provision has been made to protect these individuals from this,loss or to
assure these employees that someone else will have a comparable plan.
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What happens to Employees Injury Compensation? Does the state pick it up.
or are we left entirely without?

True therabove are fringe benefits, but they are of concern to the rank and file
and must be'dealt with adequately. With all the' fringe benefits gone Extension
recruitment in the future is not bright.

7(: There are other administrative weaknesses that we are sure our Extension
adMinistration will ask about, such ,as what ha.ppens to the following:

1. 'County Extension offices in Federal Buildings.
2. GSA purchase for Extension use.
3. Coordination between the Federal Extension office and the various

states.
4. If a state doesn't participate in Revenue Sharing what happens to the

Extension SerVite?
In conclusion, the National Association'of Counfy Agricultural Agents is in

favor of so)ne method of developing the rural areas. Those of us on the county
level know that little developthent can take lac without new jobs. The jobs
can he stimulated by the Fedpal GovernmlInt, but the long-term solution is
new industry. Industry must make a profit in order to stay in business NI addition
to all the .other incentives they look for when developing a new location. The
county Extension agents stand ready to .coopekte in any way possible to help
solve the unarpopulated, low income ruralarearproblem. We feel with adequate
manpower we can off alternatives to stimulate local initiative to encourage
business'and industry to move to new areas.

We fool S 1612 is not the answer for the Cooperative Extension Service and we
respectfully request that Cooperative EXtension Service be stricken from the bill.

The above statement was reviewed and adopted by the National Association
of County Agricultural Agents at its Annual Meeting in Columbus, Ohio on
September 10th, 1971.

41.

HARRISONBURG, VA., September 7, 1971.
Hon. THOMAS N. DowNiNo,
House of Representatives, Washington, D.C.

DEAR MR. Dowropro: At a recent' Virginia State Dairymen's Association's
Board of Directors' Meeting, our Board expressed its concern over potrtions of the
proposed Revenue SharingoAct involving Rural Communitya)evelopnrient.

After discussing this matter thoroughly,, as well as giving dire consideration to
the overall aspects and intent of the Revenue Sharing Act, it was our Board of
Directors' feeling that the Revenue Sharing Act, in its present form, left much
to be desired in order to maintain an effective Extension Service in the Common-
wealth of Virginia.

Accordingly, a motion was made and passed unanimously recommending that
Extension Service monies he eliminated from the Revenue Sharing Act and remain
intact in the,Sroith-Lever Act. Ako approved in the same motion, that an appro-
priate resolution would he writte?rexpressing the Board's concern over this matter
and forwarded to Virginia's U.S. congressional members.

The following Resolution, r believe fairly ,reprefients the intent and feelings of
our Board of Directors:

"Resolution on the Revenue Sharing Act
"Whereas the Virginia State Dairymen's Association's Board of Directors, in

its summer 1971 meeting gave serious consideration to the proposed Revenue
Sharing Act now on the floor of the United States House of Representatives and
Senate and those areas involving the Extension Service of Virginia which could
provide extensive and possible unwarranted changes in the Extension strucutre;

"Whereas the Virginia State -Dairymen's Association recognizes that the Fed-
eral Government is attempting to increase its efforts to implement assistance to
the states through Revenue Sharing; that two companion hills, S 1612 and
H.R. 7993 have been introduced to implement the Act for the Cooperative
Extension Service and that to the best of our knowledge the provisions of these
two bills are not in the best interest for Virginia's dairy farmers, the economy of
Virginia, and that the current operations, missions, and programs of the Coopera-
tive 'Extension Service should not he changed by legislation; and be it

"Resolved, That we believe the Cooperative Extension Service should continue
to be funded and administered under the Smith-Lever Act as amended and if
any federal legislation is enacted, it is Important that it enable the designated
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Land-pt t University Cooperative Extension Service to continue all programs,
operatic) and funding in accordance with the basic principles authorized under
the Smit :Lever Act as amended and the Agricultural Act, akainended: Therefore
be it

"Resolved further, That we feel relationships which now exist between the
federal, state, and local governments with the designated Land-Grant College
and University for Virginia is revenue sharing at its best as this arrangement has
demonstrated its ability to be responsive add effective in developing an ever
expanding rural economy and that our members in the. U.S. House of Repre-
sentatives and Senate should be aware that the changes being proposed would
make it necessary for the Commonwealth to increase its appropriation by approx-
imately one million dollars to offset the denial of federal space, GSA purchasing,
payment of retirement benefits, penalty mail privileges and excess property for
use by the Cooperative Extension Seryice."

Mr. Downing, your Board of Directors, officers, and members sincerely appre-
ciate your kind consideration of this matter and attentiott to those areas of concern
which have been expressed in the above resolution.

If at any time I could anwirer any questions relating to this matter or if you have
updated information that will apply directly our expressed concerns m the
currently proposed Revenue Sharing Act, it be appreciated if you would
contact me directly at my office in Harris° for further review with cur
Board of Directors.

Yours very truly, /
. JOHN L. MILLER,

Executive Secretary, Virginia State Dairymen's Association,

WASHINGTON, D.C., August 11, 1971.
Senator HUBERT H. HUMPHREY,
Old Senate Office Building, Washington, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR Humeliawr: Reference is made to S. 1612, the revenue-sharing
program for rural develo ment and more particularly, to Sec. 202(e), at page 11,
of the bill as introduce

A cliche many fa' to understand or appreciate goes essentially: "America
owes its prosperity o its agriculture." Yet, facts show that only in Amerioa does
the labor of one ptrson feed p others. We have the lowest amount of spendable
income required for feeding our people. Only when we recognize that as little as
17% of our "takehome" pay is required to feed our people, versus 251- % for
Europe to nearly 50% for the Eastern Bloc, does the economic significance of
American agricultural productivity become readily apparent. Too few people
remember how this happened, nor do they realize that our reserves of food and
fiber crops are now drawn down to a low level.

It is beyond debate that the land-grant universities have made a tremelidous
contribution to America's enviable position through their exteiBion, research
and teaching programs. Through programs of the cooperative extension service,
results of research in the laboratory and field are instanteously available to our
farmers. The extension service reputation is such that our farmers accept with
little rging the new findings. Our 'culture is founded on scientific fact--not

nie wild political-genetic prayerfu hope, but proven truths. We deal daily,
with the emerging nations who cann et their people to follow their state and
national universities' leadership bec of lack of trust and rapport. Ours, on ,
the other hand, is a strong contrast.

American agriculture is founded on science and education. Progress in both of
these fields will be critical to our future. Looking ahead to the year 2000, we could

' well have a nppulation of 300 million peoplean increase of nearly one third.
Yet, even today, only 5% or our pwulation feeds the other 95%. Fuithen
strides in agriculture mist be made if we are going to enjoy, the bounty we are
accustomed to.

The above cited paragraph (202(e)]- leaves it to the states to apportion the
monies in a "sufficient portion" and #mparable in size and type" as in fiscal
gear 1971 to carry out agricultural extension work. Aside, from the extreme
vagueness or want of definition, this provision is a major risk-taking for the
country. Headless horsemen, unplanned -scientific work, and the propagation
thereof will not suffice. We grow accustomed to bigger and better yields and other
fruits of improved agricultural efficiency. Yet, the Southep corn blight in 1970
proved this to be a risky assumption at best.
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We urge you to carefully consider the language in Sec. 202(e) of S. 1612. It
should, in my judgment, be removed from the state-revenue-sharing provision,

s
and hhe ais for funding agricultural extension be maintained in its present
ta

t.
Failing that, the -Congress should more clearly define by statutory defini-

tion and legislative history a positive mandate to go forth with agricultural
extension programs that will meet our needs in the future.

You may include this letter as part of the proceedings .on September 20, 1971.
, I would very' much appreciate having your views on this.

Sincerely yours,
EDWIN M. WHEELER,

President, The Fertilizer Institute..

STATEMENT OF E. CLINTON STOKES, SENIOR ASSO4PE, AGRIBUSINESS AND
RURAL AFFAIRS, CHAMBER OF COMMERCE OF THE, UNITED STATES

The National Chamber is convinced o the need to reduce the lag in economic
and social ,adjustments in many of the less populated rural areas of the country,
and we are also concerned with the need to increase the efficiency with which rural
development affairs are conducted; involve the citizens of these areas in a more
realistic decisionmaking way with their public problems; and solve a higher pro-
portion of the problems of rural America locally.

It is for thesp reasons thatwe support S. 1612. 0

Accomplishing these objectives will require a maximum of flexibility in the pro.
grams and organizational approaches because of the diversity of resources and con-
ditions in rural areas. Special emphasis is needed to develop human resources
motivation, education and.job placement. Modernization of public facilities, serv-
ices and institutions in the lagging areas is needed to make public services more
efficient and effective.

'The National Chamber also believes that the primary responsibility for planning
to meet the needs of rural communities and regi(ins should rest with the leadership
of the communities and regions involved, whether that leadership be governmental
bodies or private organizations or a combination of the two.

The Federal government has many programs currently in operation which are
intended to meet most of the needs cited above. There are at least two major de-,,
ficienciesflexibility and decentralization. A third deficiency can usually be recog-
nizedMoney. 8

S. 012 provides these essential ingredientsdecentralization of the decision,
making process and flexibility in the application of program assistance. An increase
in the amount of public funds is also provided. The bill consolidates the funds of
eleven federal assistance programs and allocates the money to the states on a for-
mula basis for rurakdevelopment purposes. The types of programs combined in-
clude assistance for water and'sewer facilities, conservation, extension -education,
multiple area, planning aud general economic development. Added-to the combined
fund of $921 million would be another $179 million to prevent any state from re-
ceiving less money than under the existing direct grant assistance. Most states
will receive more money. This particular combination of programs and implementa-
tion procedures may not represent the ideal approach, but it is an important first
step.

Under S. 1612, the AdminAtration pill, the states would be required to set up a
state-wide development plan outlining spending intentions for both rural and ur-
ban areas. Multi-jurisdictional planning districts with local representatives, or
some other process involving local community participation, would be required.
There would be no matching requirements for states to receive these funds. The
money could be used for any, or all of the combined programs; could be applied
as the local community's cost-share portion for pther, Federal programs; or could
be spent for locally conceived programs, as king as they were for rural develop-
ment purposes.

The National Chamber supports in principle the provisions of S. 1612, i.e the
consolidation of the funds from the various grant assistance programs and the
allocation of these funds to the states for rural development purposes. Federal
grants-in-aid have tended to become an irresistible source of increased revenue for
state and local governments, but at the expense of efficiency, effectiveness, and
local leadership. The proliferation and expense of these programs have brought
increased Federal direction and control over wide areas of traditionally state and
local government functions. Every' effort should be made to consolidate the yast
number4f existing conditional Federal grant-in-aid programs, to eliminate much
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of the existing duplicated services as well as to increase the flexibility of their
application at local levels.

S. 1612, along with other special revenue sharing proposals of the .Administra- .
Lion, provides a way to egin a reversal of this trend toward more centralized
control by the Federal vernment.

The National Cha er regards the provisions of S. 1612 as far preferable to
those of S. 2223, ich is also before this Subcommittee. both measures have one
basic 'objective in commonto strengthen the ee9nomy of rural areas. S. 2223
would create a permanent national banking system, complete with branch banks.
It would establish another agency in the 11S, Department.of Agriculture to pro-
vide another system of subsidizing credit to borrowers for rural development
purposes which could not be financed at commercial interest rates. It would add to
the proliferation of Federal programs proyiding grants and loans to disadvantaged
areas and businesses, rather than reduce the involvement and control of the.
Federal government.

A better alternative to special eredit programs would be to decentralize the
federal credit programs through the various special revenue sharing proposals of
the Administration. For example, the Subcommittee might consider including the
Rural Electrification Admi tion 'programs and the Farmer's Home Ad-
ministration's direct and ins oan programs in the special revenue sharing for
rural development. The estab ent of state and local credit agencies providing
supplemental credit would be more responsive to actual needs of the communities
involved. Decentralizing public credit needs would place both the capability and
responsibility for decision-making closer to the localities where the need may or
may not exist.

Therefore, the National Chamber respectfully urges your Subcommittee to
report favorably Senate bill S. 1612to establish a revenue sharing program for
rural development.

WASHINGTON, D.C., September 22, 1971.
Hon. HUBERT H. HUMPHREY,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Rural Development, Senate Committee on Agriculture

and Forestry, Senate Office Building, Washington, D.C.
DEAR SENATOR HUMPHREY: A heavy travel schedule prevented having a state-

ment prepared for your September 20 Subcommittee hearing regarding funding
of rural developments. Therefor, it will be appreciated if the following commerIts
could be included in the hearing record.

In these days of steam-roller encroachment upon the natural environment for
a variety of economic reasons, establishment' of the Water Bank program within
recent years was certainly a wise move toward preservation of wetlands for wild-
life species.

The Wildlife Society supporter' development of the Water Bank program. We
are, therefore, deeply concerned that there are proposals underway to reshuffle
these programs in Ouch a way as to jeopardize the future funding.of Water Bank
program objectives. We wish to urge you to as Ire continuation of the Water Bank
program to the benefit of this Nation's wildliOkresources.

Respectfully submitted.
FRED G. EVENDEN,

Executive Director, Wildlife Society.

CHICAGO, ILL., Se7ptember 9, 1971.
Hon. HUBERT H. HUMPHREY,
U.S. Senate,
Washington, D.C.

DEAR SENATOR IIrAtutr.T: It is my understanding that you will hold Alm
S. 1612 hearing in Washington, September 20,

Because of my deep involvement in, and knowledge of, 4-H, my primary
concern is the effect S. 1612, as presently written, will have on the Cooperative
Extension Service and 4-H.

As a member of management of American Oil, a long-timesponsor of the 4-H
tractor program, I have observed the present system at wotli at close range foi
a number of years. It is difficult to imagine another system in which business,
education, and government work more harmoniously toward a common goal.
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The present system and organization is responsive to the needs and wishes of the
people in counties and states. And, too, the program is carried on in a non-political
clithate.

All this would change if the Cooperative Extension Service were brought under
the provisions of S. 1612 as it is now written. Extension would inevitably become
entangled in the political machinery in each state and the national programing
coordination would be weakened.

At the present time I am honored to serve as president of the National -4H
Service Committee. From that vantage point, I see the Cooperative Extension
Service performing best under the present system; therefore, I would urge you to
exclude it from the provisions of S. 1612.

If you wish, you may make this letter a part of your September 20 proceedings.
Sincerely yours,

BLAINE J. YARRINOTON,
President, American Oil Co.

Scio, OREO., September 15, 1971.
Senator HUBERT HUMPHREY,
U.S. Senate,
Washington, D.C.

DEAR Sin: I'have been reading with interest and confusion the draft bill
proposed by Sec. of Agriculture Clifford M.. Hardin, known as the Rural Com-
munity Development Revenue Sharing Act of 1971.

Many concepts of the bill are just not clear and I cannot see any benefit in this
bill for myself and other rural families in the state of Oregon. My interpretation
is, that states with small rural population, as is Oregon, would be virtually left out
in the revenue sharing. Larger rural poPulation areas however would do well.

Small farmers, regardless of area are hard pressed at present and I-see no answer
for us in this bill.

I urge you to consider this measure with great care before approving it.
Sincerely

Senator HUBERT H. HUMPHREY,
Chairman, Subcommittee on Rural Development, Senate Committee on Agriculture

and Forestry, Senate Office Building, Washington D.C.
DEAR MR. HUMPHREY: This is to urge your Committee's support of the

Water Bank program which I understand is scheduled to be discontinued under
the Administration's revenue sharing for rural development planning. I think
we all know that if the $10,000,000 scheduled for wetlands preservation were
transferred to the discretion of state administrators little of it would end up
being used for the purpose for which it was originally intended. So many of our
wetlands have already been destroyed that it seems a real shame not to do some-
thing to preserve the few we have left and encourage the development of new
ones for the wildlife resources they so abundantly support.

Very truly yours,
FREDERICK C. PULLMAN.

Mrs. LESTER R. KUIKIN.

Cnicnoo, ILL., September 7, 1971.
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